COOPER COMPANIES INC Form DEF 14A February 06, 2009 Table of Contents

SCHEDULE 14A

(RULE 14A-101)

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

PROXY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 14(A) OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934		
Filed by the Registrant x Filed by a Party other than the Registrant "		
Check the appropriate box:		
 Preliminary Proxy Statement Definitive Proxy Statement Definitive Additional Materials Soliciting Material Under Rule 14a-12 	" Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))	
тне со	OPER COMPANIES, INC.	
(Name of Regis	strant as Specified in Its Charter)	
(Name of Person(s) Filing	Proxy Statement, if Other than the Registrant)	
Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):		
x No fee required.Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-	6(i)(1) and 0-11.	
(1) Title of each class of securities to which tr	ansaction applies:	
(2) Aggregate number of securities to which to	ransaction applies:	

(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
(5)	Total fee paid:
 Fee pai	d previously with preliminary materials:
 Check fee was filing.	box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the form or schedule and the date of its
(1)	Amount previously paid:
(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3)	Filing Party:
(4)	Date Filed:

February 6, 2009

Dear Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to join us at the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of The Cooper Companies, Inc., which will be held at 10:00 a.m. (EDT) on March 18, 2009 at the offices of Latham & Watkins LLP, 885 Third Avenue, New York, NY.

At the meeting, we will ask our stockholders to vote on proposals to elect a Board of Directors, to approve the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, to approve the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors and to ratify the Audit Committee s selection of our independent registered public accounting firm for the current fiscal year. These proposals are described in detail in the attached Proxy Statement. We have also included a copy of our 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K, which contains information on our operations, markets and products and our audited financial statements for the 2008 fiscal year. We encourage you to read the Annual Report as it contains useful information regarding our performance over the past year.

Also enclosed is a proxy card, which will allow you to vote your shares if you do not wish to attend the meeting in person. Voting instructions are included on the proxy card.

I hope that you will take this opportunity to participate in the affairs of the company by voting on each of the proposals we are presenting at the meeting. YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, please use the attached proxy card and instructions to submit your vote by proxy. You may vote using the proxy card by completing, signing and dating it, then returning it by mail. Also, most of our stockholders may now vote their shares by phone or through the internet. If phone or internet voting is available to you, instructions will be included on your proxy card. If you submit a proxy card and then you wish to change your vote or you choose to attend the meeting and wish to vote your shares in person, you may revoke your proxy. Additional information about voting your shares is included in the Proxy Statement.

We look forward to seeing you at the Annual Meeting.

Sincerely,

A. THOMAS BENDER

Chairman of the Board of Directors

THE COOPER COMPANIES INC

THE COOLER COMI ANIES, INC.		
6140 Stoneridge Mall Road, Suite 590		
Pleasanton, CA 94588		
Notice Of Annual Meeting Of Stockholders		
To the Stockholders of		
THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC.		
The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of The Cooper Companies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, will be held on March 18, 2009, at the offices of Latham & Watkins LLP, 885 Third Avenue, New York, NY, at 10:00 a.m. (EDT), for the purpose of considering and acting upon the following:		
1. The election of A. Thomas Bender, Michael H. Kalkstein, Jody S. Lindell, Moses Marx, Donald Press, Steven Rosenberg, Allan E. Rubenstein, M.D., Robert S. Weiss and Stanley Zinberg, M.D. to the Board of Directors;		
2. The approval of the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan which removes restrictions on the number of shares available for grant as full-value awards and adds 1,000,000 shares to the total shares reserved for grant;		
3. The approval of the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors which removes restrictions on the number of shares available for grant as full-value awards and extends the term of the plan to December 31, 2016;		
4. The ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending October 31, 2009; and		
5. The transaction of any other business that may properly come before the meeting or any adjournments or postponements thereof.		

adjournments or postponements thereof. Enclosed with this Notice are a Proxy Statement, a proxy card and a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2008.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on February 3, 2009 will be entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting and any

All stockholders are cordially invited to attend the meeting in person. Whether or not you plan to attend, we encourage you to vote by completing the enclosed proxy card. Most stockholders can also vote their proxy by phone or internet by following the instructions on the proxy card.
By Order of the Board of Directors
CAROL R. KAUFMAN
Secretary
Dated: February 6, 2009

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

It is important that all stockholders be represented at the Annual Meeting. In order to assure your representation, whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, please complete, date, sign and return the enclosed proxy card promptly by mail. Most stockholders can also vote their shares on the internet or by phone. If this is an option for you, a toll-free phone number and/or a website address are included on the enclosed proxy card. If you choose to vote by phone or internet, you do not need to return your proxy card. You may revoke your proxy at any time prior to the Annual Meeting. If you attend the Annual Meeting and wish to change your proxy vote, you may do so automatically by voting in person at the Annual Meeting.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS	
STOCKHOLDER NOMINATIONS AND PROPOSALS FOR THE 2010 ANNUAL MEETING	5
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR INCLUSION IN THE 2010 PROXY STATEMENT	5
OTHER PROPOSALS AND STOCKHOLDER NOMINATIONS FOR DIRECTOR	5
OWNERSHIP OF THE COMPANY	6
Principal Securityholders	6
Securities Held by Management	7
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance	9
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	10
The Board of Directors	10
Board Committees	10
<u>Meetings</u>	12
Corporate Governance Policies	12
Governance Principles	12
Ethics and Business Conduct Policy	13
Procedures for Handling Accounting Complaints	13
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	13
REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE	14
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY	16
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT	18
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	19
Executive Summary	19
Compensation Objectives	19
Emphasis on Performance	19
Role of the Independent Consultant	20
Role of Management in Compensation Decisions	21
PEER GROUP SELECTION	21
Stock Ownership Guidelines	22
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION	22
Components of Compensation	23
<u>Base Salary</u> <u>Annual Cash Incentive Bonus</u>	23 24
Equity Awards	24
Tax Deductibility of Compensation	28
Conclusion	29
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION TABLES	30
Summary Compensation Table Narrative to Summary Compensation Table	30 31
Grants of Plan-Based Awards	31
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End	33
Option Exercises and Stock Vested	36
Pension Benefits Table	36
Narrative to Pension Benefits Table	36
POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL	37
Robert S. Weiss	37
Other Named Executive Officers	39

Table of Contents	
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	41
STIPENDS AND COMMITTEE CHAIR COMPENSATION CHAIR STIPENDS AND MEETING PAYMENTS EQUITY COMPENSATION DIRECTOR COMPENSATION TABLE	41 41 42 43
PROPOSAL 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	45
THE NOMINEES	45
PROPOSAL 2 APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE AMENDED 2007 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN	48
PROPOSAL 3 APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE AMENDED 2006 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS	55
New Plan Benefits Table Equity Plan Compensation Table	58 59
PROPOSAL 4 RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	60
OTHER MATTERS	61
<u>RECOMMENDATIONS</u>	61
EXHIBIT A: THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC. AMENDED AND RESTATED 2007 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN	A-1
EXHIBIT B: THE AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS OF THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC.	B-1

THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC.

6140 Stoneridge Mall Road, Suite 590

Pleasanton, CA 94588

The Cooper Companies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, will hold its Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or the Annual Meeting, on March 18, 2009
at the offices of Latham & Watkins LLP, 885 Third Avenue, New York, NY, at 10:00 a.m. (EDT).

This Proxy Statement, and the accompanying proxy card, is first being mailed to our stockholders on or about February 10, 2009. It is being sent on our behalf by order of the Board of Directors, or the Board.

We have included a copy of our 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, with this Proxy Statement. The Annual Report contains financial and other information about our business during our last fiscal year. You may also find useful information about the Company on our website at www.coopercos.com in the Investor Relations section.

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS

FOR THE STOCKHOLDER MEETING TO BE HELD ON MARCH 18, 2009

Our Proxy Statement and Annual Report on Form 10-K are available at

http://investor.coopercos.com/financials.cfm

The following proxy materials are available for review at http://investor.coopercos.com/financials.cfm:

our 2009 Proxy Statement;

the proxy card;

our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2008; and

any amendments to the foregoing materials that are required to be furnished to stockholders.

Directions to attend the Annual Meeting, where you may vote in person, can be found on our website at www.coopercos.com in the Investor Relations section.

Why am I receiving this Proxy Statement?

You have been sent this Proxy Statement because you were a stockholder, or held Company stock through a broker, bank or other third party, at the close of business on February 3, 2009, the record date for stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting.

What proposals will be considered at the Annual Meeting?

At the Annual Meeting, stockholders will be asked to consider and act upon the following proposals:

- 1. The election of A. Thomas Bender, Michael H. Kalkstein, Jody S. Lindell, Moses Marx, Donald Press, Steven Rosenberg, Allan E. Rubenstein, M.D., Robert S. Weiss and Stanley Zinberg, M.D. to the Board;
- 2. The approval of the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan;

1

Table of Contents

- 3. The approval of the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors;
- 4. The ratification of the Audit Committee s appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending October 31, 2009; and
- 5. The transaction of any other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournments or postponements thereof.

We are not aware of any other business to be brought before the meeting. If any additional business is properly brought before the meeting, the designated officers will vote in accordance with their best judgment.

The Board recommends a vote FOR each of the nominees for director, FOR the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, FOR the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors and FOR the ratification of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm.

Who is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?

We have set February 3, 2009 as the Record Date for this year s Annual Meeting. All stockholders who owned our stock at the close of business on the Record Date are entitled to this notice and to vote at the Annual Meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof.

As of the Record Date, there were 45,520,027 shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting.

How many votes do I have?

Each outstanding share of our common stock is entitled to one vote at the Annual Meeting. You have one vote per share that you owned at the close of business on the Record Date.

How do I vote my shares?

As a stockholder, you can vote your shares in person at the Annual Meeting or vote by proxy. If you wish to vote by proxy, you can complete the attached proxy card and return it by mail in the envelope provided. Alternatively, many of our stockholders now have the option to vote their shares by telephone or via the internet. If phone or internet voting is available to you, instructions for voting by phone or through the internet will be included on your proxy card.

What happens if I vote my shares by proxy?

When you return a completed proxy card, or vote your shares by telephone or internet, you authorize our officers listed on the proxy card to vote your shares on your behalf as you direct.

If you sign and return a proxy card, but do not provide instructions on how to vote your shares, the designated officers will vote on each of the presented proposals on your behalf as follows:

Shares will be voted FOR each of the individuals nominated to serve as directors;

Shares will be voted FOR the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan;

Shares will be voted *FOR* the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors; and

2

Table of Contents

Shares will be voted *FOR* ratification of the Audit Committee s appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending October 31, 2009.

Can I change or revoke my vote after I return my proxy card or voting instructions?

If you choose to vote your shares by proxy, you may revoke or change your proxy instructions at any time prior to the casting of votes at the Annual Meeting by taking any of the following actions:

Execute and submit a new proxy card, or submit new voting instructions through telephonic or internet voting, if available to you; or

Notify Carol R. Kaufman, Secretary of our company, in writing that you wish to revoke your proxy; or

Attend the Annual Meeting and vote your shares in person.

Attending the Annual Meeting in person will not automatically revoke your proxy.

Who pays for the proxy solicitation and how will the Company solicit votes?

We pay all costs associated with the solicitation of proxies. We will also pay any costs incurred by brokers and other fiduciaries to forward proxy solicitation materials to beneficial owners.

Proxies may be solicited by us on behalf of the Board by mail or in person, by telephone or via facsimile or e-mail. Proxies may be solicited on our behalf by any of our directors, officers or employees. Additionally, we have retained the firm of D.F. King & Co., Inc. to assist with the solicitation of proxies and will pay a fee of \$14,500 for this service, plus reasonable costs and expenses.

How many votes must be present to hold the Annual Meeting?

In order to conduct business and have a valid vote at the Annual Meeting a quorum must be present in person or represented by proxies. A quorum is defined as a majority of the shares outstanding on the Record Date and entitled to vote. In accordance with our Amended and Restated Bylaws, or Bylaws, and Delaware law, broker non-votes and proxies reflecting abstentions will be considered present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present.

What are Broker Non-Votes ?

Broker non-votes occur when a broker withholds its vote on behalf of shares it holds for a beneficial owner. Shares held in a broker s name may be voted by the broker, but only in accordance with the rules of the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE. Under those rules, the broker must follow the instructions of the beneficial owner. If instructions are not provided, NYSE rules determine whether the broker may vote the shares based on its own judgment or is required to withhold its vote, and the determination depends on the proposal being voted on.

How many votes are required to approve the proposals?

Directors will be elected by a *plurality* of the votes cast. The nine nominees with the greatest number of FOR votes will be elected as directors. Votes withheld and broker non-votes will have no effect on the election of directors.

3

Table of Contents

The approval of the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, the approval of the amendment and restatement of the Amended 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors and ratification of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm each require the affirmative vote of a *majority* of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the proposal. Abstentions will be treated as votes against the proposal. Broker non-votes will be treated as though they are not entitled to vote and will not affect the outcome of the proposal.

Detailed information regarding each of the proposals to be presented at the 2009 Annual Meeting, and the means for stockholders to present proposals to be considered at the 2010 Annual Meeting, are presented on the following pages. Additional information about us, our Board and its committees, equity ownership, compensation of officers and directors and other matters can be found in *Ownership of the Company* starting at page 6.

4

STOCKHOLDER NOMINATIONS AND PROPOSALS FOR THE 2010 ANNUAL MEETING

Stockholder Proposals for Inclusion in the 2010 Proxy Statement

Stockholders wishing to present proposals for inclusion in our Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting under Rule 14a-8 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, must submit their proposals to us no later than October 12, 2009. Proposals should be sent to Carol R. Kaufman, Secretary, The Cooper Companies, Inc., 6140 Stoneridge Mall Road, Suite 590, Pleasanton, CA 94588.

Other Proposals and Stockholder Nominations for Director

Our Bylaws provide that stockholders who wish to nominate a director or propose other business to be brought before the stockholders at the Annual Meeting must notify the company s Secretary in writing no earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the anniversary date of the prior year s annual meeting and no later than the close of business on the 90th day prior to the anniversary date of the prior year s annual meeting.

For the 2010 Annual Meeting, stockholders wishing to present proposals for consideration under these provisions must submit their nominations or proposals not earlier than November 18, 2009 and not later than December 18, 2009 in order to be considered. If, however, the date of the 2010 Annual Meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 70 days after March 18, 2010, stockholders must submit such nominations or proposals not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to the meeting or the 10th day following the date on which public disclosure of the date of the meeting is first made by us). In addition, with respect to nominations for directors, if the number of directors to be elected at the 2010 Annual Meeting is increased and there is no public announcement by us naming all of the nominees for director or specifying the size of the increased Board at least 100 days prior to March 18, 2010, notice will also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, if it is delivered to the Secretary at our principal executive offices not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such public announcement is first made by us. Nominations or proposals should be submitted, in writing, to Carol R. Kaufman, Secretary, The Cooper Companies, Inc., 6140 Stoneridge Mall Road, Suite 590, Pleasanton, CA 94588. A stockholder s notice to nominate a director or bring any other business before the 2010 Annual Meeting must set forth certain information specified in our Bylaws.

In addition, the Nominating Committee of the Board will consider suggestions from stockholders for nominees for election as directors to be presented at the 2010 Annual Meeting. The person proposing the nominee must be a stockholder entitled to vote at the 2010 Annual Meeting, and the nomination must be made pursuant to timely notice. Submitted proposals must be received between November 18, 2009 and December 18, 2009, and should include: 1) the nominee s written consent to being named in the Proxy Statement as a nominee and to serve as a director if elected, 2) the name and address of the stockholder submitting the proposal or beneficial owner on whose behalf the proposed candidate is being suggested for nomination, and 3) the class and number of our stock owned beneficially and of record by the stockholder or beneficial owner submitting the nomination. The Nominating Committee will consider nominees suggested by stockholders on the same terms as nominees selected by the Nominating Committee.

OWNERSHIP OF THE COMPANY

Principal Securityholders

The following table contains information regarding ownership of outstanding shares of our common stock by all individuals or groups who have advised us that they own more than five percent (5%) of our outstanding shares.

	Common Stock Beneficially Owned as of December 31, 2008		
Name of Beneficial Owner	Number of Shares	Percentage of Shares	
Manning & Napier Advisors, Inc. (1)	3,693,434	8.22%	
290 Woodcliff Drive			
Fairport, NY 14450 Invesco Ltd. (2)	3,183,090	7.08%	
invesco Etd. (2)	3,103,070	7.00%	
1360 Peachtree Street NE			
Atlanta, GA 30309	2.102.007	(00 d	
Shapiro Capital Management LLC (3)	3,102,896	6.90%	
3060 Peachtree Road N.W., Suite 1555			
Atlanta, GA 30305			
Wellington Management Company, LLP (4)	2,479,100	5.52%	
75 State Street			
Boston, MA 02109			
M&G Investment Management Limited (5)	2,315,658	5.15%	
Governor s House			
Laurence Pountney Hill			
London EC4R 0HH			
United Kingdom			

⁽¹⁾ Based on information disclosed in a Schedule 13G/A filed by Manning & Napier Advisors, Inc. on February 8, 2008. According to this Schedule 13G/A, Manning & Napier beneficially owns and has the sole power to direct the disposition of 3,693,434 shares, and the sole power to vote or direct the vote of 3,186,434 of these shares.

- (2) Based on information disclosed in a Schedule 13G filed by Invesco Limited on February 13, 2008. According to this Schedule 13G, PowerShares Capital Management LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Invesco Limited, beneficially owns and has the sole power to direct the disposition and to vote or direct the vote of 3,592 of these shares; AIM Advisors, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Invesco Limited, beneficially owns and has the sole power to direct the disposition and to vote or direct the vote of 243,672 of these shares; AIM Capital Management, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Invesco Limited, beneficially owns and has the sole power to direct the disposition and to vote or direct the vote of 50,364 of these shares; Invesco Asset Management Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Invesco Limited, beneficially owns and has the sole power to direct the disposition and to vote or direct the vote of 53,700 of these shares; Invesco Asset Management Ireland Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Invesco Limited, beneficially owns and has the sole power to direct the disposition and to vote or direct the vote of 350 of these shares; and AIM Funds Management, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Invesco Limited, beneficially owns and has the sole power to direct the disposition and to vote or direct the vote of 2,819,912 of these shares.
- (3) Based on information disclosed in a Schedule 13G/A filed by Shapiro Capital Management LLC on February 8, 2008. According to this Schedule 13G/A, Shapiro Capital Management

6

beneficially owns and has the sole power to direct the disposition of 3,102,896 shares, the sole power to vote or direct the vote of 2,495,193 of these shares, and the shared power to vote or direct the vote of 572,703 of these shares.

- (4) Based on information disclosed in a Schedule 13G filed by Wellington Management Company LLP on February 14, 2008. According to this Schedule 13G, Wellington Management Company LLP beneficially owns 2,479,100 shares and has the shared power to direct the disposition of 2,458,600 shares and the shared power to vote or direct the vote of 1,723,100 shares.
- (5) Based on information disclosed in a Schedule 13G/A filed by M&G Investment Management Limited on February 7, 2008. According to this Schedule 13G/A, M&G Investment Management beneficially owns and has the shared power to direct the disposition and to vote or direct the vote of these 2,315,658 shares. M&G Investment Funds, an investment advisory client of M&G Investment Management Limited, beneficially owns and has the shared power to direct the disposition and to vote or direct the vote of 2,315,000 of these shares.

Securities Held by Management

The following table contains information regarding ownership of our common stock by each of our current directors, the executives named in the Summary Compensation Table and all of the current directors and executive officers as a group.

Common Stock Beneficially Owned as of December 31, 2008

Name of Beneficial Owner	Number of Shares	Percentage of Shares
A. Thomas Bender	321,760 (1)	*
Michael H. Kalkstein	80,266 (2)	*
Carol R. Kaufman	192,166 (3)	*
Jody S. Lindell	7,767(4)	*
Moses Marx	139,532 (5)	*
Eugene J. Midlock	30,000 (6)	*
Donald Press	142,549 (7)	*
Paul L. Remmell	78,250 (8)	*
Steven Rosenberg	109,704 (9)	*
Allan E. Rubenstein, M.D.	47,904 (10)	*
John A. Weber	23,788 (11)	*
Robert S. Weiss	302,140 (12)	*
Stanley Zinberg, M.D.	77,454 (13)	*
All current directors and executive officers as a group (20 persons)	1,691,900	3.75%

^{*} Less than 1%.

(2)

⁽¹⁾ Includes 3,600 restricted shares granted to Mr. Bender pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors, or the 2006 Directors Plan. Mr. Bender has sole voting power with respect to those 3,600 shares; however, disposition is restricted pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan. Also includes 249,000 shares which Mr. Bender could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.

Includes 4,600 restricted shares granted to Mr. Kalkstein pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan and 1,000 restricted shares granted to Mr. Kalkstein pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan. Mr. Kalkstein has sole voting power with respect to these 5,600 shares; however, disposition is restricted pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan and the 2006 Directors Plan. Also includes 63,000 shares which Mr. Kalkstein could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.

7

Table of Contents

- (3) Includes 178,500 shares which Ms. Kaufman could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.
- (4) Includes 5,267 restricted shares granted to Ms. Lindell pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan. Ms. Lindell has sole voting power with respect to those 5,267 shares; however, disposition is restricted pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan. Ms. Lindell s exerciseable stock options and shares subject to restrictions are held by the Matthews-Lindell Family Trust, an estate planning trust in which Ms. Lindell maintains 50% or greater control.
- (5) Includes 4,600 restricted shares granted to Mr. Marx pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan and 1,000 restricted shares granted to Mr. Marx pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan. Mr. Marx has sole voting power with respect to these 5,600 shares; however, disposition is restricted pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan and the 2006 Directors Plan. Also includes 35,000 shares which Mr. Marx could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.
- (6) Includes 25,000 shares which Mr. Midlock could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.
- (7) Includes 4,600 restricted shares granted to Mr. Press pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan and 1,000 restricted shares granted to Mr. Press pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan. Mr. Press has sole voting power with respect to these 5,600 shares; however, disposition is restricted pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan and the 2006 Directors Plan. Also includes 105,000 shares which Mr. Press could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.
- (8) Includes 78,250 shares which Mr. Remmell could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.
- (9) Includes 4,600 restricted shares granted to Mr. Rosenberg pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan and 1,000 restricted shares granted to Mr. Rosenberg pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan. Mr. Rosenberg has sole voting power with respect to these 5,600 shares; however, disposition is restricted pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan and the 2006 Directors Plan. Also includes 95,000 shares which Mr. Rosenberg could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.
- (10) Includes 4,600 restricted shares granted to Dr. Rubenstein pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan and 1,000 restricted shares granted to Dr. Rubenstein pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan. Dr. Rubenstein has sole voting power with respect to these 5,600 shares; however, disposition is restricted pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan and the 2006 Directors Plan. Also includes 37,800 shares which Dr. Rubenstein could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.
- (11) Includes 22,250 shares which Mr. Weber could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.
- (12) Includes 5,108 shares held on account for Mr. Weiss under our 401(k) Savings Plan and 205,500 shares which Mr. Weiss could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.
- (13) Includes 4,600 restricted shares granted to Dr. Zinberg pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan and 1,000 restricted shares granted to Dr. Zinberg pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan. Dr. Zinberg has sole voting power with respect to these 5,600 shares; however, disposition is restricted pursuant to the terms of the 1996 Directors Plan and the 2006 Directors Plan. Also includes 65,000 shares which Dr. Zinberg could acquire upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options.

8

Table of Contents

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers, directors and anyone owning more than ten percent of a registered class of our equity securities to file reports detailing ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC and the NYSE. SEC regulations also require these persons to provide us with a copy of all reports.

Based on our review of the copies of forms and related amendments we have received, we believe that during and with respect to the 2008 fiscal year, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to its officers, directors and greater-than-ten-percent owners were met.

9

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors

The Board is elected annually and each of our directors stands for election every year. Presently the Board is comprised of nine directors, and all except Messrs. Bender and Weiss have been determined by the Board to be independent. In making this determination, the Board has affirmed that each of the independent directors meets the objective requirements for independence set forth by the NYSE and the SEC and that they have no relationship, direct or indirect, to us other than as stockholders or through their service on the Board. The Board and its active committees conduct regular self-evaluations and review director independence and committee composition to ensure continued compliance with regulations.

Messrs. Bender and Weiss both served as executive officers of the company within the past three fiscal years, and Mr. Weiss continues to serve as an executive officer in 2009. Mr. Weiss was compensated for his position as an executive and received no additional compensation for his service on the Board during the 2008 fiscal year. Directors who are not also employees, or Non-Employee Directors, are compensated for their services as described in *Director Compensation* on page 41.

Under our Corporate Governance Principles, directors are not permitted to serve on the boards of more than two other public companies while they serve on the Board.

Any interested party wishing to communicate with the Board, the Non-Employee Directors or a specific Board member, may do so by writing to the Board, the Non-Employee Directors or the particular Board member, and delivering the communication in person or mailing it to: Board of Directors, c/o Carol R. Kaufman, Secretary, The Cooper Companies, Inc., 6140 Stoneridge Mall Road, Suite 590, Pleasanton, CA 94588. Communications will be distributed to specific Board members as directed by the stockholder in the communication. If addressed generally to the Board, communications may be distributed to specific members of the Board as appropriate, depending on the material outlined in the stockholder communication. For example, if a communication relates to accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, unless otherwise specified, the communication will be forwarded to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. From time to time, the Board may change the process by means of which stockholders may communicate with the Board or its members. Please refer to our website for any changes in this process.

Board Committees

The Board maintains five standing committees whose functions are described below. All members of the Corporate Governance, Nominating, Audit and Organization and Compensation Committees are independent directors. At the Board s discretion, other committees may include directors who have not been determined to be independent. Committee membership is determined by the Board.

Each committee maintains a written charter detailing its authority and responsibilities. These charters are reviewed and updated periodically as legislative and regulatory developments and business circumstances warrant. The committee charters are available in their entirety on our website at http://www.coopercos.com and to any stockholder otherwise requesting a copy.

The Audit Committee provides advice with respect to our financial matters and assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities regarding: (a) the quality and integrity of our financial statements, (b) our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (c) review of our potential risk factors, (d) the qualifications, independence and performance of KPMG LLP in their role as our independent registered public accounting firm, (e) retention and engagement of our independent registered public accounting firm and oversight of their work and (f) overseeing the performance of our

10

Table of Contents

internal audit function and reviewing our internal controls. The Audit Committee advises and makes recommendations to the Board regarding our financial, investment and accounting procedures and practices.

The members of the Audit Committee are Steven Rosenberg (Chair), Michael H. Kalkstein and Jody S. Lindell.

The Organization and Compensation Committee, or the Compensation Committee, reviews and approves all aspects of the compensation paid to our Chief Executive Officer and all executives identified by the Compensation Committee as officers under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act. The Compensation Committee also approves all compensation for employees whose annual base salary is \$300,000 or greater, regardless of whether they have been designated as officers under Section 16(a). Members of the Compensation Committee are not eligible to participate in any of our executive compensation programs.

The Compensation Committee approves base salary levels and overall compensation packages for the executive officers. The Compensation Committee also approves all awards under our equity and cash incentive bonus plans and has approval authority for all agreements providing for the payment of benefits following a change in control of the company, severance following a termination of employment or any other special arrangement with the executive officers or employees which would affect their compensation.

The members of the Compensation Committee are Michael H. Kalkstein (Chair), Jody S. Lindell, Donald Press and Allan E. Rubenstein, M.D.

The Corporate Governance Committee develops, implements, and maintains the corporate governance standards by which we conduct business and advises and makes recommendations to the Board concerning our primary governance policies. The Corporate Governance Committee meets with the Chief Executive Officer and senior corporate staff as it deems appropriate.

The members of the Corporate Governance Committee are Donald Press (Chair), Steven Rosenberg and Stanley Zinberg, M.D.

The Nominating Committee identifies and selects qualified candidates for nomination to the Board. The Nominating Committee believes that nominees for election to the Board must possess certain minimum qualifications and attributes. Nominees: 1) must meet the objective independence requirements set forth by the SEC and NYSE, other than executive nominees, 2) must exhibit strong personal integrity, character and ethics and a commitment to ethical business and accounting practices, 3) must not serve on more than two other public company boards, 4) must not be involved in on-going litigation with us or be employed by an entity which is engaged in such litigation, and 5) must not be the subject of any on-going criminal investigations, including investigations for fraud or financial misconduct. The Nominating Committee will consider suggestions from stockholders for nominees for election as directors at our Annual Stockholder Meetings on the same terms as nominees selected by the Nominating Committee. Stockholder suggestions must be received on a timely basis and meet the criteria set forth in the information on *Other Proposals and Stockholder Nominations for Director* on page 5. As of the date of this Proxy Statement, no stockholder suggestions for director nominees have been received by the Nominating Committee. Except as set forth above, the Nominating Committee does not currently have a formal process for identifying and evaluating nominees for directors, including nominees recommended by stockholders.

 $The \ members \ of \ the \ Nominating \ Committee \ are \ Moses \ Marx \ (Chair), \ Allan \ E. \ Rubenstein, \ M.D. \ and \ Stanley \ Zinberg, \ M.D.$

11

The **Science and Technology Committee** evaluates new and existing technologies. The Science and Technology Committee s primary functions are to: 1) discuss technology that falls outside the usual scope of current business; 2) periodically review our research and development projects and portfolio; 3) annually review our key technologies and assess the position of these technologies versus third party products and process; and 4) provide information and guidance to the Board on matters relating to science and technology. The Science and Technology Committee functions on an ad hoc basis.

The members of the Science and Technology Committee are Stanley Zinberg, M.D. (Chair), Allan E. Rubenstein, M.D., Robert S. Weiss and A. Thomas Bender.

Meetings

The Board and committees met as follows during our fiscal year ended October 31, 2008:

	Number of Meetings		
Board of Directors .	11		
Audit Committee.	11		
Organization and Compensation Committee.	12		
Corporate Governance Committee.	4		
Nominating Committee.	1		
Science and Technology Committee.	2		

The Non-Employee Directors also meet routinely in executive session in connection with regular meetings of the Board and more often as they deem appropriate. Mr. Bender, as Chair, or Dr. Rubenstein, as Lead Director, presides over all executive sessions which they attend.

Currently we do not maintain a formal policy regarding director attendance at the Annual Meeting; however, it is expected that absent compelling circumstances directors will attend. Last year all of the directors attended.

During the 2008 fiscal year, each director attended at least 90% of the aggregate of board meetings and meetings of committees on which the director served.

Corporate Governance Policies

We have an ongoing commitment to good governance and business practices. In furtherance of this commitment, we regularly monitor developments in the area of corporate governance, and review company processes and procedures in light of such developments. We comply with the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC and the NYSE and implement other corporate governance practices we believe are in the best interest of the company and its stockholders. We believe that the policies currently in place enhance our stockholders interests.

Governance Principles

The Board has approved a set of Corporate Governance Principles, or the Principles, for the company. The Principles are available in their entirety on our website at http://www.coopercos.com and to any stockholder otherwise requesting a copy. The Principles set out our standards for director qualifications, director responsibilities, Board committees, director access to officers and employees, director compensation, director orientation and continuing education, and performance evaluations of the Chief Executive Officer and of the Board and its committees.

12

Table of Contents

Under the Principles, the Non-Employee Directors are required to maintain a minimum level of ownership in our common stock, as set by the Board in its discretion. During fiscal 2008, the minimum ownership level was set at 2,500 shares and all our Non-Employee Directors met or exceeded this requirement.

In December 2008, the Board adopted revised ownership requirements for Non-Employee Directors. Under the new requirements, Non-Employee Directors are expected to hold a number of shares equal in value to three times the amount of the annual stipend paid to them for their service on the Board. For information on stipend levels, see *Director Compensation* on page 41. Ownership value will be measured annually on the first day of the fiscal year based on an average of our stock sclosing prices on the last trading day of each of the prior four fiscal quarters. Shares held must be free of restrictions to meet the requirements.

Until the required ownership values are met, the Non-Employee Directors must retain 100% of the shares received on vesting of restricted stock and 100% of the shares received on exercise of stock options, net of any shares tendered for payment of the exercise price and taxes. As of the date of this Proxy Statement, all of the Non-Employee Directors have met the minimum level of ownership required except Ms. Lindell. Ms. Lindell holds 87% of the minimum required level of ownership.

Ethics and Business Conduct Policy

We have adopted an Ethics and Business Conduct Policy, or Ethics Policy, that is available in its entirety on our website at http://www.coopercos.com and to any stockholder otherwise requesting a copy. All our employees, officers, and directors, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, are required to adhere to the Ethics Policy in discharging their work-related responsibilities. Employees are encouraged to report any conduct that they believe in good faith to be an actual or apparent violation of the Ethics Policy.

Amendments to the Ethics Policy, and any waivers from the Ethics Policy granted to directors or executive officers will be made available through our website. At this time, the Ethics Policy has been amended once since it was adopted and no waivers have been requested or granted.

Procedures for Handling Accounting Complaints

In keeping with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Audit Committee has established procedures for receipt and handling of complaints we receive regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, and to allow for the confidential, anonymous submission by our employees of concerns regarding accounting or auditing matters. In furtherance of this goal, we have established a confidential hotline managed by an independent third-party vendor through which employees may report concerns about our business practices.

Related Party Transactions

We review all relationships and transactions in which the company and our directors and executive officers or their immediate family members are participants to determine whether such persons have a direct or indirect material interest. Our legal staff is primarily responsible for monitoring and obtaining information from the directors and executive officers with respect to related person transactions and for then

determining, based on the facts and circumstances, whether the company or a related person has a direct or indirect material interest in the transaction. As required under SEC rules, transactions that are determined to be directly or indirectly material to the company or a related person are disclosed in our proxy statement.

We have determined that there were no material related party transactions during the 2008 fiscal year.

13

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is comprised of three independent directors Steven Rosenberg (Chair), Michael H. Kalkstein and Jody S. Lindell. The Board has determined that all members of the Audit Committee are financially literate as required by the NYSE and has also determined that both Mr. Rosenberg and Ms. Lindell meet the qualifications of an audit committee financial expert as defined by the SEC.

The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board in December 2004 and amended in December 2006. The Audit Committee s charter is available in its entirety on our website at http://www.coopercos.com and to any stockholder otherwise requesting a copy.

The Audit Committee provides advice with respect to our financial matters and assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities regarding: (i) the quality and integrity of our financial statements; (ii) our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iii) review of our potential risk factors; (iv) the qualifications, independence and performance of KPMG LLP, or KPMG, in their role as our independent registered public accounting firm; (v) retention and engagement of our independent registered public accounting firm and oversight of their work and (vi) overseeing the performance of our internal audit function and reviewing our internal controls. The Audit Committee s primary duties and responsibilities relate to:

- a. Management s maintenance of the reliability and integrity of our accounting policies and financial reporting and financial disclosure practices;
- b. Management s establishment and maintenance of processes to assure that an adequate system of internal controls is functioning effectively within the company; and
- c. Engagement, retention and termination of our independent registered public accounting firm.

Management is responsible for our internal controls and the financial reporting process. KPMG, as our independent registered public accounting firm, is responsible for performing an independent audit of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with United States Generally Accepted Auditing Standards and to issue a report thereon. The Audit Committee s responsibility is to monitor and oversee these processes. In this context, the Audit Committee has met and held discussions with management and KPMG regarding the fair and complete presentation of our results and has engaged Ernst & Young LLP to assist in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting.

The Audit Committee held 11 meetings during the 2008 fiscal year, including regular meetings in conjunction with the close of each fiscal quarter when the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed our financial statements with management and KPMG. These Audit Committee meetings included, when appropriate, executive sessions with KPMG and executive sessions without the presence of either KPMG or management.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed our audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2008 with management and KPMG, and management represented to the Audit Committee that our financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The Audit Committee discussed with KPMG the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards, or SAS, No. 61 Communication with Audit Committees, as amended by SAS No. 91.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and discussed with KPMG, management, and Ernst & Young the processes and procedures associated with our assessment of internal controls over financial reporting as required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, including management s assessment of such controls.

14

The Audit Committee maintains policies and procedures for the pre-approval of work performed by KPMG. Under its charter, the Audit Committee must approve all engagements in advance. All engagements with estimated fees above \$150,000 require consideration and approval by the full Audit Committee. The Chair of the Audit Committee has the authority to approve on behalf of the full Audit Committee all engagements with fees estimated to be below \$150,000. Management recommendations are considered in connection with such engagements, but management has no authority to approve engagements.

In the 2008 fiscal year, the Audit Committee received the written disclosures and the letter from KPMG required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussion with Audit Committees) and the Audit Committee discussed KPMG s independence from our company with the lead engagement partner. The Audit Committee also considered the non-audit services provided by KPMG and determined that the services provided are compatible with maintaining KPMG s independence. The Audit Committee or its Chair approved all audit, audit related, tax and other services provided by KPMG for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2008. The total fees paid or payable to KPMG for the last two fiscal years are as follows:

	Fiscal Year Ended October 31, 2008		Fiscal Year Ended October 31, 2007	
Audit Fees	\$	4,112,380	\$	4,243,360
Audit Related Fees: Professional services rendered for				
employee benefit plan audits, accounting assistance in				
connection with acquisitions and consultations related to				
financial accounting and reporting standards	\$	-0-	\$	-0-
Tax Fees	\$	-0-	\$	12,000
All Other Fees: Professional services rendered for corporate				
secretarial support	\$	-0-	\$	-0-

Based on the Audit Committee s discussions with management and KPMG, the Audit Committee s review of the representation of management and the written disclosures and the letter from KPMG to the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that our audited financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2008 for filing with the SEC.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Steven Rosenberg (Chair)

Michael H. Kalkstein

Jody S. Lindell

15

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Set forth below is information regarding our current executive officers who are not also directors:

Rodney E. Folden Age: 61 Title: Corporate Controller

Mr. Folden has served as Corporate Controller since February 2004. He served as Assistant Corporate Controller from March 1994 to February 2004. He has also held a variety of financial positions since joining us in 1987.

Carol R. Kaufman

Age: 59

Title: Sr. Vice President of Legal Affairs, Secretary & Chief Administrative Officer

Ms. Kaufman has served as Senior Vice President of Legal Affairs since December 2004. She has served as Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer since October 1995 and was elected Vice President of Legal Affairs and Secretary in March 1996. From January 1989 through September 1995, she served as Vice President, Secretary and Chief Administrative Officer of Cooper Development Company, a healthcare and consumer products company. She previously held a variety of financial positions with Cooper Laboratories, Inc. (our former parent) since joining that company in 1971. Ms. Kaufman currently serves as a director and member of the audit and compensation committees of the board of directors for Chindex, Inc. (NASDAQ: CHDX), a publicly traded distributor of medical equipment and services in China.

Daniel G. McBride, Esq. Age: 44 Title: Vice President & General Counsel

Mr. McBride has served as General Counsel since November 2007 and Vice President since July 2006. He also served as Senior Counsel from February 2005 through November 2007. Prior to joining us, Mr. McBride was an attorney with Latham & Watkins LLP from October 1998 to February 2005, concentrating on mergers and acquisitions and corporate finance matters.

Jeffery A. McLeanAge: 55

Title: Executive Vice President, Global Commercial Strategies of CooperVision, Inc.

Mr. McLean has served as Executive Vice President, Global Commercial Strategies of CooperVision, our contact lens business, since May 2008. Previously he served as President, the Americas, of CooperVision from June 2005 to April 2008, as President, U.S. Operations of CooperVision from January 2005 through June 2005, and as Vice President, Sales of CooperVision from February 2004 to December 2004. He has also served as Director of Marketing & National Accounts of CooperVision. Before joining CooperVision in September 2002, Mr. McLean was a consultant for Pfizer from February 2002 to August 2002. Prior to that Mr. McLean spent eighteen years at Bausch & Lomb Incorporated holding several management positions, his last as Vice President, Sales & Marketing.

Eugene J. Midlock Age: 64 Title: Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Midlock has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since February 2008. Prior to that he served as the Vice President, Finance from November 2007 to February 2008 and as Vice President, Taxes from January 2005 to October 2007. From November 2003 until December 2004 he served as our consultant. During this period he also served as an instructor in the Master of Science in Taxation program of San Jose State University. From 1979 until he retired in 2002 he was a partner and held a number of leadership positions with KPMG.

16

Dennis J. Murphy Age: 50 Title: President, the Americas of CooperVision, Inc.

Mr. Murphy has served as President, Americas of CooperVision since September 2008. Prior to joining CooperVision, Mr. Murphy was President and Chief Executive Officer of dock3, a workplace services provider, from December 2003. He served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Carttronics LLC from February 2002 to August 2003. He has 23 years of experience in a variety of positions for large corporations and emerging businesses, including executive positions with Medibuy and McKesson Health Systems, Paper-Pak Products, Inc., and Baxter Healthcare Corporation.

Nicholas J. Pichotta Age: 64 Title: Chief Executive Officer of CooperSurgical, Inc.

Mr. Pichotta has served as Chief Executive Officer of CooperSurgical, our women s healthcare business, since September 1992. He also served as President from September 1992 to December 2004. Prior to that he held various management positions with us from September 1989. From December 1986 to May 1988 he was President of the Surgical Laser Division of Cooper LaserSonics, Inc.

Paul L. Remmell Age: 51 Title: President & Chief Operating Officer of CooperSurgical, Inc.

Mr. Remmell has been President of CooperSurgical since December 2004. He also has served as Chief Operating Officer of CooperSurgical since October 2000 and previously served as Vice President of Finance of CooperSurgical from 1991 to December 2004.

Andrew Sedgwick Age: 43 Title: President, EMEA of CooperVision, Inc.

Mr. Sedgwick has served as President, Europe, Middle East and Africa, or EMEA, for CooperVision since September 2005. Prior to that he served as Managing Director, Northern Europe of CooperVision from May 2002. Mr. Sedgwick joined CooperVision in January 2000 having previously held various sales and marketing roles for Hydron Ltd. in the United Kingdom.

John A. Weber Age: 44 **Title:** President of CooperVision, Inc.

Mr. Weber has served as President of CooperVision since February 2008. Prior to that he served as President, Asia Pacific of CooperVision from April 2007 to February 2008 and as Vice President, Worldwide Manufacturing & Distribution of CooperVision from January 2005 to March 2007. He previously served as Executive Vice President, Worldwide Operations of Ocular Sciences from July 2003 to December 2004 and as Vice President, Manufacturing of Ocular Sciences from January 2001 to July 2003. Mr. Weber served in various other management positions at Ocular Sciences between 1993 and 2001.

Albert G. White III Age: 39 Title: Vice President, Investor Relations & Treasurer

Mr. White has served as Vice President, Investor Relations since November 2007 and has served as Vice President and Treasurer since joining us in April 2006. Prior to that he served as a Director with KeyBanc Capital Markets for three years and in a number of leadership positions within KeyBank National Association over the prior eight years.

17

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Organization and Compensation Committee of the Board has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis with Management. Based on this review and discussion, the Compensation Committee has recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement and incorporated by reference in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2008.

ORGANIZATION AND COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Michael H. Kalkstein (Chair)

Jody S. Lindell

Donald Press

Allan E. Rubenstein, M.D.

18

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Executive Summary

Our executive compensation program is directed by the Organization and Compensation Committee of the Board, or the Compensation Committee, and is designed to provide compensation for executive officers that is appropriately competitive within our industry and closely tied to our company performance and stockholder returns. Our compensation structure for executives has three components:

base salary;

annual cash incentive bonus; and

long-term equity incentive awards.

This structure applies to all our executive officers, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the three other most highly compensated executives, which are referred to as our Named Executive Officers. The Compensation Committee determines base salary, annual cash incentive bonus targets and equity awards for the Named Executive Officers based on the responsibilities of each executive s position, the executive s experience level, assessment of executive performance and comparative peer group company information.

Compensation Objectives

Our compensation philosophy places emphasis on our company son-going performance and return to stockholders. The Compensation Committee specifically believes that compensation programs should:

Link compensation to a combination of individual achievement, company performance and stockholder returns;

Encourage achievement of both short-term operational goals and long-term strategic objectives;

Structure executive incentive compensation in a way that allows proportional award opportunities based on company performance objectives;

Maintain a proper balance between fixed and variable compensation, and long-term and short-term incentives, with the compensation of senior executives more closely tied to company performance to reflect their responsibility for the company s overall performance; and

Provide sufficiently competitive compensation packages to attract and retain high caliber personnel.

Based on this philosophy, the Compensation Committee structures executive compensation packages in a way that makes a significant portion of total compensation dependent on both long-term and short-term company performance, while continuing to target total compensation at competitive levels within our industry and geographic region. For the Named Executive Officers, the Compensation Committee intends performance-based compensation to make up a significant portion of total compensation. The Compensation Committee believes that achievement of financial goals that result in attainment of significant positive returns for stockholders should result in total executive compensation at or above median levels for our selected peer group (discussed below).

Emphasis on **Performance**

The Compensation Committee has historically set base salaries below median levels for the designated peer group, after adjusting for performance, company size and other factors. Both targeted short-term incentive bonus awards under our Incentive Payment Plans and the amount of long-term equity-based incentive awards are set with the expectation that total executive compensation could possibly exceed median levels if our short- and long-term goals are exceeded.

19

Table of Contents

In fiscal year 2008, we completed our three-year integration of Ocular Sciences, Inc. During this process, while we achieved all of the expected organizational synergies, we did not achieve all of the expected financial results. This was principally due to changes in the contact lens market and delays in getting new products to market, and, in part, due to the post-acquisition integration process. In fiscal year 2008, our results were also affected by the disruption of the global financial markets and national economic issues. Consequently, total compensation for the Named Executive Officers was below median for the year.

Base salaries for the Named Executive Officers have been increased no more than 5% per year since the 2006 fiscal year, other than increases in connection with promotions. Emphasis on objectively determined quantitative awards under our annual Incentive Payment Plans has also been increased during this period, resulting in lower annual bonus payments as our results have not achieved incentive bonus targets. In addition, a significant decline in stock price has resulted in the exercise price of the stock option awards made in the previous five fiscal years to be greater than the market price of the underlying stock. This has kept these grants from having either economic value for the Named Executive Officers or retention value for the company. Cumulatively, these factors have caused actual total compensation for fiscal year 2008 for the Named Executive Officers to be at or below the 25th percentile for our peer group.

The Compensation Committee regularly evaluates and restructures both the short-term and long-term performance compensation for the Named Executive Officers. The Incentive Payment Plans, which govern short-term bonuses, are revised on an annual basis to reflect our fiscal year goals. The Compensation Committee also works closely with its independent compensation consultant and management to review and revise, as appropriate, its long-term incentives. As part of that process, the Compensation Committee has reviewed alternative forms of equity awards for the Named Executive Officers, including restricted stock units and performance units, which would emphasize our performance and stockholder returns while still having strong retention value for key executives. Further discussion of the short-term and long-term incentives for our Named Executive Officers can be found below in Components of Compensation Annual Cash Incentive Bonus and Components of Compensation Equity Awards .

Role of the Independent Consultant

Since 2002, the Compensation Committee has retained J. Richard & Co., or J. Richard, an independent executive compensation consulting firm, to assist with compensation analysis. In this capacity, J. Richard reports only to the Compensation Committee and does no other work for our company. J. Richard provides the Compensation Committee with comparative peer group data and information regarding key trends and developments in both cash and equity compensation for comparable publicly traded companies. J. Richard also assists in setting equity award levels and other forms of compensation.

At the request of the Compensation Committee, J. Richard provides an annual report reviewing Named Executive Officer compensation and providing comparative information based on the designated peer group. Executive level positions, including the Chief Executive Officer, are compared to similar positions, based on company size and relative authority level, to determine appropriate compensation levels. J. Richard also performs a regression analysis to normalize the information contained in the report, which allows the Compensation Committee to fairly assess the comparability of the compensation utilized by companies of varying sizes within the peer group. The Compensation Committee uses the information presented in this report and advice from J. Richard to evaluate our compensation levels against those in the peer group.

20

Role of Management in Compensation Decisions

The Compensation Committee gives full consideration to management recommendations, including those of management s consultants, and discusses these recommendations extensively with J. Richard at meetings of the Compensation Committee. Our Chief Executive Officer provides recommendations regarding: (1) appropriate peer group companies, (2) base salary and salary increases, (3) achievement of targets and awards under our Incentive Payment Plans, (4) appropriate overall equity grant levels for the company and the structure of these grants, and (5) special compensation awards to executives who have shown outstanding achievements during the year or on special projects. Our Chief Executive Officer also makes specific recommendations to the Compensation Committee as to how these grants and awards should be allocated to the management team.

Since July 2007, management has retained Frederic W. Cook & Co, Inc. or Frederic Cook, an executive compensation firm, to serve as management s compensation consultant and to assist with management s recommendations for the peer group and executive compensation. Mr. Weiss, as Chief Executive Officer, has final authority for the retention of Frederic Cook.

Management regularly directs Frederic Cook to conduct competitive compensation analyses for the Named Executive Officers in order to evaluate all aspects of executive compensation against the designated peer group companies. Frederic Cook reviews compensation data for our company and our peer group, and uses this information to analyze our Named Executive Officer's compensation as compared to the peer group for financial performance, total compensation packages and compensation practices.

Management utilizes Frederic Cook s analyses to develop compensation recommendations for presentation to the Compensation Committee with regard to salary, annual bonus, long-term equity compensation, and total compensation of the Named Executive Officers, as well as various other elements of our compensation program, such as contractual arrangements and stock ownership guidelines. At the Compensation Committee s request, J. Richard may review Frederic Cook s reports and work with the Compensation Committee to assess Frederic Cook s findings and the reasonableness of management s recommendations.

Peer Group Selection

The Compensation Committee has authority over the selection of an appropriate comparative peer group for compensation comparisons. The Compensation Committee selects and regularly reviews the peer group, with input from J. Richard, Mr. Weiss and Frederic Cook. Recommendations for the peer group are selected from publicly traded companies headquartered in the United States based on:

similarity of product lines;

similarity in company size as measured through annual revenue, market capitalization, operating margins and other financial measures of organizational scope and complexity; and

the competitive market for executive talent.

The Compensation Committee revised the peer group designations in October 2008, removing Apria Healthcare Group, Inc., Beckman Coulter, Inc. and Mentor Corporation due to mergers. Six companies were added to the peer group based on their positions in the life sciences and medical device industries and on the factors noted above. These revisions occurred prior to the annual grant of equity awards in October 2008, so the level of those awards was based on data from the new peer group. Fiscal year 2008 salary and target bonus compensation were set based on the peer group used in fiscal 2007.

21

The present peer group is composed of the following companies, with companies added to the peer group in October 2008 noted by an asterisk:

Advanced Medical Optics, Inc.
Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.
Conmed Corporation*
Dentsply International, Inc.
Edwards Lifesciences Corporation
Haemonetics Corporation*
Integra Lifesciences Holding Corporation*
Invitrogen Corporation

Kinetic Concepts, Inc.
Millipore Corporation
Perkinelmer, Inc.*
Resmed, Inc.*
Sirona Dental Systems, Inc*
Steris Corporation
Varian, Inc.*
West Pharmaceutical Services, Inc.*

Stock Ownership Guidelines

Beginning in the 2006 fiscal year, the Compensation Committee implemented guidelines for stock ownership by certain executive officers based on position. In fiscal year 2008, the guidelines applied to all the Named Executive Officers except Mr. Remmell and encouraged ownership of a combination of stock and vested stock options with a value equal to a designated multiple of base salary within a predetermined time period. At the end of the fiscal year, each of our Named Executive Officers held an ownership position in our common stock; however, due to a sharp drop in our stock price in October 2008, Mr. Weiss and Ms. Kaufman were not in compliance with these guidelines, even though they had been compliant through September 2008. Messrs. Midlock and Weber assumed their current positions during 2008 and were not subject to compliance with the guidelines until February 2009.

The Compensation Committee recognized that compliance under the guidelines was highly vulnerable to the current economic turmoil and abrupt changes in stock price, such as those seen during October 2008, and felt the ownership guidelines should be modified. In December 2008, the Compensation Committee adopted revised guidelines for a broader group of senior executives and modified the criteria to be based on retention of shares from equity awards. The Named Executive Officers are now expected to retain a designated percentage of shares acquired, net of taxes and share purchase price, upon the exercise of stock options or vesting of RSUs until they have achieved their recommended ownership targets. Mr. Weiss is encouraged to hold three times his base salary, Messrs. Midlock and Weber and Ms. Kaufman are encouraged to hold two times their base salary and Mr. Remmell is encouraged to hold stock equal to his base salary.

The Compensation Committee feels that these revisions provide more appropriate measures to encourage stock ownership and more closely reflect the intention to encourage executives to take a direct ownership interest in our company, apart from equity awards. The Compensation Committee also believes the revised guidelines provide compliance standards which encourage ownership of our stock and cause the executives to accumulate ownership as they accumulate value from our equity grants. Compliance with the retention guidelines and achievement of recommended ownership amounts will be evaluated at the end of fiscal year 2009. All executives are currently in compliance with the guidelines regarding retention of shares on exercise or vesting.

Chief Executive Officer Compensation

Compensation for the Chief Executive Officer position is significantly higher than the compensation for the other Named Executive Officers in recognition of his overall responsibility for our performance and the significant role that he plays in our company s management and operations. This practice also reflects peer group and general industry compensation practices.

22

Table of Contents

Robert S. Weiss served as our Chief Executive Officer for fiscal year 2008, having been promoted to that position effective at the beginning of the fiscal year. Prior to that, Mr. Weiss served as our Chief Operating Officer. At the beginning of fiscal year 2008, the Compensation Committee reviewed Mr. Weiss compensation package and discussed appropriate changes to his compensation upon his promotion to Chief Executive Officer. Based on this promotion, Mr. Weiss received a significant increase in his compensation over what he had been paid as Chief Operating Officer, including increases in his salary, potential award level under our Incentive Payment Plans and level of equity award grants.

In setting Mr. Weiss compensation levels for fiscal year 2008, the Compensation Committee reviewed information from both J. Richard and Frederic Cook and the compensation package paid to A. Thomas Bender as the former Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Weiss experience level and his prior role as our Chief Operating Officer were also considered. The Compensation Committee noted that his initial salary as Chief Executive Officer was set at the low end of the peer group and significantly below what had been paid to Mr. Bender as Chief Executive Officer because this was Mr. Weiss first year in the position. The Compensation Committee determined that Mr. Weiss compensation would be reviewed again at the end of his first year and also approved a set of personal management objectives for Mr. Weiss which would be used to measure his performance in connection with our business plans.

Components of Compensation

Base Salary

Base salaries for the Named Executive Officers are generally below, but near to, median levels for the peer group, after adjustments for company size and performance. The Compensation Committee sets base salary levels to remain competitive with the peer group without reducing emphasis on performance-based compensation components. The Compensation Committee evaluates executive base salary levels annually. Increases in annual base salary depend on changes in executive responsibility, overall execution of duties throughout the prior fiscal year and company performance relative to predetermined performance objectives and peer group performance. Competitive market changes and conditions are also taken into account. Mid-year base salary increases may be granted based on special circumstances, such as a significant change in job responsibility or promotion.

The Compensation Committee has successively lowered the weighting of base salaries comparative to total compensation and correspondingly provided lower base salary increases for the Named Executive Officers to reflect company performance over the past three years. The base salary for the Chief Executive Officer is well below the peer group median, as discussed above.

At the beginning of fiscal year 2008, Messrs. Midlock and Neil and Ms. Kaufman each received a 4% increase in base salary and Mr. Remmell received a 5% increase in base salary. This decision was based on the Compensation Committee s determination that increased salaries for Messrs. Midlock and Neil and Ms. Kaufman were appropriate based on individual performance and current responsibilities. The Compensation Committee determined that the increase for Mr. Remmell, the President and Chief Operating Officer of CooperSurgical, Inc., was merited based on the strong overall financial performance of CooperSurgical in the 2007 fiscal year. At the end of fiscal year 2008, due to the current economic conditions, the Compensation Committee decided that the Named Executive Officers would not receive base salary increases for fiscal year 2009.

In February 2008, Mr. Neil resigned his position as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. To fill the vacancy, the Board appointed Mr. Midlock, formerly serving as Vice President, Finance, to the position of Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Upon his promotion, the Compensation Committee increased Mr. Midlock s base salary by 9% to the level paid to Mr. Neil in his role as Chief Financial Officer.

Table of Contents

Also in February 2008, Mr. Weber was promoted to the position of President of CooperVision from his previous position as President, Asia Pacific of CooperVision. The Compensation Committee approved a 14% increase in Mr. Weber s base salary in connection with this promotion.

Annual Cash Incentive Bonus

The Compensation Committee annually adopts an Incentive Payment Plan to govern short-term cash incentives for the Named Executive Officers and other key employees. The Incentive Payment Plan is part of the Compensation Committee s practice of tying a significant portion of executive compensation directly to company performance. Based on the approved fiscal year budget, management presents a proposed Incentive Payment Plan to the Compensation Committee for review, revision and approval.

The Compensation Committee sets Named Executive Officer participation levels under the Incentive Payment Plan, which determines the executive s potential award as a designated percentage of his or her base salary for the fiscal year. The Incentive Payment Plan has two components and awards are based on: (1) achievement of specified objectively determined financial targets and (2) discretionary evaluation by the Compensation Committee of the executive s performance. The relative weighting of financial criteria are reset annually based on company objectives.

Under the 2008 Incentive Payment Plan, 75% of each Named Executive Officer s potential bonus was tied to achievement of budgeted financial criteria, as described below under Quantitative Targets , and 25% of each Named Executive Officer s potential bonus was subject to the discretion of the Compensation Committee as described below under Discretionary Targets . This weighting structure was adopted to more closely link annual bonuses to specific levels of company performance and quantitative measures. The Compensation Committee believes that this weighting more closely reflects the intention to tie compensation closely to company financial performance.

Ouantitative Targets

Achievement of budgeted levels of revenue, cash flow and income, which we refer to as the quantitative criteria, comprised 75% of each Named Executive Officer s potential bonus under the 2008 Incentive Payment Plan. These criteria were allocated as follows:

20% to revenue;

20% to cash flow; and

35% to earnings per share, or operating income in the case of employees of CooperVision or CooperSurgical.

These targets, and the associated weighting, were set based on key objectives for fiscal year 2008 which are derived from our annual budget, as presented to and approved by the Board. The 2008 Incentive Payment Plan also provides for reduction of quantitative awards by up to 25%, regardless of whether achievement targets were met. This reduction can be made at the Compensation Committee s discretion if it feels awards at actual achievement are not merited.

The Compensation Committee and management annually update the target criteria and allocations to align compensation under the incentive payment plans with achievement of our financial objectives in the coming year. The Compensation Committee believes that the weighting of the quantitative criteria at 75% of each total bonus under the 2008 Incentive Payment Plan appropriately reflected the intention to link compensation closely to our financial performance for fiscal year 2008, and has used this weighting structure in prior years.

24

In setting awards, each of the quantitative criteria was evaluated separately when determining if budget levels were achieved. In order for a total award payment associated with quantitative criteria to exceed 100%, all of the quantitative criteria must be achieved at a level of 95% of budget or greater, and such exemplary awards are capped at 200% of the target awards.

Bonus awards for Messrs. Weiss and Midlock and Ms. Kaufman were determined by consolidated financial results for the company. For fiscal year 2008, the actual percentage of budget achieved at the corporate level for revenue, cash flow and earnings per share were:

Quantitative Criteria (1)	Actual Budget Achievement	% of Award Earned (Target)
Revenue	96%	12%(20%)
Cash flow	68%	0%(20%)
Earnings Per Share	82%	0%(35%)
Total		12%(75%)

(1) Budgeted targets for revenue, cash flow and EPS were \$1,086 million, \$142 million and \$1.74, respectively.

Mr. Weber s bonus award was based on the budgeted revenue, cash flow and operating income for CooperVision as a whole and the performance of its Asia-Pacific commercial division. Mr. Weber s award accounted for both operations in recognition of his leadership of the Asia-Pacific division during the first fiscal quarter, prior to his promotion to President of CooperVision. The actual percentages of budget achieved for CooperVision were:

Quantitative Criteria (1)	Actual Budget Achievement	% of Award Earned (Target)
Revenue	96%	7%(23%)
Cash flow	21%	0%(16%)
Operating income	84%	12%(36%)
Total		19%(75%)

(1) Budgeted targets for revenue, cash flow and operating income for CooperVision were \$919 million, \$203 million and \$155 million, respectively.

Mr. Remmell s bonus award was based on the budgeted revenue, cash flow and operating income for CooperSurgical. The actual percentages of budget achieved for CooperSurgical were:

Quantitative Criteria (1)	Actual Budget Achievement	% of Award Earned (Target)
Revenue	101%	22%(20%)
Cash flow	122%	49%(20%)
Operating income	107%	40%(35%)
Total		111%(75%)

(1) Budgeted targets for revenue, cash flow and operating income for CooperSurgical were \$168 million, \$32 million and \$33 million, respectively.

Discretionary Criteria

The remaining 25% of each Named Executive Officer s potential bonus under the 2008 Incentive Payment Plan was subject to the discretion of the Compensation Committee and could be adjusted as deemed appropriate. The Compensation Committee may choose to significantly increase or decrease the discretionary portion of bonus awards for the Named Executive Officers based on individual performance, our overall company performance or any other factors as the Compensation Committee believes are appropriate.

25

Messrs. Weiss and Midlock and Ms. Kaufman received the full discretionary bonus award of 25%, resulting in a total award of 37% of their total target amount. Mr. Weber also received the full 25% discretionary bonus award, resulting in a total award of 44% of his total target amount. The Compensation Committee approved the award of the full discretionary portion of the bonus award for these executives based on accomplishments in internal restructuring of management, overall company growth in excess of the market, new product launches, resolution of product capacity issues and their other specific executive achievements.

Mr. Remmell received 20% of the possible 25% of his discretionary award, resulting in a total award of 128.5% of his total targeted bonus. Despite CooperSurgical s exceptional quantitative performance, the Compensation Committee chose to reduce Mr. Remmell s discretionary award due to a product recall and delay in a product launch.

Total Bonus Awards

Each Named Executive Officer s total targeted bonus and actual awards for fiscal year 2008, including both quantitative and qualitative amounts, as a percentage of salary is as follows:

Named Executive Officer	2008 IPP Target as % of salary	Actual 2008 IPP Award as % of salary (1)
Nameu Executive Officer	70 of salary	as % of salary (1)
Robert S. Weiss	100%	37%
Eugene J. Midlock	60%	21%
Carol R. Kaufman	50%	19%
John A. Weber	60%	24%
Paul L. Remmell	45%	58%

(1) Percentage reflects target percentage multiplied by actual award achievement.

Equity Awards

We grant long-term equity awards to provide retention incentives and to tie a portion of executive compensation to our long-term goals. The Compensation Committee made equity incentive awards to Named Executive Officers for fiscal year 2008 under our 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, or the 2007 LTIP. All stock options awarded in fiscal year 2008 were granted at 100% of fair market value on the date of grant, defined by the 2007 LTIP as the closing price of our stock on the New York Stock Exchange.

Grant Process and Timing

For over 15 years, the Compensation Committee has made equity grants annually in October in connection with our regular Board and Compensation Committee meetings to review budget and performance goals for the coming fiscal year. This timing was designed to provide equity awards at the start of a new fiscal year, based on individual performance and the long-term goals and our objectives with regard to company performance and stockholder returns.

In prior years, and in fiscal year 2008, the decision whether to grant equity awards has been made by the full Board based on a recommendation from the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee is recommendation addresses whether and to what extent equity grants should be made, using an analysis based on the economic value of an estimated total grant amount. The Compensation Committee considers the total compensation value of potential awards, retention effectiveness, cost to our company and effect on stockholder dilution in determining the recommended total amount of awards to be made for the fiscal year. The Compensation Committee also considers the accounting implications of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard 123(R) in its determination of the type of equity and appropriate award levels for grants.

26

Table of Contents

If the Board agrees to grant equity, it does so in the aggregate and the Compensation Committee is charged with determining the nature of equity to be granted and the specific allocation of awards to recipients. In setting award amounts for the Named Executive Officers, the Compensation Committee considers recommendations from the Chief Executive Officer and from J. Richard, as well as historical grant levels based on the role and position of the executive. Award levels have been held close to constant for Named Executive Officers over the past five years.

In fiscal year 2008, the Compensation Committee decided that the preferred timing of annual equity grants should be adjusted to December after financial results are available for the prior fiscal year. The Compensation Committee recommended, and the Board decided, that fiscal year 2008 would be a transition year with regard to this modification in grant timing, with the grant to the Named Executive Officers and certain other executives to be considered in two stages.

Based on this decision, the Compensation Committee approved a grant to the Named Executive Officers in October 2008 of half the amount of options that had been awarded in previous years. Then, in December 2008, the Compensation Committee reviewed and approved an additional equity grant which brought the total award amounts for the Named Executive Officers to generally the same number of options as awards in October 2007. The Compensation Committee also reaffirmed to management that the Compensation Committee intends to move consideration of any future annual grants to December for all recipients starting in December 2009.

The Compensation Committee may also make mid-year grants to new hires or upon a promotion in its discretion. Additional mid-year grants also may be made to accomplish specific retention goals.

Form of Equity Awards

Through 2006, Compensation Committee historically granted long-term compensation in the form of stock options with market performance vesting targets. These targets were coupled with a retention component that provided for cliff vesting after five years if the stock failed to perform but the executive remained with us. We were an early adopter of market performance dependent equity awards and have applied stock performance requirements to our equity awards for over fifteen years, generally in the form of vesting based on designated increases in the average trading price of our stock. If our performance is not recognized by the market through stock price appreciation, these equity awards may not deliver any value to the Named Executive Officers.

In October 2007, the Compensation Committee adjusted the vesting criteria of executive stock options to allow vesting in equal portions on the first through fourth anniversaries of the grant date, but with the possibility of accelerated vesting if designated market performance targets were met. The Compensation Committee made this adjustment to provide a greater retention incentive, after noting that option grants made in the prior three years no longer have meaningful near-term retention value because our stock price had fallen well below the exercise price of those prior grants. The Compensation Committee retained this vesting structure for options granted to the Named Executive Officers during fiscal year 2008.

The Compensation Committee has historically relied only on stock options, and not full-value shares as used by many companies, for awards to the Named Executive Officers in order to ensure that the awards will only have value to the executives when we also have positive stock market performance. The Compensation Committee believes it is important for these awards to reflect the direct influence that these executives have on company performance and stock price.

27

2008 Equity Awards

In October 2008, the Named Executive Officers received stock options as in prior years. Due to the transition in the timing of the process set by the Compensation Committee, grants to the Named Executive Officers ranged in amount from 16,500 to 33,000 stock options, which was generally half the award level of prior years. In December 2008, in accordance with the transition in grant timing described above, the Compensation Committee reviewed the grants to the Named Executive Officers and made additional grants in amounts identical to the grants in October 2008. The total combined grants made in October and December 2008 to the Named Executive Officers were generally the same as the award amounts in prior years.

The stock option grants made in October 2008 vest in equal portions over four years on the earlier of the first through fourth anniversaries of the date of grant. This vesting may accelerate if the average closing price of our stock appreciates from 12% to 40% in value. The grants made in December 2008 will vest ratably over four years in equal portions on the earlier of the first through fourth anniversaries of the date of grant with no acceleration option. The acceleration option was removed to provide additional retention value.

Messrs. Midlock and Weber also received awards in March 2008 in connection with their promotions to Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and President of CooperVision, Inc., respectively. These grants supplemented the awards made in October 2007 and brought their total grants into alignment with the grants historically made for those positions. Mr. Neil did not receive awards in fiscal year 2008 due to his resignation.

In fiscal year 2008, the Compensation Committee elected to make an exception to its usual practice of relying only on stock options for executive grants. In March 2008, as part of a special retention focused grant, the Compensation Committee granted RSUs to certain key executives, including Mr. Remmell. These RSUs will vest in two equal portions on the second and fourth anniversaries of the grant date and are expected to be paid in stock, net of any withholding for applicable taxes. Since the exercise price of prior year grants of stock options exceeded the market price of stock underlying the awards, the Compensation Committee determined that a grant of full-value awards with guaranteed value would provide additional retention value for these executives. Mr. Remmell was the only Named Executive Officer to receive this grant and the Compensation Committee continues to rely primarily on stock options for annual grants to executives.

Tax Deductibility of Compensation

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, generally provides that publicly held companies may not deduct compensation in excess of \$1,000,000 paid to its Named Executive Officers in any fiscal year. However, pursuant to regulations issued by the U.S. Treasury Department, certain limited exemptions to Section 162(m) apply with respect to qualified performance-based compensation.

In the course of structuring our compensation policies, the Compensation Committee considers ways to maintain the tax deductibility of the compensation for Named Executive Officers. However, the Compensation Committee intends to retain the necessary discretion to compensate executives in a manner in keeping with overall compensation goals and strategies, and may choose to provide compensation which may not be deductible by reason of Section 162(m). Our equity compensation plan is designed to be performance-based so that stock option grants and restricted stock units which vest solely based on performance may be performance-based compensation and deductible under Section 162(m). However, restricted stock units which vest based on time will not be qualified as performance-based and may not be deductible. Our Incentive Payment Plan has not been approved by our stockholders, and therefore bonuses payable under such plan do not qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m).

Conclusion

The Compensation Committee believes that each element of compensation and the total compensation provided to each of our Named Executive Officers is reasonable and appropriate. The value of the compensation payable to the Named Executive Officers is significantly tied to the Company s performance and returns to our stockholders. The Compensation Committee believes that our compensation programs will allow us to continue to attract and retain a top performing management team.

29

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION TABLES

Summary Compensation Table

The table below shows compensation paid to the individuals who served as our Named Executive Officers.

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary	Boi	nus	Av	Option vards (1)(2)	Av	Stock wards (1)]	on-Equity Incentive Plan mpensation	Change in Pension Value (3)	All Other Compensation (4) Tot	tal
Robert S. Weiss	2008	\$ 600,000	\$	-0-	\$	1,084,937	\$	-0-	\$	222,000	\$ 17,838	\$ 19,543	\$ 1,92	6,480
President & Chief Executive Officer	2007	\$ 475,000	\$	-0-	\$	906,036	\$	-0-	\$	103,838	\$ 33,590	\$ 14,746	\$ 1,499	9,620
Eugene J. Midlock	2008	\$ 371,696	\$	-0-	\$	545,789	\$	-0-	\$	78,932	\$ 25,422	\$ 21,689	\$ 1,01	8,106
Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer	2007	\$ 329,333	\$	-0-	\$	315,813	\$	-0-	\$	93,531	\$ 24,732	\$ 173,574	\$ 913	2,251
John A. Weber	2008	\$ 355,211	\$	-0-	\$	652,138	\$	-0-	\$	83,664	\$ 5,087	\$ 8,129	\$ 1,099	9,141
President, CooperVision														
Carol R. Kaufman	2008	\$ 350,000	\$	-0-	\$	646,190	\$	-0-	\$	64,750	\$ 12,125	\$ 19,617	\$ 1,080	0,556
Senior Vice President of Legal Affairs, Secretary & Chief Administrative Officer														
Paul L. Remmell	2008	\$ 295,000	\$	-0-	\$	498,550	\$	61,532	\$	170,584	\$ 171	\$ 9,200	\$ 1,03	4,866
President & Chief Operating Officer of CooperSurgical														
Steven M. Neil (5)	2008	\$ 58,373	\$	-0-	\$	-0-	\$	-0-	\$	-0-	\$ -0-	\$ 8,056	\$ 6	6,430
Former Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer	2007	\$ 380,000	\$ 25	,000	\$	581,750	\$	-0-	\$	121,220	\$ 14,074	\$ 13,823	\$ 1,12	1,793

⁽¹⁾ Amounts shown in the Option Awards and Stock Awards columns reflect our accounting expense for equity awards during the indicated fiscal year and do not reflect whether the recipient has actually realized a financial benefit from the awards, such as by vesting in a restricted stock unit award. This column represents the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the indicated fiscal year for the fair value of stock options and RSUs granted to the named executive officers in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 123 (revised 2004) Share-Based Payments, or SFAS 123R. Pursuant to SEC rules, the amounts shown exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. Mr. Neil was the only named executive officer to forfeit stock awards during fiscal 2008. For additional information, including information on the valuation assumptions with respect to grants made prior to fiscal 2008, refer to Note 10 of the financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2008, as filed with the SEC. See the Grants of Plan-Based Awards table

for information on awards made in fiscal 2008.

(2) Due to a clerical error, amounts included in the Option Awards column for the 2007 fiscal year were reported in the 2008 Proxy Statement as representing the grant date fair value recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the indicated fiscal year in accordance with SFAS 123R. Amounts reported for fiscal 2007 in the above Summary Compensation Table reflect accounting expense for these awards per SEC regulations.

30

- (3) Change in value of accumulated pension benefits for 2008 was calculated as the difference between the value of accumulated benefits at October 31, 2008 and the value of accumulated benefits at October 31, 2007. The value of benefits at October 31, 2008 is based on a 7.00% discount rate and the RP2000 Mortality Tables and the value of benefits at October 31, 2007 is based on a 6.25% discount rate and the RP2000 Mortality Tables.
- (4) Amounts included in the All Other Compensation column consist of the following amounts:

Name	Year	4	mpany s l01(k) tributions	al	tomobile lowance and	ass	ncome sociated to life surance	Partial buyout of Unfunded Pension Plan
Name	1 eai	Com	ii ibuuloiis	e.	xpenses	1113	sui alice	Fian
						_		
Robert S. Weiss	2008	\$	2,000	\$	9,062	\$	8,481	n/a
	2007	\$	2,000	\$	9,215	\$	3,531	n/a
Eugene J. Midlock	2008	\$	2,000	\$	12,857	\$	6,833	n/a
	2007	\$	2,000	\$	7,200	\$	2,245	\$ 162,129
John A. Weber	2008	\$	2,000	\$	4,972	\$	1,157	n/a
Carol R. Kaufman	2008	\$	2,000	\$	13,359	\$	4,258	n/a
Paul L. Remmell	2008	\$	2,000	\$	7,200		n/a	n/a
Steven M. Neil	2008	\$	2,000	\$	3,678	\$	2,378	n/a
	2007	\$	2,000	\$	10,090	\$	1,733	n/a

(5) Mr. Neil served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from November 2007 through February 2008. Mr. Neil resigned his position on February 11, 2008, and Mr. Midlock was promoted from Vice-President, Finance, to Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer to replace Mr. Neil.

Narrative to Summary Compensation Table

Other Compensation

Our Named Executive Officers receive limited non-salary based compensation. This additional compensation generally takes the form of automobile allowances and amounts provided in accordance with benefit plans which are also available to most of our employees, such as life insurance and matching contributions to 401(k) retirement accounts. In all cases the Compensation Committee reviews these amounts and takes them into consideration when reviewing overall executive compensation. Approval of perquisites and other non-salary based compensation is limited and in most cases does not exceed \$20,000 annually.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

This table presents information regarding the possible awards payable under our 2008 Incentive Payment Plan and the value of certain equity awards made in the 2008 fiscal year. The 2008 Incentive Payment Plan and calculation of awards are discussed in detail in the *Compensation Discussion and Analysis* on page 19.

		Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards (1)			All Other Stock Awards: Number of	All Other Option Awards: Number of	Grant Date Fair Value	
Name	Grant Date	Threshold	Target	Maximum	Shares of Stock or Units (2)	Securities Underlying Options (3)	of Stock and Option Awards (4)	
Robert S. Weiss	10/30/08 12/10/08	\$ 12,000	\$ 600,000	\$ 1,200,000		33,000	\$ 192,720	
Eugene J. Midlock	3/17/08 10/30/08 12/10/08	\$ 4,476	\$ 223,800	\$ 447,600		17,500 22,500	\$ 169,050 \$ 131,400	
John A. Weber	3/17/08 10/30/08 12/10/08	\$ 3,835	\$ 191,732	\$ 383,465		12,000 22,500	\$ 115,920 \$ 131,400	
Carol R. Kaufman	10/30/08 12/10/08	\$ 3,500	\$ 175,000	\$ 350,000		16,500	\$ 96,360	
Paul L. Remmell	3/18/08 10/30/08 12/10/08	\$ 2,655	\$ 132,750	\$ 265,500	12,500	16,500	\$ 394,750 \$ 96,360	

- (1) Amounts represent the threshold, target and maximum amounts which could have been paid to each Named Executive Officer under our 2008 Incentive Payment Plan. The final award amounts for 2008 were approved on the date indicated in the Grant Date column and the value of the final award amounts are included in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table on page 30.
- (2) Stock awards listed in this column were granted on March 18, 2008 in the form of RSUs. The RSUs will vest in equal portions on March 18, 2010 and March 18, 2012.
- (3) Option awards listed in this column were granted on March 17, 2008 and October 30, 2008 at exercise prices of \$29.93 and \$15.83, respectively. The options will vest according to the following schedules:

Options granted on March 17, 2008 will vest in equal portions on the earlier of:

- a. March 17, 2009 or the date when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$33.52;
- b. March 17, 2010 or the date when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$35.92;

- c. March 17, 2011 or the date when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$38.91; and
- d. March 17, 2012 or the date when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$41.90.

As of the end of the 2008 fiscal year, this grant has met the first three acceleration criteria and is 75% vested and exercisable.

Options granted on October 30, 2008 will vest in equal portions on the earlier of:

- a. October 30, 2009 or the date when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$17.73;
- b. October 30, 2010 or the date when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$19.00;

32

- c. October 30, 2011 or the date when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$20.58; and
- d. October 30, 2012 or the date when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$22.16.
- (4) Amounts included in the Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards column represent the grant date fair value recognized with respect to the 2008 fiscal year in accordance with SFAS 123R. For a discussion of valuation assumptions, see Note 10, *Stock Plans*, in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2008.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

This table provides information regarding the equity award holdings of the Named Executive Officers as of the end of the 2008 fiscal year. Mr. Neil had no equity award holdings as of October 31, 2008 due to his resignation.

		O	Stock A	Stock Awards			
Name	Number Of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (Exercisable)	Number Of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (Unexercisable)	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number Of Securities Underlying Unexercised Unearned Options	Option Exercise Price	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested
Robert S. Weiss	54,000	-0-	-0-	\$ 25.18(1)	10/23/11	-0-	-0-
	54,000	-0-	-0-	\$ 26.75(2)	10/29/12	-0-	-0-
	54,000	-0-	-0-	\$ 41.44(3)	10/26/13	-0-	-0-
	27,000	-0-	27,000	\$ 68.66(4)	10/25/14	-0-	-0-
	-0-	-0-	54,000	\$ 67.65(5)	10/26/15	-0-	-0-
	-0-	-0-	54,000	\$ 57.95(6)	10/23/11	-0-	-0-
	16,500	49,500	-0-	\$ 42.65(7)	10/24/17	-0-	-0-
	-0-	33,000	-0-	\$ 15.83(8)	10/29/18	-0-	-0-
Eugene J. Midlock	5,000	-0-	15,000	\$ 73.40(9)	1/24/15	-0-	-0-
	-0-	-0-	20,000	\$ 67.65(5)	10/26/15	-0-	-0-
	-0-	-0-	20,000	\$ 57.95(6)	10/23/11	-0-	-0-

Edgar Filing: COOPER COMPANIES INC - Form DEF 14A

	•						
	6,875	20,625	-0-	\$ 42.65(7)	10/24/17	-0-	-0-
	13,125	4,375	-0-	\$ 29.93(10)	3/16/18	-0-	-0-
	-0-	22,500	-0-	\$ 15.83(8)	10/29/18	-0-	-0-
John A. Weber	5,000	-0-	15,000	\$ 73.40(9)	1/24/15	-0-	-0-
	-0-	-0-	30,000	\$ 67.65(5)	10/26/15	-0-	-0-
	-0-	-0-	30,000	\$ 57.95(6)	10/23/11	-0-	-0-
	8,250	24,750	-0-	\$ 42.65(7)	10/24/17	-0-	-0-
	9,000	3,000	-0-	\$ 29.93(10)	3/16/18	-0-	-0-
	-0-	22,500	-0-	\$ 15.83(8)	10/29/18	-0-	-0-
Carol R. Kaufman	36,000	-0-	-0-	\$ 25.18(1)	10/23/11	-0-	-0-
	36,000	-0-	-0-	\$ 26.75(2)	10/29/12	-0-	-0-
	45,000	-0-	-0-	\$ 35.69(11)	7/6/13	-0-	-0-
	35,500	-0-	-0-	\$ 41.44(3)	10/26/13	-0-	-0-
	17,750	-0-	17,750	\$ 68.66(4)	10/25/14	-0-	-0-
	-0-	-0-	35,500	\$ 67.65(5)	10/26/15	-0-	-0-
	-0-	-0-	33,000	\$ 57.95(6)	10/23/11	-0-	-0-
	8,250	24,750	-0-	\$ 42.65(7)	10/24/17	-0-	-0-
	-0-	16,500	-0-	\$ 15.83(8)	10/29/18	-0-	-0-

		O	ption Awards			Stock Awards			
Name	Number Of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (Exercisable)	Number Of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (Unexercisable)	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number Of Securities Underlying Unexercised Unearned Options	Option Exercise Price	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested		
Paul L. Remmell	40,000	-0-	-0-	\$ 29.50(12)	3/24/13	-0-	-0-		
	20,000	-0-	-0-	\$ 41.44(3)	10/26/13	-0-	-0-		
	10,000	-0-	10,000	\$ 68.66(4)	10/25/14	-0-	-0-		
	-0-	-0-	25,000	\$ 67.65(5)	10/26/15	-0-	-0-		
	-0-	-0-	25,000	\$ 57.95(6)	10/23/11	-0-	-0-		
	8,250	24,750	-0-	\$ 42.65(7)	10/24/17	-0-	-0-		
	-0-	16,500	-0-	\$ 15.83(8)	10/29/18	-0-	-0-		
	-0-	-0-	-0-	\$ -0-		12,500	\$ 206,000(13)		

- (1) Options were granted on October 24, 2001 and became vested and exercisable on May 25, 2003.
- (2) Options were granted on October 30, 2002 and became vested and exercisable as follows:
 - a. one-half on April 10, 2003; and
 - b. one-half on April 10, 2005.
- (3) Options were granted on October 27, 2003 and became vested and exercisable in equal amounts on each of May 1, 2004, May 2, 2005, May 1, 2006 and May 1, 2007.
- (4) Options were granted on October 26, 2004 and become vested and exercisable as follows:
 - a. one-quarter May 2, 2005;
 - b. one-quarter May 1, 2006;
 - c. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$89.26; and
 - d. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$96.12.

All options not otherwise vesting according to these terms will vest and become exercisable on October 26, 2009.

- (5) Options were granted on October 27, 2005 and become vested and exercisable as follows:
 - a. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$75.77;
 - b. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$81.18;
 - c. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$87.95; and

d. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$94.71, but not before May 1, 2009.

All options not otherwise vesting according to these terms will vest and become exercisable on October 27, 2010.

- (6) Options were granted on October 24, 2006 and become vested and exercisable as follows:
 - a. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$64.90;
 - b. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$69.54;

34

Table of Contents

- c. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$75.34, but not before May 1, 2009; and
- d. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$81.13, but not before May 1, 2010.

All options not otherwise vesting according to these terms will vest and become exercisable on May 24, 2011.

- (7) Options were granted on October 25, 2007 and become vested and exercisable as follows:
 - one-quarter on October 25, 2008;
 - b. one-quarter on the earlier of October 25, 2009 or when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$51.18;
 - c. one-quarter on the earlier of October 25, 2010 or when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$55.45; and
 - d. one-quarter on the earlier of October 25, 2011 or when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$59.71.
- (8) Options were granted on October 30, 2008 and become vested and exercisable as follows:
 - a. one-quarter on the earlier of October 30, 2009 or when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$17.73;
 - b. one-quarter on the earlier of October 30, 2010 or when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$19.00:
 - c. one-quarter on the earlier of October 30, 2011 or when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$20.58; and
 - d. one-quarter on the earlier of October 30, 2012 or when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$22.16.
- (9) Options were granted on January 25, 2005 and become vested and exercisable as follows:
 - a. one-quarter on July 26, 2005;
 - b. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$88.08;
 - c. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$95.42; and
 - d. one-quarter when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$102.76.

All options not otherwise vesting according to these terms will vest and become exercisable on January 25, 2010.

- (10) Options were granted on March 17, 2008 and become vested and exercisable as follows:
 - one-quarter on April 22, 2008;
 - b. one-quarter on May 1, 2008;
 - c. one-quarter on June 14, 2008; and
 - d. one-quarter on the earlier of March 17, 2012 or when the average stock price over a 30 trading day period meets or exceeds \$41.90.
- (11) Options were granted on July 7, 2003 and became vested in equal portions on: July 22, 2003, September 16, 2003, December 5, 2003, July 22, 2004, September 16, 2004, December 5, 2004, July 22, 2005, September 16, 2005, and December 5, 2005.
- (12) Options were granted on March 25, 2003 and became vested in equal portions on: July 22, 2003, September 16, 2003, December 5, 2003, July 22, 2004, September 16, 2004, December 5, 2004, July 22, 2005, September 16, 2005, and December 5, 2005.
- (13) Award granted as RSUs on March 18, 2008 and valued at \$16.48 per share, the closing price of our stock on October 31, 2008. The units will vest as follows:

- one-half on March 18, 2010; and one-half on March 18, 2012. a.
- b.

35

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table details the number of shares acquired on exercise of stock options during the 2008 fiscal year by the Named Executive Officers.

		Option	Option Awards			
		Number of Shares Acquired on	Value Realized on Exercise			
	Name	Exercise				
Robert S. Weiss		196,000	\$	2,337,300		
Eugene J. Midlock		-0-	\$	-0-		
John A. Weber		-0-	\$	-0-		
Carol R. Kaufman		-0-	\$	-0-		
Paul L. Remmell		-0-	\$	-0-		
Steven M. Neil		-0-	\$	-0-		

Pension Benefits Table

Credited service and value of the accumulated benefits payable as of October 31, 2008 under our Retirement Income Plan at the normal retirement age of 65 are as follows:

Name	Number of Years of Credited Service	Ac	Present Value of cumulated enefit (1)	Di	ments iring scal Year
Robert S. Weiss	30.75	\$	407,495	\$	-0-
Eugene J. Midlock	2.75	\$	66,988	\$	-0-
John A. Weber	2.75	\$	17,719	\$	-0-
Carol R. Kaufman	13.07	\$	193,782	\$	-0-
Paul L. Remmell	17.33	\$	103,526	\$	-0-
Steven M. Neil (2)	-0-	\$	-0-	\$	-0-

⁽¹⁾ Present value is calculated as of the October 31, 2008 measurement date and is based on a 7.00% discount rate and the RP2000 Mortality Tables.

Narrative to Pension Benefits Table

⁽²⁾ Mr. Neil was not vested in the Retirement Income Plan at the time of his resignation in February 2008 and any accrued benefits were forfeited.

Our Retirement Income Plan, or RIP, was adopted in December 1983. The majority of our U.S. employees who work at least 1,000 hours per year are covered by the RIP. For services performed after December 31, 1988, members are entitled to an annual retirement benefit equal to 0.60% of base annual compensation up to \$10,000, and 1.20% of base annual compensation which exceeds \$10,000 but is not in excess of the applicable annual maximum compensation permitted to be taken into account under Internal Revenue Service guidelines for each year of service. For service prior to January 1, 1989, members are entitled to an annual retirement benefit equal to 0.75% of base annual compensation up to the Social Security Wage Base in effect that year and 1.50% of base annual compensation in excess of the Social Security Wage Base for each year of service.

36

Based on the current accumulated benefits for the Named Executive Officers, the estimated annual benefits payable under the RIP upon retirement at the normal retirement age of 65 are as follows:

		Esti	Estimated Annual Benefits Payable	
	Officer	Bei		
Robert S. Weiss		\$	62,222	
Eugene J. Midlock		\$	8,665	
John A. Weber		\$	61,705	
Carol R. Kaufman		\$	45,015	
Paul L. Remmell		\$	71,237	
Steven M. Neil (1)		\$	-0-	

Mr. Neil was not vested in the Retirement Income Plan at the time of his resignation in February 2008 and any accrued benefits were forfeited.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

During the 2008 fiscal year, we had agreements in place with each of the Named Executive Officers that govern the terms of post-employment compensation in the event of a termination or change in control. All except the agreement with Mr. Weiss are subject to our Change in Control Severance Plan adopted on May 21, 2007. The Change in Control Severance Plan provides severance benefits to certain of our key employees as recommended by management. Agreements under this plan require the approval of the Compensation Committee before they are offered to executives. The Change in Control Severance Plan is designed to be an employee welfare benefit plan, as defined in Section 3(1) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or ERISA. At the time of this proxy statement, approximately 20 employees have agreements in place under this plan. Mr. Neil s agreement under the Change in Control Severance Plan was cancelled upon his resignation.

The following tables provide estimated amounts payable to each of the Named Executive Officers assuming termination of employment on October 31, 2008. The tables assume that the value at termination of outstanding equity awards is \$16.48, which was the fair market value of our common stock on October 31, 2008. In all cases, amounts will be paid in monthly installments.

Robert S. Weiss

We have a severance agreement in place with Robert S. Weiss that originally took effect on August 21, 1989 and continues in effect until Mr. Weiss employment terminates and all severance obligations have been fulfilled. Under the agreement, Mr. Weiss would be entitled to a payment of up to 150% of his base salary in the event of his: 1) termination without cause, 2) termination within 90 days of a change in control event, 3) voluntary resignation with good reason or 4) separation after a request to relocate more than 50 miles from his current workplace. He would also be entitled to a pro rated portion of his bonus under the applicable Incentive Payment Plan, immediate vesting in his outstanding equity awards and his accrued benefits under the Retirement Income Plan, and continued coverage under our benefits program for up to 18 months.

Table of Contents 70

37

The agreement with Mr. Weiss also provides for certain limited payments in the event that he voluntarily resigns his position without good reason. Mr. Weiss is required to provide us a minimum of 45 days notice of his resignation and can receive a percentage of his current annual base salary equal to the number of days notice provided divided by 360, to a maximum of 25%.

	Voluntary	Termination without Cause or Resignation for Good	Termination after Change of Control or Separation After Request		
	Resignation	Reason	to Relocate	Retirement	Death
Severance Payment (1)	\$ 150,000	\$ 900,000	\$ 600,000	\$ -0-	\$ 900,000
Incentive Payment Plan (2)	\$ 222,000	\$ 222,000	\$ 222,000	\$ 222,000	\$ 222,000
Pension Benefits (3)	\$ 407,495	\$ 407,495	\$ 407,495	\$ 407,495	\$ 407,495
Equity Awards (4)	\$ -0-	\$ 21,450	\$ 21,450	\$ -0-	\$ -0-
Benefits (5)	\$ 5,030	\$ 30,180	\$ 20,120	\$ -0-	\$ 800,000
Total Payable on Separation	\$ 784,525	\$ 1,581,125	\$ 1,271,065	\$ 629,495	\$ 2,329,495

(1) Represents 25% of base salary for fiscal year 2008, the maximum amount allowed under the agreement, in the event of a voluntary resignation without good reason with a minimum of 45 days notice. Represents 150% of base salary for fiscal year 2008 in the event of termination without cause or voluntary termination with good reason. Represents 100% of base salary for fiscal year 2008 upon termination within 90 days of a change in control or after a request to relocate.

Mr. Weiss severance agreement provides that if he is entitled to payment for any of the above reasons, his estate will receive the same payments in the event of his death. For purposes of estimating payments on death for the above table, the maximum payout of 150% of base salary has been used. No severance is paid upon retirement under Mr. Weiss agreement or company policy.

- (2) Represents the bonus award payable to Mr. Weiss under the 2008 Incentive Payment Plan, which was earned in full as of October 31, 2008
- (3) Upon termination, Mr. Weiss will fully vest in all benefits due under our Retirement Income Plan, or receive substantially equivalent benefits in the event the terms of the Retirement Income Plan prevent immediate vesting. For further information on the Retirement Income Plan see the *Pension Benefits Table* on page 36.
- (4) Upon termination without cause, voluntary resignation with good reason, termination after a change in control or separation after a request to relocate, Mr. Weiss outstanding stock options which were not vested will immediately become fully vested and exercisable. Amounts provided in this row show the value of the stock awards subject to acceleration at a stock price of \$16.48, which was the closing price of our stock on October 31, 2008.

In the event of retirement or death, outstanding equity awards will be treated in accordance with the terms of their associated agreements. Generally, stock options that are unvested at the date of the holder s retirement or death will be forfeit. Vested options will remain outstanding and exercisable for a term of three years from the date of retirement or one year from the date of death. As of October 31, 2008, the exercise price of Mr. Weiss vested stock options exceeded the market price of our stock, and the options held no immediate value in the event of his retirement or death.

(5) Mr. Weiss and his dependents will be eligible to continue participation in our insurance plans until all severance benefits have been paid.

Amounts presented reflect the value of benefits over 12 months in the event of termination within 90 days of a change in control or after a request to relocate and over 18 months in the event of termination without cause or voluntary termination with good reason.

38

Other Named Executive Officers

We have change in control agreements in place under our Change in Control Severance Plan with each of Messrs. Midlock, Weber and Remmell and Ms. Kaufman that took effect on June 8, 2007. These agreements continue in effect until the executive semployment terminates and all severance obligations have been fulfilled. Under the agreements, each of these executives would be entitled to a payment of 200% of their base salary in the event of either termination without cause or voluntary resignation with good reason within one year of a change in control event.

Each executive would also be entitled to a pro rated portion of their bonus under the applicable Incentive Payment Plan, immediate vesting in their outstanding equity awards and their currently accrued benefits under the Retirement Income Plan, continued coverage under our benefits program for up to 24 months and payment of all salary and vacation which was accrued but unpaid at the date of termination.

If employment terminates for these Named Executive Officers other than as provided for in their change in control agreements, the standard Company severance policies for all employees will apply. The following table provides information regarding the amounts payable to these executives in the event of a termination of employment:

		ermination without		ermination after Change	W	esignation vith Good				
		Cause	0	f Control		Reason	Re	etirement		Death
E I M'H. I.	_								_	
Eugene J. Midlock	¢	60.601	ď	760,000	¢.	760,000	ď	-0-	¢	-0-
Severance Payment (1)	\$ \$	69,601	\$	760,000	\$	760,000 79,356	\$		\$ \$	
Incentive Payment Plan (2) Accumulated Pension Benefits (3)	\$	79,356 -0-	\$	79,356 66,988	\$	66,988	\$ \$	79,356 -0-	\$	79,356 -0-
· ·	\$	-0-	\$ \$	14.625	\$			-0-		-0-
Equity Awards (4)	\$	_		,	\$	14,625	\$	-	\$	
Benefits (5)	3	7,199	\$	57,595	\$	57,595	\$	-0-	<u> </u>	761,000
Total Payable on Separation	\$	156,156	\$	978,564	\$	978,564	\$	79,356	\$	840,356
	_		_		_		_		_	
John A. Weber										
Severance Payment (1)	\$	40,268	\$	720,000	\$	720,000	\$	-0-	\$	-0-
Incentive Payment Plan (2)	\$	83,664	\$	83,664	\$	83,664	\$	83,664	\$	83,664
Accumulated Pension Benefits (3)	\$	-0-	\$	17,719	\$	17,719	\$	-0-	\$	-0-
Equity Awards (4)	\$	-0-	\$	14,625	\$	14,625	\$	-0-	\$	-0-
Benefits (5)	\$	4,800	\$	57,595	\$	57,595	\$	-0-	\$ '	720,000
	_		_		_		_		_	
Total Payable on Separation	\$	128,732	\$	893,603	\$	893,603	\$	83,664	\$	803,664
	_		_		_				_	
Carol R. Kaufman										
Severance Payment (1)	\$	323,612	\$	700,000	\$	700,000	\$	-0-	\$	-0-
Incentive Payment Plan (2)	\$	64,750	\$	64,750	\$	64,750	\$	64,750	\$	64,750
Accumulated Pension Benefits (3)	\$	193,782	\$	193,782	\$	193,782	\$	193,782		193,782
Equity Awards (4)	\$	-0-	\$	10,725	\$	10,725	\$	-0-	\$	-0-
Benefits (5)	\$	10,066	\$	18,583	\$	18,583	\$	-0-	\$	701,000
Total Payable on Separation	<u> </u>	592,210	\$	987,840	\$	987,840	\$	258,532	\$	959,532
2 om 2 m more on population	Ψ		Ψ	, 07,010	Ψ	, 0, , 0, 10	Ψ		Ψ	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

Edgar Filing: COOPER COMPANIES INC - Form DEF 14A

Paul L. Remmell										
Severance Payment (1)	\$	147,500	\$ 5	590,000	\$	590,000	\$	-0-	\$	-0-
Incentive Payment Plan (2)	\$	170,584	\$ 1	170,584	\$	170,584	\$	170,584	\$ 17	0,584
Accumulated Pension Benefits (3)	\$	-0-	\$ 1	103,526	\$	103,526	\$	103,526	\$ 10:	3,526
Equity Awards (4)	\$	-0-	\$ 2	216,725	\$	216,725	\$	-0-	\$	-0-
Benefits (5)	\$	7,277	\$	29,109	\$	29,109	\$	-0-	\$ 59	1,000
	_						_			
Total Payable on Separation	\$	325,361	\$ 1,1	109,994	\$ 3	1,109,994	\$	274,110	\$ 86	5,110

Table of Contents

(1) Represents 200% of base salary for fiscal year 2008 in the event of termination without cause or resignation for good reason within one year of a change in control and represents the severance due per Company policy for all employees in the event of other termination without cause. No severance is due upon retirement or death of the executive.

The severance payment for Mr. Remmell reflects 6 months severance. The severance policy for CooperSurgical is discretionary and severance is determined on a case by case basis. Vice-president level executives have historically received 6 months severance and we are using this amount to estimate Mr. Remmell s severance in the event of a termination. His actual severance payment may differ.

- (2) Represents the bonus award payable under the 2008 Incentive Payment Plan which was earned in full as of October 31, 2008.
- (3) Upon termination without cause or resignation with good reason after a change in control, all benefits due under our Retirement Income Plan will vest in full. If the terms of the Retirement Income Plan prevent immediate vesting the executive will receive substantially equivalent benefits.

Upon termination for other reasons, executives who are vested in the Retirement Income Plan will retain accrued benefits. These benefits will be paid upon the executive s application for retirement benefits in accordance with the terms of the Retirement Income Plan. In the event of the executive s death, benefits are payable to the estate. As of October 31, 2008, Messrs. Midlock and Weber were not vested in the Retirement Income Plan.

For further information on the Retirement Income Plan see the Pension Benefits Table on page 36.

(4) Upon termination after a change in control or resignation with good reason after a change in control, all outstanding equity awards will immediately become fully vested. Amounts provided in this row show the value of the stock awards subject to accelerated vesting at a stock price of \$16.48, which was the closing price of our stock on October 31, 2008.

In the event of the executive stermination without cause, retirement or death, outstanding equity awards will be treated in accordance with the terms of the associated award agreements. Generally, stock options that are unvested at the date of the holder stermination will be forfeit. Vested options will remain outstanding and exercisable for a term of three months from the termination date in the case of a termination without cause, three years from the date of retirement or one year from the date of death.

As of October 31, 2008, the exercise prices of unvested stock options held by the Named Executive Officers were greater than the market price of the shares underlying the options, and the options held no immediate value in the event of termination without cause, retirement or death. Mr. Remmell s outstanding RSUs would be immediately forfeited under the terms of the associated award agreement upon any termination of employment.

(5) Upon termination after a change in control or resignation with good reason after a change in control, the executive and their dependents will be eligible to continue participation in our insurance plans for up to 24 months after the date of termination. Amounts in this row reflect the value of benefits over the severance period or benefits payable under our life insurance policies in the event of the executive s death.

Table of Contents

75

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The Compensation Committee reviews compensation of the Non-Employee Directors and the Board approves compensation amounts based on these recommendations. Directors of a publicly traded company have substantial responsibilities and time commitments, and with recent changes in corporate governance standards, highly qualified and experienced directors are in high demand; therefore, we seek to provide appropriate economic incentives for our directors and to compensate them appropriately for their continued performance, workload and dedication. The Compensation Committee takes these factors into account in making recommendations to the Board with regard to changes in the Non-Employee Director compensation package.

The Compensation Committee also receives an analysis from their independent consultant, J. Richard, with regard to Non-Employee Director compensation. The Compensation Committee reviews and analyzes the information provided by J. Richard in determining whether to recommend changes to the Board. The Board sets total Non-Employee Directors compensation at levels it considers appropriate given the competitive market for qualified directors and the time commitment expected of the Non-Employee Directors. Director compensation is reviewed regularly and modified as the Board considers necessary or appropriate.

Stipends and Committee Chair Compensation

We compensate each Non-Employee Director based on service to us, including attendance at meetings and service on committees of the Board. Annual cash retainers, stipends for service as a committee chair and equity compensation grants are designed to correspond to the relative responsibility of each director and are regularly reviewed to ensure they meet this standard.

Directors who are also our employees receive no additional compensation for their service as directors.

For fiscal year 2008, each Non-Employee Director received an annual retainer of \$30,000 for their services. Mr. Bender and Dr. Rubenstein each received an additional stipend of \$10,000 per year for their service as Chairman of the Board and Lead Director, respectively. Mr. Bender also receives an additional consulting fee of \$250,000 per year, paid quarterly, for services to the company. This amount will be paid through March 2009.

Chair Stipends and Meeting Payments

The Non-Employee Directors who served as Committee Chairs received an additional stipend in recognition of their time devoted to us in this capacity. Stipend amounts are structured to reflect the additional requirements placed on each committee chair.

Committee Chair Stipends:

Audit Committee Chair (Steven Rosenberg)	\$15,000 per year
Organization & Compensation Committee Chair (Michael Kalkstein)	\$12,000 per year

Corporate Governance Committee Chair (Donald Press)	\$10,000 per year
Science & Technology Committee Chair (Stanley Zinberg, M.D.)	\$10,000 per year
Nominating Committee Chair (Moses Marx)	\$1,000 per year

The Non-Employee Directors are also compensated for attendance at meetings as follows:

Fee per Meeting:

Meetings held in person by the Board or any Committee of the Board	\$ 2,000 per meeting
Meetings held telephonically by the Board or any Committee of the Board and lasting more	
than 2 hours	\$ 2,000 per meeting
Meetings held telephonically by the Board or any Committee of the Board and lasting less than	
2 hours	\$ 1,000 per meeting

In the event that more than one meeting occurs on the same day, Non-Employee Directors will not be compensated more than \$2,000 per day for meeting attendance.

Non-Employee Directors are also compensated at a rate of \$250 per hour, not to exceed \$2,000 for any day, for time spent substantially on work for us and for one travel day in connection with meetings at \$2,000 per day.

Equity Compensation

In addition to cash compensation, the Non-Employee Directors participate in the 2006 Directors Plan, which provides for annual equity grants in the form of restricted stock and stock options. The Board believes that Non-Employee Director compensation, like executive compensation, should contain a significant equity component in order to align director and stockholder interests. Grant dates, award amounts and vesting criteria for these annual equity grants are set by the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan.

The 2006 Directors Plan was approved by stockholders on March 21, 2006 and provides for two equity grants to the Non-Employee Directors each November as follows:

- (a) a grant of a designated number of stock options on November 1, or the first business day thereafter if the 1st is on a weekend, with an exercise price equal to 100% of the fair market value, defined as the average of the high and low trading prices on the grant date as reported on *http://finance.yahoo.com*, of our common stock on the date of grant; and
- (b) a grant of restricted stock on November 15, or the first business day thereafter if the 15th is on a weekend, which entitles each Non-Employee Director to purchase a designated number of shares of restricted stock at par value.

The 2006 Directors Plan also provides that, upon appointment to the Board, new Non-Employee Directors receive a grant of stock options and restricted stock as specified in the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan, prorated in accordance with the number of months of service remaining in the fiscal year in which they were appointed. Additional grants under the 2006 Directors Plan may be made at the Board s discretion.

The stock options granted during the 2008 fiscal year will become exercisable when the Average Closing Price, as defined in the 2006 Directors Plan, of our common stock appreciates 10% from the fair market value on the date of grant or on the fifth anniversary of the grant date, whichever comes first. On November 1, 2007, the Non-Employee Directors received a grant of 10,000 stock options, or 11,400 in the case of the Chairman and the Lead Director, at an option price of \$42.49, which will become exercisable when the Average Closing Price of the common stock achieves \$46.73 or on November 1, 2012, whichever comes first.

Restrictions will be removed from the restricted stock awards made in the 2008 fiscal year when the Average Closing Price of our common stock appreciates 10% from the fair market value on the date of grant, or on the fifth anniversary of the grant date, whichever comes first. On November 15,

42

2007, the Non-Employee Directors received awards for 2,000 shares of restricted stock. Restrictions will be removed from the restricted stock when the Average Closing Price of our common stock achieves \$48.72, or on November 15, 2012, whichever comes first.

Stock options and restricted stock granted under the 2006 Directors Plan will also become exercisable and have restrictions removed, respectively, when a Non-Employee Director ceases to serve on the Board, unless such service is terminated for cause, as defined in the 2006 Directors Plan. Restrictions are immediately lifted and options become immediately exercisable upon termination of service and remain exercisable for three years.

Director Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the total cash and equity compensation paid to the Non-Employee Directors for their service on the Board and its committees during the last completed fiscal year. At present, the Non-Employee Directors are not eligible to participate in our pension programs and no deferred compensation or non-equity incentive plans are available to Non-Employee Directors.

Name	 s Earned or l in Cash (2)	Stock ards (3)(4)	Option vards (3)(5)	Total
A. Thomas Bender	\$ 316,000(6)	\$ 87,520	\$ 161,297	\$ 564,817
Allan E. Rubenstein, M.D.	\$ 83,750	\$ 87,520	\$ 161,297	\$ 336,567
Michael H. Kalkstein	\$ 108,000	\$ 87,520	\$ 141,489	\$ 337,009
Jody S. Lindell	\$ 86,000	\$ 87,520	\$ 141,489	\$ 317,009
Moses Marx	\$ 50,000	\$ 87,520	\$ 141,489	\$ 279,009
Donald Press	\$ 77,000	\$ 87,520	\$ 141,489	\$ 312,009
Steven Rosenberg	\$ 86,000	\$ 87,520	\$ 141,489	\$ 319,009
Stanley Zinberg, M.D.	\$ 63,417	\$ 87,520	\$ 141,489	\$ 292,426
John D. Fruth (1)	\$ 34,500	\$ 87,520	\$ 141,489	\$ 256,509

- (1) Mr. Fruth s service on the Board ended on March 17, 2008.
- (2) Fees earned represent the total fees paid to the named Non-Employee Directors for their service during the most recent fiscal year, including: a) the annual stipends paid to each Non-Employee Director for their service on the Board, b) annual stipends paid to Committee Chairs, c) fees for all Board and committee meetings attended during the designated fiscal year and d) compensation for other time spent substantially on Company business and travel days.
- (3) The amounts shown are the compensation costs recognized in our financial statements for the 2008 fiscal year in accordance with SFAS123R. For a discussion of valuation assumptions, see Note 10, *Stock Plans*, in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2008.
- (4) Represents the value of Restricted Stock Awards issued on November 15, 2007 under the 2006 Directors Plan. These awards entitle the recipient to purchase 2,000 restricted shares of our common stock, par value of \$0.10 per share. At October 31, 2008, each of the listed directors held 4,000 shares of our stock subject to restrictions, inclusive of the shares in the Director Compensation Table, with the exception of Mr. Bender and Ms. Lindell who held 2,000 and 3,667 restricted shares respectively.

(5)

Represents the value of stock options granted on November 1, 2007 under the 2006 Directors Plan. Each listed director was granted 10,000 options, or 11,400 in the case of Mr. Bender and Dr. Rubenstein, to purchase shares of our common stock. All options have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant, which was \$42.49.

The Non-Employee Directors had the following options outstanding at October 31, 2008:

	Outstanding
Name	Options
A. Thomas Bender	11,400
Allan E. Rubenstein, M.D.	87,000
Michael H. Kalkstein	108,000
Jody S. Lindell	39,167
Moses Marx	80,000
Donald Press	150,000
Steven Rosenberg	140,000
Stanley Zinberg, M.D.	110,000

(6) Amount includes \$250,000 paid to Mr. Bender during fiscal 2008 as a consulting fee for services rendered to us.

PROPOSAL 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Our Bylaws provide that we have no fewer than six and no more than eleven directors serving on the Board. The Board sets the number of seats annually prior to the Annual Meeting. The Board has fixed the number of directors to be elected at the Annual Meeting at nine.

Each nominee presented below, if elected, will serve as a director until the next Annual Meeting or until he or she is succeeded by another qualified director, resigns or is removed from the Board. All of the nominees listed below have given their consent to be named as nominees for election and have indicated their intention to serve if they are elected. The Board does not anticipate that any of the nominees will be unable to serve as a director, but in the event that a nominee is unable to serve, the Board may either propose an alternate nominee, in which case the proxies will be voted for the alternative nominee, or elect to reduce the size of the Board.

The Nominees

The names of the nominees presented for election as directors at the Annual Meeting are listed below, along with information regarding when they joined the Board, their present principal occupation and recent business experience and their service on other companies boards of directors.

Each nominee listed below currently serves on the Board and there are no family relationships between any of the nominees or between the nominees and any of our officers.

		i ear	
		Commenced	
		Service as a	
Name, Principal Occupation	on	Director	
		of the	Identified as
and Other Directorships	Age	Company	Independent?
A. Thomas Bender	70	1994	No

Voor

Mr. Bender was elected Chairman of the Board in July 2002 and he served as our President and Chief Executive Officer from May 1995 through his retirement in October 2007. He also served as President of CooperVision, our contact lens subsidiary, from June 1991 to December 2004. He previously served in various operating roles beginning in October 1992. Between 1966 and June 1991, Mr. Bender held a variety of positions at Allergan, Inc., a manufacturer of eye and skin care products, including Corporate Senior Vice President, and President and Chief Operating Officer of Herbert Laboratories, Allergan s dermatology division. Mr. Bender serves on the board of directors of iScience Interventional, Inc., an ophthalmic surgical device manufacturer, and on their compensation committee. He also serves on the Board of SenoRX, Inc. and as chair of their compensation committee, as well as the board of directors for Mission Hospital Foundation in Mission Viejo, CA.

Name, Principal Occupation

Name, Principal Occupation

and Other Directorships

Michael H. Kalkstein

Year

Commenced

Service as a

Director

Identified as

Independent?

Yes

Mr. Kalkstein was a partner at Dechert LLP, an international law firm, from June 2003 through June 2007 and was Co-chair of the firm s Intellectual Property Practice Group. He also served as the Managing Partner of Dechert s Palo Alto office from June 2003 through December 2005. As of June 30, 2007, he has retired from active practice and continues to be Of Counsel to Dechert at their Mountain View, CA office. Previously, from September 1999 through May 2003, he was a partner at Oppenheimer, Wolff & Donnelly, LLP, an international law firm, and a member of its Policy and Technologies Committees. He has been a member of the Board of Trustees of Opera San Jose since 1984, serving as its President from 1992 to 1994, and is currently its Vice President of Long Range Planning. He was a member of the Alliance of CEOs from 2001 to June 2007 and was a member of the board of directors of the Law Foundation of Silicon Valley from 2002 to June 2007. Until January

Jody S. Lindell 57 2006 Yes

2007, he also served as a director of the Northern California Chapter of the National Association of Corporate Directors.

Ms. Lindell is President and Chief Executive Officer of S.G. Management, Inc., an asset management company. Until May 2000, Ms. Lindell was a partner with KPMG LLP where she served as Partner-In-Charge of the Industrial Markets and Healthcare and Life Sciences practices for the Western Area. Through September 2007, she served as a director and on the Audit and Director s Loan Committees for First Republic Bank, a publicly traded financial institution. First Republic Bank was acquired and is no longer publicly traded. Ms. Lindell continues to serve on the advisory board and advisors loan committee for First Republic Bank. Ms. Lindell is a Certified Public Accountant.

Moses Marx 73 1995 Yes

Mr. Marx has been the general partner of United Equities Company LLC since 1954 and General Partner of United Equities Commodities Company since 1972. He is also President of Momar Corporation. All of these are investment companies. He is also chairman of the board and a director of Berkshire Bancorp Inc., a publicly traded bank holding company.

Donald Press 75 1993 Yes

Mr. Press has been Executive Vice President of Broadway Management Co., Inc., an owner and manager of commercial office buildings, since 1981. Mr. Press is also a principal in Donald Press, P.C., a law firm, located in New York City. Mr. Press is a director of The Berkshire Bank, a wholly owned subsidiary of Berkshire Bancorp Inc. and he serves on its Audit Committee.

Steven Rosenberg 60 1993 Yes

Mr. Rosenberg has been President and Chief Executive Officer of Berkshire Bancorp Inc., a publicly traded bank holding company, since March 1999 and its Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer since 1990. From September 1987 through March 1990, Mr. Rosenberg was President and Chief Executive Officer of Scomel Industries, Inc., an international marketing and consulting group. Prior to that, he was Vice President of Noel Industries, Inc., an apparel manufacturer and importer. He is currently a director of Berkshire Bancorp Inc.

46

		Year	
		Commenced	
Name, Principal Occupation		Service as a	
		Director	Identified as
and Other Directorships	Age	of the Company	Independent?
Allan F. Rubenstein, M.D.	64	1992	Yes

Allan E. Rubenstein, M.D.

Dr. Rubenstein has served as Vice Chairman and Lead Director since July 2002, and served as Chairman of the Board from July 1994 through July 2002. He served as Acting Chairman of the Board from April 1993 through June 1994. He is Chief Executive Officer of NexGenix Pharmaceuticals and Clinical Professor of Neurology at New York University, School of Medicine (NY). He served as a director of Bioimaging Technologies (BITI, Nasdaq), a specialty clinical trials company, from 2000 to 2003. He is also Medical Director Emeritus of the Children s Tumor Foundation and a consultant to the National Institutes of Health, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and the U.S. Department of Defense, where he served as Chair of the Army Neurofibromatosis Research Program Integration Panel in 2001.

Robert S. Weiss 1996 No

Mr. Weiss has served as our President since March 2008 and as our Chief Executive Officer since November 2007. He also served as President of CooperVision, our contact lens subsidiary from March 2007 to February 2008. He previously served as our Chief Operating Officer from January 2005 to October 2007 and as Executive Vice President from October 1995 to October 2007. He served as our Chief Financial Officer from September 1989 to January 2005. He also served as our Treasurer from 1989 to March 2002. Since joining us in 1977, he has held a number of finance positions both with us and Cooper Laboratories, Inc. (our former parent). Mr. Weiss is also a director of Accuray Incorporated, a company that develops and markets a sophisticated robotic radiosurgery system designed to treat tumors, and serves on its Nominating Committee and as Chair of its Audit Committee.

Stanley Zinberg, M.D., M.S.

74 1997 Yes Dr. Zinberg, an obstetrician-gynecologist, has served on the New York State Board for Professional Medical Conduct since November 2008. He also served as Deputy Executive Vice President and Vice President of Practice Activities for the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists in Washington, D.C. from 1993 through his retirement in December 2007. From 1981 until 1993 he served as Chief, Obstetrics and Gynecology, and Director, OB-GYN Residency Program at NY Downtown Hospital, where from 1990 through 1992 he also served as President of the Medical Staff and is currently a member of the Board of Trustees. He is certified by the American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology and is a member of the faculty of the Departments of Obstetrics and Gynecology at New York University School of Medicine, the Cornell University College of Medicine and the Georgetown University School of Medicine. He is the author of numerous editorials, scientific papers and book chapters in the field of women s healthcare. In addition, Dr. Zinberg obtained a Masters Degree in Health Administration, with an emphasis on not-for-profit finance, in 1990 from the Graduate School of Public Administration of New York University. He also serves on the Southampton Town Board of Ethics in Southampton, NY.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote FOR each of the nominees for director presented above.

Nominees for director will be elected by the favorable vote of a plurality of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting.

47

PROPOSAL 2 APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE AMENDED 2007 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

General

The Amended 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, or the 2007 Plan, was adopted by our Board on December 14, 2006 and approved by our stockholders on March 20, 2007. The 2007 Plan was subsequently amended by the Board on March 5, 2007 and on October 5, 2007.

As originally adopted, the 2007 Plan provided for up to 2,700,000 shares to be granted as equity awards through December 31, 2017, subject to adjustment for future stock splits, stock dividends and similar events. Under the terms of the 2007 Plan, up to 500,000 of these shares may be granted as full-value awards. Equity awards may be in the form of stock options, restricted stock, deferred stock, stock purchase rights, long-term performance awards and stock appreciation rights. Approximately 250 individuals currently participate in the 2007 Plan.

As of October 31, 2008, 1,511,216 shares have been issued and 1,250,859 remain available for issuance under the 2007 Plan. Additionally, of the 500,000 shares originally authorized for grant as full-value awards, 384,050 have been issued and 128,775 remain available. As discussed in further detail below, the Board believes that it is important to our profitability and increased stockholder value to be able to continue to offer these incentives and to have flexibility in the types of awards available. Therefore it is necessary to increase the number of shares authorized for full value awards under the 2007 Plan to ensure that our ability to make competitive equity award grants is not affected.

The Board recommends the approval of an amendment and restatement of the 2007 Plan which would (i) increase the number of shares available for grant by 1,000,000 and (ii) remove restrictions on the number of shares that may be granted as full value awards.

The full text of the 2007 Plan, as amended and restated, is attached as Exhibit A. The following general description of certain features of the 2007 Plan is qualified in its entirety by reference to the 2007 Plan.

Purpose

Compensation practices have trended towards the increased use of full-value awards such as RSUs and performance units, and we have followed this practice in order to continue to offer competitive awards with retention value for participants. Since adopting the 2007 Plan, we have adopted the use of RSUs and the Board has approved the future use of performance units for awards to certain key executives.

Because many of our historical option awards have exercise prices that are above the current market value of our common stock, and therefore have no economic value to the recipients, our Compensation Committee recently granted RSUs to certain key executives in order to provide additional retention incentives for these individuals. The Compensation Committee has also granted RSUs to the majority of our non-executive award recipients over the past two years in order to provide awards with guaranteed economic value over time, and to encourage long-term retention of these employees.

The current restrictions on the use of full-value awards under the 2007 Plan may place limits on our ability to continue this practice. The Board believes that the proposed amendment and restatement to the 2007 Plan provides us with additional flexibility to grant equity awards required to attract, retain, and motivate our key employees in a competitive market.

48

Summary of 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Administration. The 2007 Plan is administered by the Board or, if the Board delegates its power and authority to administer the plan to a committee of the Board, such committee. Any such committee shall consist solely of two or more directors appointed by and holding office at the pleasure of the Board, each of whom is a non-employee director, as defined in Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. As used in this proposal, the term Committee will refer to the above described committee or to the Board, as the case may be.

The Committee has full power to select, from among participants eligible for awards, the individuals to whom awards will be granted, to make any combination of awards to any participants and to determine the specific terms of each grant, subject to the provisions of the 2007 Plan.

Eligibility. Participants eligible to receive awards under the 2007 Plan include the officers, consultants and other employees of the company, including our subsidiaries and affiliates, whom the Committee determines are responsible for or contributes to the management, growth and/or profitability of our business. Members of the Committee and any person who serves only as a director are not eligible to receive awards under the 2007 Plan.

Shares subject to the LTIP. If approved, the amended and restated 2007 Plan would authorize the Committee to grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, deferred or restricted stock awards, stock purchase rights, or long-term incentive awards to eligible participants through December 31, 2017 for up to 3,700,000 shares of Common Stock, subject to adjustment for future stock splits, stock dividends and similar events, with no restriction on the number of shares that may be issued as full value awards. The maximum number of shares a participant may be granted as equity awards under the 2007 Plan during any fiscal year is 250,000 shares. Shares subject to awards under the 2007 Plan which expire unexercised, are forfeited or are otherwise not paid out in stock, become available again for distribution in connection with future awards under the 2007 Plan.

Stock Options. The 2007 Plan permits the grant of stock options that either qualify as incentive stock options, or ISOs, under Section 422(b) of the Internal Revenue Code or that do not so qualify, or NQSOs. To qualify as ISOs, options must meet additional Federal tax requirements. Under current law these requirements include limits on the value of ISOs that become exercisable annually with respect to any participant, and a shorter exercise period and a higher minimum exercise price in the case of certain large stockholders.

As amended, the 2007 Plan also permits the grant of stock options approved under the Revenue rules of the United Kingdom, and are subject to special terms and conditions in order to. These options, called UK Approved Stock Options, qualify for special taxation rules in the United Kingdom.

The option exercise price for each share covered by an option shall be determined by the Committee, but shall be at least 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock as of the date of grant. The term of each option will be fixed by the Committee but may not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The Committee will determine at what time or times each option may be exercised. Options may be made exercisable in installments, and the exercisability of options may be accelerated by the Committee.

The option exercise price of options granted under the 2007 Plan must be paid in full by cash, check, wire transfer or other immediately payable instrument acceptable to the Committee or, if the Committee so determines, by delivery of Common Stock, valued at Fair Market Value on the exercise date, or through a broker-assisted cashless exercise, provided that payment is made prior to the delivery of any stock by the company.

As used herein, the term Fair Market Value means, as of any given date, unless otherwise determined by the Committee in good faith, the closing price of the Common Stock on the NYSE) as reported on http://finance.yahoo.com or, if no such sale of Common Stock occurs on the NYSE on that date, the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock as determined by the Committee in good faith.

Under the 2007 Plan, in the event of termination of a participant s employment or consultancy by reason of normal retirement at or after age 65, approved early retirement, long-term disability or death, an option may thereafter be exercised, to the extent it was then exercisable, for a period of three years, or such shorter period as the Committee shall determine at grant, subject to the stated term of the option. If a participant s employment or consultancy is terminated by reason of normal retirement at or after age 65, approved early retirement or long-term disability and the participant thereafter dies while the option is still exercisable, the option will, in general, be exercisable for twelve months, or such shorter period as the Committee shall determine at grant, following death, subject to the stated term of the option. The Committee may, at or after the grant date, provide for acceleration of the exercisability of options upon termination of employment or consultancy by reason of normal retirement, approved early retirement, disability or death.

If a participant s employment or consultancy terminates for any reason other than normal retirement at or after age 65, approved early retirement, disability or death, his options will terminate, except that if a participant s employment is involuntarily terminated without Cause as defined in the 2007 Plan, his options may be exercised, to the extent then exercisable, for three months, unless otherwise determined by the Committee, following termination, subject to the stated term of the option.

The 2007 Plan also permits the Committee at any time to offer to buy out for a payment in cash any option previously granted, based on such terms and conditions as the Committee shall establish and communicate to the participant at the time that such offer is made; provided, that the Committee shall not offer to buy out an option with an exercise price that is greater than the Fair Market Value exercise price at the time of the offer, without first obtaining stockholder approval. In addition, if permitted by the award agreement, the Committee may require that any shares issued with respect to the exercise of an option take the form of restricted stock, valued on the date of exercise without taking into account the forfeiture restrictions.

Except as may be determined by the Committee or set forth in the applicable grant agreement, stock options are transferable only by will or by the laws of descent or distribution, and all options are exercisable, during the participant s lifetime, only by the participant or his guardian or legal representative. However, a Non-Qualified Stock Option may be transferred to, exercised by, and paid to certain trusts or foundations under the control of the participant for estate or tax planning purposes.

Stock Appreciation Rights. The Committee may also grant non-transferable stock appreciation rights, or SARs, which entitle the holder, upon exercise, to receive an amount in cash and/or shares equal in value to the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value of a number of shares specified in the award at the date of exercise of the SARs over the Fair Market Value of such number of shares at the date of grant of the SARs.

Restricted Stock. The Committee may award shares of restricted Common Stock, or restricted stock, subject to certain conditions set forth in the 2007 Plan and such other conditions and restrictions as the Committee may determine, including the attainment of performance goals and the payment of a purchase price equal to or greater than par value. Prior to the lapse of restrictions on shares of restricted stock, the participant will have all rights of a stockholder with respect to the shares, including voting and dividend rights, subject to the conditions and restrictions generally applicable to restricted stock or specifically set forth in the participant s restricted stock award agreement. The Committee may, in its discretion, permit or require the payment of any cash dividends to be deferred and, in its discretion, to be reinvested in additional shares of restricted stock or otherwise. Stock dividends, if any, will be

50

treated as additional shares of restricted stock. A recipient of restricted stock must enter into a restricted stock award agreement with us, in such form as the Committee determines, setting forth the restrictions to which the shares are subject and the date or dates on which the restrictions will lapse. The Committee may permit such restrictions to lapse in installments within the restricted period or may accelerate the removal of restrictions or waive such restrictions at any time.

Shares of restricted stock are non-transferable, and if a participant who holds restricted stock terminates employment or his consultancy for any reason, including death, prior to the lapse or waiver of the restrictions, we, subject to the terms of the restricted stock award agreement, will have the right to require the forfeiture of the shares of restricted stock in exchange for any amount that the participant paid for them.

Deferred Stock. The Committee may make deferred stock awards under the 2007 Plan. These are non-transferable awards entitling the recipient to receive shares of Common Stock without any payment in cash or property in one or more installments at a future date or dates, as determined by the Committee. Receipt of deferred stock may be conditioned on such matters as the Committee shall determine, including continued employment or providing future consulting services or attainment of performance goals.

A recipient of a deferred stock award must enter into an agreement setting forth the applicable provisions for deferral of the shares of Common Stock covered by such award, as determined by the Committee. If a recipient of a deferred stock award terminates employment or his consultancy for any reason, including death, during the deferral period, we, subject to the terms of the deferred stock award agreement, will have the right to require the forfeiture of the shares of deferred stock in exchange for any amount that the participant paid for them.

Any deferral restrictions under a deferred stock award may be accelerated or waived by the Committee at any time prior to termination of employment or consultancy. The Committee may permit participants to further defer receipt of a deferred stock award or an installment of an award, if certain election requirements are met, for a specified period or until a specified event. Recipients of deferred stock awards may be entitled to receive dividend equivalents, subject to the terms of the award agreement. The Committee may, in its discretion, permit or require the payment of dividends to be deferred and reinvested in additional shares of deferred stock or otherwise. A recipient of a deferred stock award has no rights as a stockholder with respect to any shares covered by his deferred stock award until the issuance of stock certificates for such shares.

Stock Purchase Rights. The Committee may grant participants stock purchase rights to purchase stock, including restricted or deferred Common Stock, at a price equal to 50% or 100% of its Fair Market Value, 100% of its book value or 100% of its par value for limited periods of up to 90 days. The Committee may impose deferral, forfeiture, or other terms and conditions upon stock purchase rights.

In connection with stock purchase rights granted under the 2007 Plan, the Committee may if not prohibited by law, authorize loans from us to the participant for up to 90% of the purchase price. Loans, including extensions, may be for up to ten years and may be with or without recourse against the participant in the event of default. The Committee may require the participant to pledge the purchased stock or other property as security for the loan. Each loan shall be subject to such terms and conditions and shall bear such rate of interest as the Committee shall determine. Loans may be made at any time, subject to such limitations as the Committee shall prescribe.

Long-Term Performance Awards. The Committee may also grant long-term performance awards under the 2007 Plan. Such awards shall be based on corporate, business unit and/or individual performance over designated periods, called Performance Periods. Performance objectives may vary from participant to participant, group to group, and period to period, and Performance Periods may

51

Table of Contents

overlap. At the beginning of the Performance Period, the Committee will determine the number of shares of Common Stock, including deferred or restricted Common Stock, subject to the long-term performance award. During the Performance Period, the Committee may adjust the performance goals and measurements to take into account accounting and tax rules, and to makes changes that the Committee deems necessary or appropriate to reflect the inclusion or exclusion of unusual items, events or circumstances in order to avoid windfalls or hardships.

Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, long-term performance awards will generally be paid out on a prorated basis in the event of termination due to retirement at or after age 65 or approved early retirement, death or disability and will be forfeited in the event of other types of termination. Long-term performance awards may be paid early, currently or on a deferred basis with interest or earnings equivalents, as determined by the Committee, and will be payable in cash or stock, including restricted or deferred Common Stock, either in a lump sum or in annual installments, as determined by the Committee.

Performance Based Compensation. If the Committee determines that any of the awards of restricted stock, deferred stock or long-term performance awards should qualify as performance based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code, then the criteria upon which such awards will become payable will relate to one or more of the following: net earnings either before or after interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, economic value-added, sales or revenue, net income either before or after taxes, operating earnings, cash flow including, but not limited to, operating cash flow and free cash flow, cash flow return on capital, return on net assets, return on stockholders equity, return on assets, return on capital, stockholder returns, return on sales, gross or net profit margin, productivity, expense, margins, operating efficiency, customer satisfaction, working capital, earnings per share, price per share of our common stock, and market share, any of which may be measured either in absolute terms or as compared to any incremental increase or as compared to results of a peer group.

Adjustment for Stock Dividends, Mergers, etc. The Committee is required to make appropriate substitution or equitable adjustments in connection with outstanding awards under the 2007 Plan in the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, stock dividend, stock split or similar event. In addition, in the event of any merger or other corporate transaction or event which results in shares of Common Stock being purchased for cash, or being exchanged for or converted into cash or the right to receive cash, the Committee, in its sole discretion, and on such terms and conditions as it deems appropriate, may provide that any outstanding award under the 2007 Plan shall be converted into the right to receive an amount of cash equal to the amount of cash, if any, that would have been received, in the event of such merger or corporate transaction or event, if such award had been fully exercisable or payable, or vested and had been exercised or paid immediately prior to such merger or other corporate transaction or event to the extent of the cash value thereof, and, upon such conversion, such award, including any such award which under the terms of such merger or other corporate transaction or event, would have no cash value, shall be cancelled.

Amendment and Termination. The Board may amend, alter or discontinue the 2007 Plan at any time, but such amendment, alteration or discontinuation shall not adversely affect any outstanding award without the consent of each affected participant. In addition, the Board may not, without the prior approval of the stockholders, make any amendment which would: (a) increase the number of shares reserved for grants under the 2007 Plan, (b) change the class of employees eligible to receive awards, (c) extend the maximum term for awards, or (d) otherwise materially alter the terms of the 2007 Plan. The Committee may amend the terms of any award or option theretofore granted, retroactively or prospectively, but no such amendment shall impair the rights of the holder of any award without the holder s consent. The Committee may accelerate any award or option or waive any conditions or restrictions pertaining to such award or option at any time.

52

FEDERAL INCOME TAX ASPECTS OF 2007 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE 2007 PLAN UNDER CURRENT FEDERAL LAW ARE SUMMARIZED IN THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION WHICH DEALS WITH THE GENERAL TAX PRINCIPLES APPLICABLE TO THE 2007 PLAN AND IS INTENDED FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY. ALTERNATIVE MINIMUM TAX AND STATE, LOCAL AND FOREIGN INCOME TAXES ARE NOT DISCUSSED, AND MAY VARY DEPENDING ON INDIVIDUAL CIRCUMSTANCES AND FROM LOCALITY TO LOCALITY.

Non-Qualified Stock Options. For Federal income tax purposes, NQSOs will not be taxable upon grant, nor will we be entitled to any deduction. Generally, on exercise of NQSOs the participant will recognize ordinary income and we will be entitled to a deduction in an amount equal to the difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of exercise. Basis for the stock for purposes of determining gain or loss on subsequent disposition of such shares generally will be the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of exercise. Any subsequent gain or loss will be generally taxable as capital gain or loss.

Incentive Stock Options. An incentive stock option is not taxable upon grant or upon exercise. However, the amount by which the fair market value of the shares at the time of exercise exceeds the option price will be an item of adjustment for the participant for purposes of the alternative minimum tax. Gain realized on the sale of an incentive stock option is taxable at capital gains rates, and no tax deduction is available to us, unless the participant disposes of the shares within (1) two years after the date of grant of the option, or (2) within one year of the date the shares were acquired upon exercise of the option. If the shares of Common Stock are sold or otherwise disposed of before the end of the one- and two-year periods specified above, the difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value of the shares on the date of the option s exercise will be taxed at ordinary income rates, and we will be entitled to a deduction to the extent the participant must recognize ordinary income. If such a sale or disposition takes place in the year of exercise, the income the participant recognizes upon sale or disposition of the shares will not be considered income for alternative minimum tax purposes. Otherwise, if the participant sells or otherwise disposes of the shares before the end of the one- and two-year periods specified above, the maximum amount that will be included as alternative minimum tax income is the gain, if any, recognized on the disposition of the shares.

An incentive stock option exercised more than three months after termination of employment, other than by reason of death or disability, will be taxed as a non-qualified stock option, and the participant will have been deemed to have received income on the exercise taxable at ordinary income rates. We will be entitled to a tax deduction equal to the ordinary income, if any, realized.

Stock Appreciation Rights. No taxable income is realized upon the receipt of a stock appreciation right, or SAR; but upon exercise of the SAR, the fair market value of the shares received, as determined on the date of exercise of the SAR, or the amount of cash received in lieu of shares, must be treated as compensation taxable as ordinary income in the year of exercise. We will be entitled to a deduction for compensation paid in the same amount which the recipient realized as ordinary income.

Restricted Stock. For Federal income tax purposes, the recipient generally will not have taxable income on the grant of the restricted stock, nor will we then be entitled to any deduction, unless the recipient makes a valid election under Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code with company consent. However, when restrictions on shares of restricted stock lapse such that the shares are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture or are freely transferable, the recipient generally will recognize ordinary income and we will be entitled to a corresponding deduction, for an amount equal to the difference between the fair market value of the shares at the date such restrictions lapse over any purchase price for the restricted stock.

Table of Contents

Deferred Stock. The recipient generally will not have taxable income upon the grant of deferred stock and we will not then be entitled to a deduction. However, when deferred stock vests and is distributed, the recipient will realize ordinary income and we will be entitled to a deduction in an amount equal to the difference between the fair market value of the shares at the date of issuance over the purchase price, if any, for the deferred stock.

Stock Purchase Rights. Stock purchase rights will generally be taxed in the same manner as NQSOs.

Long-Term Performance Awards. Long-term performance awards once vested will, in most instances, be taxed as ordinary income, unless distributions are in the form of shares of Common Stock subject to restrictions or deferral limitations, in which case rules similar to those applicable to restricted and deferred stock will apply.

Stock Payment. If payment of an award is made in stock in lieu of a cash payment that would otherwise have been made, the recipient generally will be taxed as if the cash payment has been received, and we will have a deduction in the same amount. Subsequent appreciation or depreciation of the stock will be generally be taxable as capital gain or loss.

Section 162(m) of the Code. In general, under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, income tax deductions of publicly-held corporations may be limited to the extent total compensation, including base salary, annual bonus, stock option exercises and non-qualified benefits, for certain executive officers exceeds \$1 million, less the amount of any excess parachute payments as defined in Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code, in any taxable year of the corporation. However, under Section 162(m), the deduction limit does not apply to certain qualified performance-based compensation.

Awards will satisfy the qualified performance-based compensation exception if: (1) the awards are made by a qualifying compensation committee, (2) the Plan sets the maximum number of shares that can be granted to any person within a specified period, and (3) the compensation is based solely on an increase in the stock price after the grant date. The 2007 Plan has been designed to permit the Compensation Committee to grant awards which will qualify as qualified performance-based compensation.

Other Tax Consequences. We recommend that any recipient of an award consult with a personal tax advisor with respect to the applicable Federal, foreign, state and/or local tax aspects of award grants, exercises and any subsequent dispositions of Common Stock acquired under the 2007 Plan.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the approval of the amended and restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

Approval of the amended and restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan requires the affirmative vote of the majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on such proposal.

PROPOSAL 3 APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE AMENDED 2006 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

General

The 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors of The Cooper Companies, Inc. was approved by stockholders on March 21, 2006. The 2006 Directors Plan was subsequently amended on March 5, 2007, October 25, 2007, October 30, 2008 and December 11, 2008. As adopted and amended, the 2006 Directors Plan allows for up to 650,000 shares to be issued as stock options or restricted stock, or in the form of RSUs if elected by the director, with no more than 40,000 shares issuable as full-value awards. All Non-Employee Directors of the company, currently eight directors, are eligible to participate in the 2006 Directors Plan.

As of October 31, 2008, 272,534 shares have been issued, leaving 377,466 available for issuance under the 2006 Directors Plan. Additionally, of the 40,000 shares originally authorized for grant as full-value awards, 26,667 have been issued, leaving 13,333 available. The Board believes that it is important to our retention of experienced directors to be able to continue to offer these incentives and to have flexibility in the types of awards available. Therefore it is necessary to increase the number of shares authorized for full value awards under the 2006 Directors Plan to ensure that our ability to make competitive equity award grants is not affected.

The Board recommends the approval of an amendment and restatement of the 2006 Directors Plan which would (i) remove restrictions on the number of shares that may be granted as full value awards, (ii) add RSUs to the 2006 Directors Plan, and (iii) extend the term of the plan to December 31, 2016.

The full text of the 2006 Directors Plan, as amended and restated, is attached as Exhibit B. The following general description of certain features of the 2006 Directors Plan is qualified in its entirety by reference to the plan document.

Purpose

The 2006 Directors Plan is designed to encourage and enable our Non-Employee Directors to acquire a personal proprietary interest in the company. The 2006 Directors Plan provides the Non-Employee Directors with incentives to put forth maximum efforts for the long-term success of our business by making vesting of equity awards granted under the terms of the 2006 Directors Plan dependent on increases in the price of our stock.

The Board believes that the proposed amendment and restatement of the 2006 Directors Plan is appropriate and necessary to further the purpose of the 2006 Directors Plan by assuring continued flexibility to adjust equity award levels for directors and ensure appropriate and competitive compensation levels for the Board.

Summary of Terms

Administration. The 2006 Directors Plan is administered by the Board or, if the Board delegates its power and authority to administer the plan to a committee of the Board, such committee. Any such committee shall consist solely of two or more directors appointed by and holding office at the pleasure of the Board, each of whom is a non-employee director, as defined in Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. As used in this proposal, the term the Committee will refer to the above described committee or to the Board, as the case may be.

Eligibility. Only our Non-Employee Directors are eligible to participate in the 2006 Directors Plan.

55

Table of Contents

Grants. As amended and restated, the 2006 Directors Plan provides for an automatic, annual grant to each Non-Employee Director:

on November 1, or if November 1 is a weekend or holiday on the first day thereafter on which our stock is publicly traded, options to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our shares on such date. The Lead Director and/or any non-executive Chairman of the Board will receive options to purchase 11,400 shares; and

on November 15, or if November 15 is a weekend or holiday on the first day thereafter on which our stock is publicly traded, 1,600 shares of restricted stock. The Non-Employee Directors are required to pay \$.10 per share for shares of restricted stock and payment is due by January 15. If a director does not timely pay for the shares, then the shares are forfeited.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, grant additional options or restricted stock to Non-Employee Directors as it may determine. However, any such grants will be on the same terms and conditions as the automatic option and restricted stock grants.

The fair market value of our stock is defined as the average of the highest and lowest quoted selling price of our shares on the NYSE.

If a Non-Employee Director is appointed or elected after November 1, then they will receive a grant that is proportionally adjusted to reflect the number of months of actual service on the board during the first fiscal year of their election or appointment.

Shares subject to the 2006 Directors Plan. If approved, the amended and restated 2006 Directors Plan would authorize the Committee to grant to our Non-Employee Directors stock options and restricted stock awards, which may also be paid in the form of RSUs, for up to 650,000 shares of Common Stock through December 31, 2016, subject to adjustment for future stock splits, stock dividends and similar events, all of which may be issued as full value awards.

Options. The stock options will each have a ten year term and will become exercisable on the earlier to occur of (i) the first anniversary of the date of grant or (ii) termination of the Non-Employee Director from the Board for any reason whether voluntary or involuntary, other than for cause. However, if a Non-Employee Director s service is terminated or he fails to be reelected for reasons of cause, then he shall forfeit all unexercised options. The options will remain exercisable following termination as a Non-Employee Director, other than for cause, for the shorter of three years or the normal expiration of their term. The options are not transferable, other than for estate or tax planning purposes to trusts in which the Non-Employee Director has at least a 50% interest or foundations in which the Non-Employee Director controls the management of the assets, so long as such transfer is without consideration and the trust takes the option subject to the same restrictions as the Non-Employee Director. In addition, shares acquired upon exercise may not be transferred earlier than six months following the date the option was granted. The option exercise price must be paid in full by cash, check, money order, wire transfer or other immediately payable instrument acceptable to the Committee or, if the Committee so determines, by delivery of shares of our common stock which the Non-Employee Director has held for at least six months. If shares are delivered in payment of the option exercise price such shares will be valued at fair market value on the exercise date. We do not permit loans to Non-Employee Directors to fund exercise of stock options.

Restricted Stock. Restricted stock granted under the 2006 Directors Plan is subject to forfeiture in the event the Non-Employee Director is removed or not recommended for reelection for reasons of cause. In addition, the restricted stock may not be sold or otherwise transferred until all restrictions thereon are removed or expire, but in no event sooner than six months after the grant. Restricted stock may be transferred for estate or tax planning purposes to trusts in which the Non-Employee Director

56

Table of Contents

has at least a 50% interest or a foundation in which the Non-Employee Director controls the management of the assets, so long as such transfer is without consideration and the trust or foundation takes the restricted stock subject to the same restrictions as the Non-Employee Director. The restrictions will lapse on the restricted stock, and the Non-Employee Director will be able to sell the shares upon the first anniversary of the date of grant or, if earlier, the termination of the Non-Employee Director from the Board for any reason whether voluntary or involuntary, other than for cause.

Restricted Stock Units. A Non-Employee Director may elect, pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Director s Plan as amended, to receive his or her restricted stock grant in the form of RSUs. RSUs are the right to receive shares. The RSUs may have dividend equivalent rights.

Adjustment for Stock Dividends, Mergers, etc. The Committee is authorized to make appropriate substitution or adjustments in connection with outstanding awards under 2006 Directors Plan and the number of shares reserved for issuance under the plan in the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, stock dividend, stock split or change in corporate structure affecting our common stock; provided, that the shares subject to any grant shall always be a whole number.

Amendment and Termination. The Board may amend the 2006 Directors Plan at any time with respect to equity awards not yet granted. The Board may amend the provisions of any equity award previously granted only with the holder s consent. Any amendment which would (a) increase the number of shares reserved for grants under the 2006 Directors Plan, (b) change the class of directors eligible to receive grants or (c) change any material terms of the Plan requires the approval of stockholders. The 2006 Directors Plan will terminated automatically on the tenth anniversary of its approval by stockholders unless sooner terminated by the Board.

FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE 2006 DIRECTORS PLAN UNDER CURRENT FEDERAL LAW ARE SUMMARIZED IN THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION WHICH DEALS WITH THE GENERAL APPLICABLE TAX PRINCIPLES, AND IS INTENDED FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY. ALTERNATIVE MINIMUM TAX AND STATE, LOCAL AND FOREIGN INCOME TAXES ARE NOT DISCUSSED, AND MAY VARY DEPENDING ON INDIVIDUAL CIRCUMSTANCES AND FROM LOCALITY TO LOCALITY.

Stock Options. Options granted to the Non-Employee Directors will not qualify under the Internal Revenue Code as incentive stock options by their terms. No income is realized by the Non-Employee Director at the time the option is granted. Generally, at exercise, ordinary income is realized by the Non-Employee Director in an amount equal to the difference between the option exercise price paid for the shares and the fair market value of the shares on the date of exercise, and we will be entitled to a tax deduction in the same amount. Upon disposition of the stock acquired upon the exercise of the option, any appreciation or depreciation is treated as either short-term or long-term capital gain or loss depending on how long the shares have been held.

Restricted Stock. On the date of grant, the Non-Employee Director will have taxable ordinary income equal to the difference between the fair market value of the restricted stock on the date of grant and the \$.10 per share purchase price paid for such shares and we will be entitled to a deduction for the amount of ordinary income such Non-Employee Director realizes. Any gain or loss after such date will be eligible for short-term or long-term capital gain or loss depending on how long the shares have been held. If the Non-Employee Director forfeits the restricted stock due to termination as a director or failure to be re-nominated as a director for Cause, the Non-Employee Director will be entitled to a capital loss.

57

Restricted Stock Units. On the date the shares are delivered, the Non-Employee Director will have taxable ordinary income equal to the fair market value of the stock on such date and we will be entitled to a deduction for the amount of ordinary income such Non-Employee Director realizes. Any gain or loss after such date will be eligible for short-term or long-term capital gain or loss depending on how long the shares have been held.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the approval of the amended and restated 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors.

Approval of the amended and restated 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors requires the affirmative vote of the majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on such proposal.

Other Information. The closing price of a share of our common stock on the Record Date was \$19.06.

New Plan Benefits Table

Grants made under the 2007 Plan are at the discretion of the Committee and grants under the 2006 Directors Plan may also be discretionary as well as formulaic. Therefore, the exact amount of grants that may be made cannot be determined at this time. Accordingly, the following table provides information about grants made in the last fiscal year under the 2007 Plan and the 2006 Directors Plan.

Name and Position (1)	Number of Options	Number of Restricted Shares
Robert S. Weiss President & Chief Executive Officer	33,000	-0-
Eugene J. Midlock Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer	40,000	-0-
John A .Weber President of CooperVision, Inc.	34,500	-0-
Carol R. Kaufman Sr. Vice President of Legal Affairs, Secretary, & Chief Administrative Officer	16,500	-0-
Paul L. Remmell President & Chief Operating Officer of CooperSurgical, Inc.	16,500	12,500
Steven M. Neil Former Vice President & Chief Financial Officer	-0-	-0-

All current executive officers	268,750	65,500
All current non-employee directors	82,800	16,000
All other employees including current non-executive officers	282,666	143,600

⁽¹⁾ All grants to employees are pursuant to the 2007 Plan. All grants to Non-Employee Directors are pursuant to the 2006 Directors Plan.

Equity Plan Compensation Table

Plan category	No. of Securities to be Issued upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights (1)	Issued Exercise Price Exercise of Standing Outstanding Lions, Options, Ints and Warrants and		to be Issued Exercise I upon Exercise of Of Outstanding Outstand Options, Option Warrants and Warrants		No. of Securities Available for Issuance unde Compensatio (excluding so	r Future er Equity on Plans ecurities
	(A)		(B)	(C)			
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders (2)	5,656,825	\$	49.64		1,628,325		
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders	-0-	\$	-0-		-0-		
Total	5,656,825	\$	49.64		1,628,325		

- (1) The amount of total securities to be issued under Company equity plans shown in Column A includes 371,225 RSUs granted pursuant to our equity plans. These awards allow for the distribution of shares to the grant recipient upon the completion of time-based holding periods and do not have an associated exercise price. Accordingly, these awards are not reflected in the weighted-average exercise price disclosed in Column B.
- (2) Includes information with respect to the Plan, which was approved by stockholders on March 20, 2007, and provides for the issuance of up to 2,700,000 shares of Common Stock, and the 2006 Directors Plan, which was approved by stockholders on March 21, 2006 and provides for the issuance of up to 650,000 shares of Common Stock. As of October 31, 2008, up to 1,250,859 shares of Common Stock may be issued pursuant to the 2007 Plan and 377,466 shares of Common Stock may be issued pursuant to the 2006 Directors Plan. Also includes information with respect to the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, the 1996 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors and the Second Amended and Restated 2001 Long-Term Incentive Plan of the Cooper Companies, Inc., which were originally approved by stockholders on March 21, 1996 and March 28, 2001. The 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 1996 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors and 2001 Long-Term Incentive Plan have all expired by their terms, but up to 3,961,817 shares of Common Stock may be issued pursuant to awards that remain outstanding under these plans.

59

PROPOSAL 4 RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee has appointed the firm of KPMG LLP to act as our independent registered public accounting firm and to audit our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ending October 31, 2009. This appointment will continue at the pleasure of the Audit Committee and is presented to the stockholders for ratification as a matter of good governance.

KPMG LLP has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since our incorporation in 1980, and one or more representatives of KPMG LLP will be present at the Annual Meeting. These representatives will be provided an opportunity to make a statement at the Annual Meeting if they desire to do so and will be available to respond to appropriate questions from stockholders.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the ratification of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm.

The proposal to ratify the selection of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the 2009 fiscal year requires an affirmative vote of the majority of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the proposal.

60

OTHER MATTERS

The Board knows of no other matters to be presented at the Annual Meeting, but if any such matters properly come before the Annual Meeting, it is intended that the persons holding the accompanying proxy will vote in accordance with their best judgment.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Board unanimously recommends that the stockholders vote FOR the election of the nominees for director named in this Proxy Statement, FOR the amendment and restatement of the 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, FOR the amendment and restatement of the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors and FOR ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year ending October 31, 2009.

When a properly executed proxy in the form enclosed with this Proxy Statement is returned, the shares will be voted as indicated or, if no directions are indicated, the shares will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the Board.

By Order of the Board of Directors
A. Thomas Bender
Chairman of the Board of Directors

61

Table of Contents

EXHIBIT A

THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC.

AMENDED AND RESTATED 2007 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

SECTION 1. Purpose; Definitions.

The purpose of The Cooper Companies, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the Plan) is to enable the Company to attract, retain and reward key employees and consultants to the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates, and strengthen the mutuality of interests between such key employees and consultants and the Company s stockholders, by offering such key employees and consultants performance-based incentive equity interests in the Company.

For purposes of the Plan, the following terms shall be defined as set forth below:

- (a) Affiliate means any entity other than the Company and its Subsidiaries that is designated by the Board as an entity for which the Company has a legitimate business interest in allowing such entity to be a participating employer under the Plan, provided that the Company directly or indirectly owns at least 20% of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of such entity or at least 20% of the ownership interests in such entity.
- (b) Board means the Board of Directors of the Company.
- (c) *Book Value* means, as of any given date, on a per share basis (i) the stockholders equity in the Company as of the end of the immediately preceding fiscal year as reflected in the Company s consolidated balance sheet, subject to such adjustments as the Committee shall specify at or after grant, divided by (ii) the number of then outstanding shares of Stock as of such year-end date (as adjusted by the Committee for subsequent events).
- (d) Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto.
- (e) *Committee* shall mean the Board or, if the Board delegates its power and authority to administer this Plan to a committee of the Board described in this Section 2 of the Plan, such committee.
- (f) Company means The Cooper Companies, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, or any successor corporation.

(g) Deferred Stock or Deferred Stock Award means an award made pursuant to Section 8 below of the right to receive Stock at the end of a specified deferral period.
(h) Disability means disability as determined under procedures established by the Committee for purposes of this Plan.
(i) Early Retirement means retirement from consulting or active employment with the Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate after satisfying

the requirements for early retirement under the provisions of the applicable pension plan of such entity, and receiving the consent of the

(j) Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Company prior to such retirement under the terms of this Plan.

(k) Fair Market Value means, as of any given date, unless otherwise determined by the Committee in good faith, the closing price of the Stock on the New York Stock Exchange as reported on http://finance.yahoo.com or, if no such sale of Stock occurs on the New York Stock Exchange on such date, the fair market value of the Stock as determined by the Committee in good faith.

A-1

Table of Contents

(1) Full Value Award means any Grant other than an Option or other Grant for which the Participant pays the intrinsic value (whether directly or by forgoing a right to receive a payment from the Company).
(m) <i>Grant</i> means an instrument or agreement evidencing an option, SAR, etc granted hereunder, which may, but need not be, acknowledged by the recipient thereof.
(n) <i>Incentive Stock Option</i> or <i>ISO</i> means any Stock Option intended to be and designated as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.
(o) Long-term Performance Award means an award under Section 10 below that is valued in whole or in part based on the achievement of Company, Subsidiary, Affiliate, or individual performance factors or criteria as the Committee may deem appropriate.
(p) <i>Non-Employee Director</i> shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 16b-3 as promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act, or any successor definition adopted by the Commission.
(q) Non-Qualified Stock Option or NQSO means any Stock Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.
(r) Normal Retirement means retirement from consulting or active employment with the Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate on or after age 65.
(s) <i>Performance Criteria</i> means any one or more of the following: net earnings (either before or after interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization), economic value-added, sales or revenue, net income (either before or after taxes), operating earnings, cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow and free cash flow), cash flow return on capital, return on net assets, return on stockholders equity, return on assets, return on capital, stockholder returns, return on sales, gross or net profit margin, productivity, expense, margins, operating efficiency, customer satisfaction, working capital, earnings per share, price per share of Stock, and market share, any of which may be measured either in absolute terms or as compared to any incremental increase or as compared to results of a peer group.
(t) <i>Plan</i> means this 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as hereinafter amended from time to time.
(u) Restricted Stock means an award of shares of Stock that is subject to restrictions under Section 7 below.
(v) Retirement means Normal or Early Retirement.

- (w) Stock means the Common Stock, \$0.10 par value per share, of the Company.
- (x) Stock Appreciation Right or SAR means the right pursuant to an award granted under Section 6 below to receive from the Company an amount of cash or shares of Stock with a Fair Market Value equal to the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value of a number of shares of Stock specified in such award at the time of exercise of the right over the Fair Market Value of such number of shares of Stock on the date the right was granted.
- (y) Stock Option or Option means any option to purchase shares of Stock (including Restricted Stock and Deferred Stock, if the Committee so determines) granted pursuant to Section 5 below.

A-2

Table of Contents

(z) Stock Purchase Right means the right to purchase Stock pursuant to Section 9.
(aa) <i>Subsidiary</i> means any corporation (other than the Company) in an unbroken chain of corporations beginning with the Company if each of the corporations (other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain) owns stock possessing 50%, or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in the chain.
In addition, the term <i>Cause</i> shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(i) below.
SECTION 2. Administration.
The Plan shall be administered by the Board or, if the Board delegates its power and authority to administer this Plan to a committee of the Board, such committee. Any such committee shall consist solely of two or more directors appointed by and holding office at the pleasure of the Board, each of whom is a Non-Employee Director of the Company as defined in Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act and an outside director for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Code. If the Board delegates its power and authority to administer this Plan to a committee, the members of such committee shall serve at the pleasure of the Board, such committee members may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the Board and vacancies in the committee may be filled by the Board.
The Committee shall have full authority to grant, pursuant to the terms of the Plan, to officers, consultants and other key employees eligible under Section 4: (i) Stock Options, (ii) Stock Appreciation Rights, (iii) Restricted Stock, (iv) Deferred Stock, (v) Stock Purchase Rights, and/or (vi) Long-term Performance Awards.
In particular, the Committee shall have the authority:
(i) to select the officers, consultants and other key employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates to whom Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Deferred Stock, Stock Purchase Rights, and/or Long-term Performance Awards may from time to time be granted hereunder;
(ii) to determine whether and to what extent Incentive Stock Options, Non-Qualified Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Deferred Stock, Stock Purchase Rights, and/or Long-term Performance Awards, or any combination thereof, are to be granted hereunder to one or more eligible employees;
(iii) to determine the number of shares, if applicable, to be covered by each such award granted hereunder;
(iv) to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, of any award granted hereunder (including, but not limited to, the share price and any restriction or limitation, or any vesting acceleration or waiver of forfeiture restrictions regarding any Stock Option or

other award and/or the shares of Stock relating thereto, based in each case on such factors as the Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion);

(v) to determine whether and under what circumstances a Stock Option may be settled in cash, Restricted Stock and/or Deferred Stock under Section 5(k) or (1), as applicable, instead of Stock;

(vi) to determine whether, to what extent and under what circumstances Option grants and/or other awards under the Plan and/or other cash awards made by the Company are to be made, and operate, on a tandem basis vis à vis other awards under the Plan and/or cash awards made outside of the Plan, or on an additive basis;

A-3

Table of Contents

(vii) to determine whether, to what extent and under what circumstances Stock and other amounts, payable with respect to an award under this Plan shall be deferred either automatically or at the election of the participant (including providing for and determining the amount (if any) of any deemed earnings on any deferred amount during any deferral period); and

(viii) to determine the terms and restrictions applicable to Stock Purchase Rights and the Stock purchased by exercising such Rights.

(ix) to interpret the Plan and remedy any inconsistencies and ambiguities herein and between any agreement evidencing an award thereunder.

The Committee shall have the authority to adopt, alter and repeal such rules, guidelines and practices governing the Plan as it shall, from time to time, deem advisable; to interpret the terms and provisions of the Plan and any award issued under the Plan (and any agreements relating thereto); and to otherwise supervise the administration of the Plan.

All decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of the Plan shall be made in the Committee s sole discretion and shall be final and binding on all persons, including the Company and Plan participants.

SECTION 3. Stock Subject to Plan.

The total number of shares of Stock reserved and available for distribution pursuant to stock options or other awards relating to Stock made under the Plan shall be 3,700,000 shares. Such shares may consist, in whole or in part, of authorized and unissued shares or treasury shares. The maximum number of shares with respect to which an employee may be granted awards under this Plan during any fiscal year is 250,000.

Subject to Section 6(b)(iv) below, if any shares of Stock that have been optioned cease to be subject to a Stock Option, or if any such shares of Stock that are subject to any Restricted Stock or Deferred Stock Award, Stock Purchase Right, or Long-term Performance Award granted hereunder are forfeited or any such award otherwise terminates without a payment being made to the participant in the form of Stock, such shares shall again be available for distribution in connection with future awards under the Plan.

In the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, Stock dividend, Stock split or other change in corporate structure affecting the Stock, an equitable and appropriate substitution or adjustment shall be made in the aggregate number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plan, in the number and option or base price of shares subject to outstanding Options and SARs granted under the Plan, in the number and purchase price of shares subject to outstanding Stock Purchase Rights under the Plan, and in the number of shares subject to other outstanding awards granted under the Plan, provided that the number of shares subject to any Grant shall always be a whole number. The right to have such substitutions and adjustments made is nondiscretionary, but how such substitutions and adjustments are made shall be determined in the discretion of the Committee. In addition, in the event of any merger or other corporate transaction or event which results in shares of Stock being purchased for cash, or being exchanged for or converted into cash or the right to receive cash, the Committee, in its sole discretion, and on such terms and conditions as it deems appropriate, may provide that any Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock or Deferred Stock Award, Stock Purchase Right, or Long-term Performance Award shall be converted into the right to receive an amount of cash equal to the amount of cash, if any, that would have been received, in the event of such merger or corporate transaction or event, if such Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock or Deferred Stock Award, Stock Purchase Right, or Long-term Performance Award had been fully exercisable or payable, or vested and had been exercised or paid immediately prior to

A-4

Table of Contents

such merger or other corporate transaction or event to the extent of the cash value thereof, and, upon such conversion, such Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock or Deferred Stock Award, Stock Purchase Right, or Long-term Performance Award (including any such Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock or Deferred Stock Award, Stock Purchase Right, or Long-term Performance Award which, under the terms of such merger or other corporate transaction or event, would have no cash value) shall be cancelled.

SECTION 4. Eligibility.

Officers, consultants and such employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates (but excluding members of the Committee and any person who serves only as a director) whom the Committee determines is responsible for or contributes to the management, growth and/or profitability of the business of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries and Affiliates are eligible to be granted awards under the Plan.

SECTION 5. Stock Options.

Stock Options may be granted alone, in addition to or in tandem with other awards granted under the Plan and/or cash awards made outside of the Plan. Any Stock Option granted under the Plan shall be in such form as the Committee may from time to time approve.

Stock Options granted under the Plan may be of two types: (i) Incentive Stock Options and (ii) Non-Qualified Stock Options.

The Committee shall have the authority to grant to any optionee Incentive Stock Options, Non-Qualified Stock Options, or both types of Stock Options (in each case with or without Stock Appreciation Rights); provided, however that Incentive Stock Options shall only be granted to an individual who, at the time of grant, is an employee of the Company or a Subsidiary.

Options granted under the Plan shall be subject to the following terms and conditions and shall contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, as the Committee shall deem desirable:

- (a) Option Price. The option price per share of Stock purchasable under a Stock Option shall be determined by the Committee at the time of grant but shall not be less than the Fair Market Value on the date of grant.
- (b) Option Term. The term of each Stock Option shall be fixed by the Committee, but no Stock Option shall be exercisable more than ten years after the date the Option is granted. No Incentive Stock Option shall be granted more than ten years after the date this Plan is approved by the stockholders of the Company under Section 14.
- (c) Exercisability. Stock Options shall be exercisable at such time or times and subject to such terms and conditions as shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion at or after grant.

(d) *Method of Exercise*. Subject to whatever exercise provisions apply under Section 5(c), Stock Options may be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the option period, by giving written notice of exercise to the Company specifying the number of shares to be purchased. Such notice shall be accompanied by payment in full of the purchase price, either by check, note or such other instrument as the Committee may accept. Except as otherwise prohibited by law, as determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion, at or after grant, payment in full or in part may also be made (i) in the form of Stock subject to an award (based, in each case, on the Fair Market Value of the Stock on the

A-5

Table of Contents

date the option is exercised, as determined by the Committee); provided, however, that, in the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the right to make a payment in the form of already owned shares may be authorized only at the time the option is granted; or (ii) through the delivery of a notice that the optionee has placed a market sell order with a broker with respect to shares of Stock then issuable upon exercise of the Option, and that the broker has been directed to pay a sufficient portion of the net proceeds of the sale to the Company in satisfaction of the Option exercise price, provided that payment of such proceeds is made to the Company prior to the delivery of any shares of Stock by the Company. No shares of Stock shall be issued until full payment therefor has been made. An optionee shall generally have the rights to dividends or other rights of a stockholder with respect to shares subject to the Option when the optionee has given written notice of exercise, has paid in full for such shares, and, if requested, has given the representation described in Section 13(a).

- (e) *Transferability of Options*. No Stock Option shall be transferable by the optionee otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and all Stock Options shall be exercisable, during the optionee s lifetime, only by the optionee or by his guardian or legal representative. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Non-Qualified Stock Option may be transferred to, exercised by and paid to a trust in which the optionee has a fifty percent or more interest or a foundation which the optionee controls the management of the assets, provided that (i) the optionee receives no consideration for such transfer, and (ii) the transferee receives the Non-Qualified Stock Option subject to the same restrictions imposed upon the transferor and pursuant to such conditions and procedures as the Committee may establish. Any permitted transfer shall be subject to the condition that the Committee receives evidence satisfactory to it that the trust is and shall remain under the control of the optionee and that the transfer is being made for estate and/or tax planning purposes and on a basis consistent with the Company s lawful issue of securities.
- (f) Termination by Death. Subject to Section 5(j), if an optionee s employment by or consultancy with the Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of death, any Stock Option held by such optionee may thereafter be exercised, to the extent such option was exercisable at the time of death or on such accelerated basis as the Committee may determine at or after grant (or as may be determined in accordance with procedures established by the Committee), by the legal representative of the estate or by the legatee of the optionee under the will of the optionee, for a period of three years (or such other period as the Committee may specify at grant) from the date of such death or until the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is the shorter.
- (g) Termination by Reason of Disability. Subject to Section 5(j), if an optionee s employment by or consultancy with the Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of Disability, any Stock Option held by such optionee may thereafter be exercised by the optionee, to the extent it was exercisable at the time of termination or on such accelerated basis as the Committee may determine at or after grant (or as may be determined in accordance with procedures established by the Committee), for a period of three years (or such other period as the Committee may specify at grant) from the date of such termination of employment or consultancy or until the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is the shorter; provided, however, that, if the optionee dies within such three-year period (or such other period as the Committee shall specify at grant), any unexercised Stock Option held by such optionee shall thereafter be exercisable to the extent to which it was exercisable at the time of death for a period of twelve months from the date of such death or until the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is the shorter. In the event of termination of employment by reason of Disability, if an Incentive Stock Option is exercised after the expiration of the exercise periods that apply for purposes of Section 422 of the Code, such Stock Option will thereafter be treated as a Non-Qualified Stock Option.
- (h) Termination by Reason of Retirement. Subject to Section 5(j), if an optionee s employment by or consultancy with the Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of Normal or

A-6

Table of Contents

Early Retirement, any Stock Option held by such optionee may thereafter be exercised by the optionee, to the extent it was exercisable at the time of such Retirement or on such accelerated basis as the Committee may determine at or after grant (or as may be, determined in accordance with procedures established by the Committee), for a period of three years (or such other period as the Committee may specify at grant) from the date of such termination of employment or consultancy or the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is the shorter; provided, however, that, if the optionee dies within such three-year period (or such other period as the Committee may specify at grant), any unexercised Stock Option held by such optionee shall thereafter be exercisable, to the extent to which it was exercisable at the time of death, for a period of twelve months from the date of such death or until the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is the shorter. In the event of termination of employment by reason of Retirement, if an Incentive Stock Option is exercised after the expiration of the exercise periods that apply for purposes of Section 422 of the Code, the option will thereafter be treated as a Non-Qualified Stock Option.

- (i) Other Termination. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee (or pursuant to procedures established by the Committee) at or after grant, if an optionee s employment by or consultancy with the Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates for any reason other than death, Disability or Normal or Early Retirement, the Stock Option shall thereupon terminate, except that such Stock Option may be exercised for the lesser of three months or the balance of such Stock Option s term if the optionee is involuntarily terminated by the Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate without Cause. For purposes of this Plan, Cause means the conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere to a felony by the participant, or a participant s willful misconduct or dishonesty, any of which is directly and materially harmful to the business or reputation of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate.
- (j) *Incentive Stock Options*. Anything in the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, no term of this Plan relating to Incentive Stock Options shall be interpreted, amended or altered, nor shall any discretion or authority granted under the Plan be so exercised, so as to disqualify the Plan under Section 422 of the Code, or, without the consent of the optionee(s) affected, to disqualify any Incentive Stock Option under such Section 422.

To the extent required for incentive stock option status under Section 422(b)(7) of the Code (taking into account applicable Internal Revenue Service regulations and pronouncements), the Plan shall be deemed to provide that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the time of grant) of the stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by the optionee during any calendar year under the Plan and/or any other stock option plan of the Company or any Subsidiary or parent corporation (within the meaning of Section 424 of the Code) after 1986 shall not exceed \$100,000. If the aggregate Fair Market Value exceeds \$100,000, then those options in excess of \$100,000 will not be treated as ISOs. Those shares not treated as ISOs will be taxed at ordinary income rates on exercise. If Section 422 is hereafter amended to delete the requirement now in Section 422(b)(7) that the plan text expressly provide for the \$100,000 limitation set forth in Section 422(b)(7), then this paragraph of Section 5(j) shall no longer be operative.

- (k) *Buyout Provisions*. The Committee may at any time offer to buy out for a payment in cash, Stock or Restricted Stock an option previously granted, based on such terms and conditions as the Committee shall establish and communicate to the optionee at the time that such offer is made; provided, however, that unless stockholder approval is obtained, the Committee shall not offer to buy out any Option having a per share exercise price greater than the per share Fair Market Value of a share of Stock at the time of such offer. In no event may the Company buyout any Stock Option with the grant of another Stock Option, without shareholder approval.
- (1) Settlement Provisions. If the option agreement so provides at grant, or is amended after grant and prior to exercise to so provide (with the optionee s consent), the Committee may require that all or

A-7

Table of Contents

part of the shares to be issued with respect to the spread value of an exercised Option take the form of Restricted Stock, which shall be valued on the date of exercise on the basis of the Fair Market Value (as determined by the Committee) of such Restricted Stock determined without regard to the forfeiture restrictions involved.

(m) 10% Stockholders. No Incentive Stock Option may be granted under this Plan to any employee who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns, or is considered as owning, within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, shares possessing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power or value of all classes of stock of the Company, a Subsidiary or a parent corporation (within the meaning of Section 424 of the Code) unless the option price under such Option is at one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock on the date such Option is granted and the duration of such Option is no more than five (5) years.

SECTION 6. Stock Appreciation Rights.

- (a) *Exercise*. A Stock Appreciation Right may be exercised by a recipient, subject to Section 6(b), in accordance with the procedures established by the Committee for such purpose. Upon such exercise, the recipient shall be entitled to receive an amount determined in the manner prescribed in Section 6(b).
- (b) *Terms and Conditions*. Stock Appreciation Rights shall be subject to such terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan, as shall be determined from time to time by the Committee, including the following:
- (i) Upon the exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right, a recipient shall be entitled to receive an amount in cash and/or shares of Stock with a Fair Market Value, as the Committee in its sole discretion shall determine, equal to the excess of the Fair Market Value of a number of shares of Stock specified in the award at the date of exercise of the Stock Appreciation Right over the Fair Market Value of such number of shares of Stock at the date of grant of the Stock Appreciation Right. When payment is to be made in shares, the number of shares to be paid shall be calculated on the basis of the Fair Market Value of the shares on the date of exercise.
- (ii) Stock Appreciation Rights shall not be transferable by the recipient thereof otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and all Stock Appreciation Rights shall be exercisable, during the recipient s lifetime, only by the recipient.

SECTION 7. Restricted Stock.

(a) *Administration*. Shares of Restricted Stock may be issued either alone, in addition to or in tandem with other awards granted under the Plan and/or cash awards made outside of the Plan. The Committee shall determine the eligible persons to whom, and the time or times at which, grants of Restricted Stock will be made, the number of shares to be awarded, the price to be paid by the recipient of Restricted Stock (subject to Section 7(b)), the time or times within which such awards may be subject to forfeiture, and all other terms and conditions of the awards.

The Committee may condition the grant of Restricted Stock upon the attainment of specified performance goals (including goals based on the Performance Criteria) or such other factors as the Committee may determine, in its sole discretion.

The provisions of Restricted Stock awards need not be the same with respect to each recipient.

(b) Awards and Certificates. The prospective recipient of a Restricted Stock Award shall not have any rights with respect to such award, unless and until such recipient has executed an agreement

A-8

Table of Contents

evidencing the award and has delivered a fully executed copy thereof to the Company, and has otherwise complied with the applicable terms and conditions of such award. Each award shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:

- (i) Unless the Committee determines that no purchase price is required by law, then the purchase price for shares of Restricted Stock shall be equal to or greater than their par value.
- (ii) Awards of Restricted Stock must be accepted within a period of 60 days (or such shorter period as the Committee may specify at grant) after the award date, by executing a Restricted Stock Award agreement and paying whatever price is required under Section 7(b)(i).
- (iii) Each participant receiving a Restricted Stock Award shall be issued shares of Stock, either in book form or electronically, evidencing the grant of the Restricted Stock, registered in the name of such participant, noting the terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to such award. The Committee in its sole discretion may issue stock certificates to evidence the Restricted Stock Award. If a stock certificate is issued, it shall bear an appropriate legend referring to the terms, conditions, and restrictions applicable to such award.
- (iv) The Committee shall require that any stock certificates evidencing such shares issued be held in custody by the Company until the restrictions, if any, thereon shall have lapsed, and that, as a condition of any Restricted Stock Award, the participant shall have delivered a stock power, endorsed in blank, relating to the Stock covered by such award.
- (c) Restrictions and Conditions. The shares of Restricted Stock awarded pursuant to this Section 7 shall be subject to the following restrictions and conditions:
- (i) Subject to the provisions of this Plan and the award agreement, during a period set by the Committee commencing with the date of such award (the Restriction Period), the participant shall not be permitted to sell, transfer, pledge or assign shares of Restricted Stock awarded under the Plan. Within these limits, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may provide for the lapse of such restrictions in installments and may accelerate or waive such restrictions in whole or in part, based on service, performance and/or such other factors or criteria as the Committee may determine, in its sole discretion.
- (ii) Except as provided in this paragraph (ii) and Section 7(c)(i), the participant shall have, with respect to the shares of Restricted Stock, all of the rights of a stockholder of the Company, including the right to vote the shares, and the right to receive any cash dividends. The Committee, in its sole discretion, as determined at the time of award, may permit or require the payment of cash dividends to be deferred and, if the Committee so determines, reinvested, subject to Section 13(e), in additional Restricted Stock to the extent shares are available under Section 3, or otherwise reinvested. Pursuant to Section 3 above, Stock dividends issued with respect to Restricted Stock shall be treated as additional shares of Restricted Stock that are subject to the same restrictions and other terms and conditions that apply to the shares with respect to which such dividends are issued.
- (iii) Subject to the applicable provisions of the award agreement and this Section 7, upon termination of a participant s employment or consultancy with the Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate for any reason during the Restriction Period, all shares still subject to restriction will vest, or be forfeited, in accordance with the terms and conditions established by the Committee at or after grant. If any Restricted Stock is forfeited, the Company shall pay to the participant (or the estate of a deceased participant) an amount equal to the price, if any, that the participant paid with respect to such Restricted Stock.

(iv) If and when the Restriction Period expires without a prior forfeiture of the Restricted Stock subject to such Restriction Period, an appropriate number of unrestricted shares shall be delivered to the participant promptly in book, electronic or other form, or by issuance of share certificates as determined in the sole discretion of the Committee.

A-9

Table of Contents

(a) Administration. Deferred Stock may be awarded either alone, in addition to or in tandem with other awards granted under the Plan and/or cash awards made outside of the Plan. The Committee shall determine the eligible persons to whom and the time or times at which Deferred Stock shall be awarded, the number of shares of Deferred Stock to be awarded to any person, the duration of the period (the Deferral Period) during which, and the conditions under which, receipt of the Stock will be deferred, and the other terms and conditions of the award in addition to those set forth in Section 8(b).

The Committee may condition the grant of Deferred Stock upon the attainment of specified performance goals (including goals based on the Performance Criteria) or such other factors or criteria as the Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion.

The provisions of Deferred Stock Awards need not be the same with respect to each recipient.

- (b) Terms and Conditions. The shares of Deferred Stock awarded pursuant to this Section 8 shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:
- (i) Subject to the provisions of this Plan and the award agreement referred to in Section 8(b)(vi) below, Deferred Stock Awards may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered during the Deferral Period. At the expiration of the Deferral Period (or the Elective Deferral Period referred to in Section 8(b)(v), where applicable), the Company shall deliver to the recipient shares of Stock equal to the shares covered by the Deferred Stock Award. Such shares may be delivered in book, electronic or other form, or by issuance of share certificates as determined in the sole discretion of the Committee.
- (ii) Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at grant, amounts equal to any dividends declared during the Deferral Period with respect to the number of shares covered by a Deferred Stock Award will be paid to the participant currently, or deferred and deemed to be reinvested in additional Deferred Stock, or otherwise reinvested, all as determined at or after the time of the award by the Committee, in its sole discretion.
- (iii) Subject to the provisions of the award agreement and this Section 8, upon termination of a participant semployment or consultancy with the Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate for any reason during the Deferral Period for a given award, the Deferred Stock in question will vest, or be forfeited, in accordance with the terms and conditions established by the Committee at or after grant. If any Deferred Stock is forfeited, the Company shall pay to the participant (or the estate of a deceased participant) an amount equal to the price, if any, the participant paid with respect to such Deferred Stock.
- (iv) Based on service, performance and/or such other factors or criteria as the Committee may determine, the Committee may, at or after grant, accelerate the vesting of all or any part of any Deferred Stock Award and/or waive the deferral limitations for all or any part of such award.
- (v) A participant may elect to further defer receipt of an award (or an installment of an award) for a specified period or until a specified event (the Elective Deferral Period), subject in each case to the Committee s approval and to such terms as are determined by the Committee, all in its

sole discretion. Subject to any exceptions adopted by the Committee, such election must generally be made 12 months prior to completion of the Deferral Period for such Deferred Stock Award (or such installment) and shall not take effect for at least 12 months. The Elective Deferral Period must be at least five years or, if elected by the participant, until termination of employment or a change in control of the Company (as determined under Section 409A of the Code) if earlier. Any such election shall comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

A-10

Table of Contents

(vi) Each award shall be confirmed by, and subject to the terms of, a Deferred Stock agreement executed by the Company and the participant.
(vii) A recipient of a Deferred Stock Award shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to any shares covered by his Deferred Stock Award until the issuance of a stock certificate for such shares.
SECTION 9. Stock Purchase Rights.
(a) Awards and Administration. Subject to Section 3 above, the Committee may grant eligible participants Stock Purchase Rights which shall enable such participants to purchase Stock (including Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock):
(i) at its Fair Market Value on the date of grant;
(ii) at 50% of such Fair Market Value on such date;
(iii) at an amount equal to Book Value on such date; or
(iv) at an amount equal to the par value of such Stock on such date.
However, no share of Stock shall be sold at less than its par value. The Committee shall also impose such deferral, forfeiture and/or other terms and conditions as it shall determine, in its sole discretion, on such Stock Purchase Rights or the exercise thereof.
The terms of Stock Purchase Rights Awards need not be the same with respect to each participant. Each Stock Purchase Right Award shall be confirmed by, and be subject to the terms of, a Stock Purchase Rights agreement.
(b) <i>Exercisability</i> . Stock Purchase Rights shall generally be exercisable for such period after grant as is determined by the Committee, but not to exceed 90 days.
(c) <i>Loans</i> . Unless otherwise prohibited by law, if the Committee so determines, the Company shall make or arrange for a loan to a participant with respect to the exercise of Stock Purchase Rights. The Committee shall have full authority to decide whether such a loan should be made and to determine the amount, term and other provisions of any such loan, including the interest rate to be charged, whether the loan is to be with or without recourse against the borrower, the security, if any, therefor, the terms on which the loan is to be repaid and the conditions, if any, under

Table of Contents 127

which it may be forgiven. However, no loan hereunder shall have a term (including extensions) exceeding ten years in duration or be in an

amount exceeding 90% of the total purchase price paid by the borrower.

SECTION 10. Long-term Performance Awards.

(a) Administration. Long-term Performance Awards may be granted either alone or in addition to other awards granted under the Plan. The Committee shall determine the nature, length and starting date of the performance period (the Performance Period) for each Long-term Performance Award and shall determine the performance objectives to be used in the valuation of Long-term Performance Awards and determining the extent to which such Long-term Performance Awards have been earned. Performance objectives may vary, from participant to participant and between groups of participants and shall be based upon such Company, Subsidiary, Affiliate or individual performance factors or criteria as the Committee may deem appropriate, including, but not limited to the Performance Criteria. Performance Periods may overlap and participants may participate simultaneously with respect to Long-term Performance Awards that are subject to different Performance Periods and different performance factors and criteria. Long-term Performance Awards shall be confirmed by, and be subject to the terms of, a Long-term Performance Awards need not be the same with respect to each participant.

A-11

Table of Contents

At the beginning of each Performance Period, the Committee shall determine for each Long-term Performance Award subject to such Performance Period, the number of shares of Stock (including Deferred or Restricted Stock) to be awarded to the participant at the end of the Performance Period if and to the extent that the relevant measures of performance for such Long-term Performance Award are met. Such number of shares of Stock may be fixed or may vary in accordance with such performance or other criteria as may be determined by the Committee.

- (b) Adjustment of Awards. The Committee may adjust the performance goals and measurements applicable to the Long-term Performance Awards to take into account changes in law and accounting and tax rules and to make such adjustments as the Committee deems necessary or appropriate to reflect the inclusion or exclusion of the impact of extraordinary or unusual items, events or circumstances in order to avoid windfalls or hardships.
- (c) *Termination*. Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Long-term Performance Award agreement, if a participant terminates employment or his consultancy during a Performance Period because of death, Disability or Retirement, such participant shall be entitled to a payment with respect to each outstanding Long-term Performance Award at the end of the applicable Performance Period:
- (i) based, to the extent relevant under the terms of the award, upon the participant s performance for the portion of such Performance Period ending on the date of termination and the performance of the Company or any applicable business unit for the entire Performance Period, and
- (ii) prorated for the portion of the Performance Period during which the Participant was employed by the Company, a subsidiary or affiliate,

all as determined by the Committee. The Committee may provide for an earlier payment in settlement of such award in such amount and under such terms and conditions as the Committee deems appropriate.

Except as otherwise provided in the applicable Long-term Performance Award agreement, if a participant terminates employment or his consultancy during a Performance Period for any other reason, then such participant shall not be entitled to any payment with respect to the Long-term Performance Award subject to such Performance Period, unless the Committee shall otherwise determine.

(d) Form of Payment. The earned portion of a Long-term Performance Award may be paid currently or on a deferred basis with such interest or earnings equivalent as may be determined by the Committee. Payment shall be made in the form of whole shares of Stock, including Restricted Stock or Deferred Stock, as the Committee shall determine. To the extent a Long-term Performance Award is payable in Stock and the full amount therefor is not paid in Stock, then the shares of Stock representing the portion of the value of the Long-term Performance Award not paid in Stock shall again become available for award under the Plan.

SECTION 11. Amendments and Termination.

The Board may amend, alter, or discontinue the Plan, but no amendment, alteration, or discontinuation shall be made which would impair the rights of an optionee or participant under a Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right (or Limited Stock Appreciation Right), Restricted or

Deferred Stock Award, Stock Purchase Right, or Long-term Performance Award theretofore granted, without the optionee s or participant s consent, or which, without the approval of the Company s stockholders, would:

(a) except as expressly provided in this Plan, increase the total number of shares reserved for the purpose of the Plan;

A-12

Table of Contents

(b)	change the employees	or class of emp	lovees eligible to	participate in the Plan;

- (c) extend the maximum option period under Section 5(b) of the Plan; or
- (d) otherwise materially alter the terms of the Plan.

The Committee may amend the terms of any Stock Option or other award theretofore granted, prospectively or retroactively, but, subject to Section 3 above, no such amendment shall impair the rights of any holder without the holder s consent. Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to the contrary, no Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right may be amended to reduce the price per share of the shares subject to such Stock Option or the exercise price of such Stock Appreciation Right, as applicable, below the option price or exercise price as of the date the Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right is granted. In addition, no Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right may be granted in exchange for or in connection with the cancellation or surrender of a Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right or other Grant if the new Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right or other Grant has an option or exercise price (including no exercise price) which is less than the option or exercise price of the Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right being exchanged, cancelled or surrendered.

Subject to the above provisions, the Board shall have broad authority to amend the Plan to take into account changes in applicable securities and tax laws and accounting rules, as well as other developments.

SECTION 12. Unfunded Status of Plan.

- (a) *Unfunded Plan*. The Plan is intended to constitute an unfunded plan for incentive and deferred compensation. With respect to any payments not yet made to a participant or optionee by the Company, nothing contained herein shall give any such participant or optionee any rights that are greater than those of a general creditor of the Company. In its sole discretion, the Committee may authorize the creation of trusts or other arrangements to meet the obligations created under the Plan to deliver Stock or payments in lieu of or with respect to awards hereunder, provided, however, that, unless the Committee otherwise determines with the consent of the affected participant, the existence of such trusts or other arrangements is consistent with the unfunded status of the Plan.
- (b) Section 409A. To the extent that the Committee determines that any award granted under the Plan is subject to Section 409A of the Code, the agreement evidencing such award shall incorporate the terms and conditions required by Section 409A of the Code. To the extent applicable, the Plan and such agreements shall be interpreted in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder, including without limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be issued after the date this Plan is effective. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, in the event that following the effective date of the Plan the Committee determines that any award may be subject to Section 409A of the Code and related Department of Treasury guidance, the Committee may adopt such amendments to the Plan and the applicable agreement or adopt other policies and procedures (including amendments, policies and procedures with retroactive effect), or take any other actions, that the Committee determines are necessary or appropriate to (a) exempt the award from Section 409A of the Code and/or preserve the intended tax treatment of the benefits provided with respect to the award, or (b) comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and related Department of Treasury guidance.

SECTION 13. General Provisions.

(a) The Committee may require each person purchasing shares pursuant to a Stock Option or other award under the Plan to represent to and agree with the Company in writing that the optionee or

A-13

Table of Contents

participant is acquiring the shares for investment and without a view to distribution thereof. The certificates for such shares may include any legend which the Committee deems appropriate to reflect any restrictions on transfer.

The Committee may condition the exercise of an Option or the issuance and delivery of Stock upon the listing, registration or qualification of the Stock upon a securities exchange or under applicable securities laws.

All certificates for shares of Stock or other securities delivered under the Plan shall be subject to such stock-transfer orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the rules, regulations, and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange upon which the Stock is then listed, and any applicable Federal or state securities law, and the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

- (b) Nothing contained in this Plan shall prevent the Board from adopting other or additional compensation arrangements, subject to stockholder approval if such approval is required; and such arrangements may be either generally applicable or applicable only in specific cases.
- (c) The making of an award under this Plan shall not confer upon any employee of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate any right to continued employment with the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate, as the case may be, nor shall it interfere in any way with the right of the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate to terminate the employment of any of its employees at any time.
- (d) No later than the date as of which an amount first becomes includable in the gross income of the participant for Federal income tax purposes with respect to any award under the Plan, the participant shall pay to the Company, or make arrangements satisfactory to the Committee regarding the payment of, any Federal, state, or local taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to such amount. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, withholding obligations may be settled with Stock, including Stock that is part of the award that gives rise to the withholding requirement. The obligations of the Company under the Plan shall be conditional on such payment or arrangements and the Company and its Subsidiaries or Affiliates shall, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to deduct any such taxes from any payment of any kind otherwise due to the participant.
- (e) The actual or deemed reinvestment of dividends or dividend equivalents in additional Restricted Stock (or in Deferred Stock or other types of Plan awards) at the time of any dividend payment shall only be permissible if sufficient shares of Stock are available under Section 3 for such reinvestment (taking into account then outstanding Stock Options, Stock Purchase Rights and other Plan awards).
- (f) The Plan and all awards made and actions taken thereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.
- (g) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, Full Value Awards shall become vested over a period of not less than three years (or, in the case of vesting based upon the attainment of Performance Criteria or other performance-based objectives, over a period of not less than one year) following the date the Grant is made; provided, that the Committee may accelerate vesting of Full Value Awards in its discretion, only upon death, disability or a change in control of the Company.

A-14

Table of Contents

SECTION 14. Effective Date of Plan.

The Plan shall be effective as of January 1, 2007; subject to the approval of the Plan by the holders of a majority of the shares of the Company s Common Stock at the next annual stockholders meeting in 2007. Any grants made under the Plan prior to such approval shall be effective when made (unless otherwise specified by the Committee at the time of grant), but shall be conditioned on, and subject to, such approval of the Plan by such stockholders. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, no Option, Stock Appreciation Right or Stock Purchase Right may be exercised and no Restricted or Deferred Stock or Long-term Performance Award shall become vested until such approval.

SECTION 15. Term of Plan.

No Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock Award, Deferred Stock Award, Stock Purchase Right, Other Stock-Based Award, or Long-term Performance Award shall be granted pursuant to the Plan on or after December 31, 2017, but awards granted prior to such date may extend beyond that date.

SECTION 16. Certain Stock Options for United Kingdom Employees

Stock Options granted under Section 5 which are Non-Qualified Stock Options may be granted subject to the terms and conditions of Schedule A hereto. Such Non-Qualified Stock Options shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, including Section 5

A-15

Table of Contents

SCHEDULE A

CONTAINING PROVISIONS FOR

TAX APPROVED OPTIONS FOR UNITED KINGDOM EMPLOYEES

(Providing for the grant of Stock Options which it is intended shall satisfy the requirements of Her Majesty s Revenue and Customs pursuant to Schedule 4 to the UK Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 (ITEPA), such options to be referred to in this Schedule as Approved Options).

Approved Options may be granted pursuant to this Schedule A in accordance with such provisions as would be applicable if the provisions of the Cooper Companies, Inc. 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (the Plan) relating to Stock Options were here set out in full (provided that Sections 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 shall not apply to this Schedule A), subject to the following further modifications:

SECTION A1. Eligibility.

Approved Options may only be granted under this Schedule A to individuals who are employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (and for this purpose a subsidiary shall mean any company of which the Company has control as defined in section 840 of the UK Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (Control)) and who are not ineligible to participate in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 9 of Schedule 4 to ITEPA and, if a director, is required to work in that capacity for the Company and/or any such subsidiary for at least 25 hours per week, excluding meal breaks. For the avoidance of doubt, no Approved Options shall be granted to a consultant and references to consultant/consultancy in the Plan shall have no relevance under this Schedule A.

SECTION A2. Stock Subject to the Plan.

- (a) Approved Options granted under this Schedule A may only be made and may only be exercised in respect of Stock which satisfies the requirements of paragraphs 16-20 of Schedule 4 to ITEPA.
- (b) Only in the event of any reorganization, consolidation, Stock split or other variation of the Company s Stock, may an adjustment be made under Section 3 of the Plan to the amount of Stock which is the subject of Approved Options granted under this Schedule A and the option price payable in respect thereof and then only with the prior approval of HM Revenue and Customs.

SECTION A3. Stock Options.

(a) Approved Options may only be granted pursuant to this Schedule A at an option price which is not less than 100% of Fair Market Value as of the date of grant provided that if no sale of Stock occurs on the New York Stock Exchange on such date the option price shall not be less than the Fair Market Value of the Stock as determined in accordance with Part VIII of the UK Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 and agreed on

or before that date for the purposes of this Schedule A with HM Revenue and Customs Shares and Assets Valuation.

(b) No Approved Options may be granted to an employee or director which will result in the aggregate option price for all the Stock comprised in outstanding Approved Options granted to him under this Schedule A together with the aggregate option price of all Stock comprised in outstanding options granted to him under any other stock option scheme established by the Company or any associated company (as defined in paragraph 35 of Schedule 4 to ITEPA) approved under Schedule 4 to ITEPA exceeding 30,000 UK pounds sterling (converting, for this purpose the option price into pounds sterling using the exchange rate applicable on the date of grant of such option) or such other amount as

A-16

Table of Contents

is for the time being specified as being the appropriate limit for the purposes of paragraph 6(1) of Schedule 4 to ITEPA. For the avoidance of doubt, the limit set out in Section 5(j) of the Plan applying to Incentive Stock Options shall not apply to Approved Options granted under this Schedule A.

- (c) Section 5(c) shall be substituted as follows: The Board may impose a schedule for vesting of the Stock comprised in the Approved Option and set out in the Option Agreement (the Vesting Schedule) containing only objective conditions on any Approved Option which they grant preventing its exercise except to the extent that the Vesting Schedule has been complied with. If, after the Board have imposed such a condition, events happen which cause them to consider that it is no longer appropriate, they may vary the Vesting Schedule provided always that any such amendment may only be one which the Board reasonably consider will result in a fairer measure of the performance of the job of the optionee, will ensure that this Plan operates more effectively in the achievement of its purpose of providing share benefits for employees who contribute to the prosperity of the Company and will be no more difficult to satisfy than would have been the case if there had been no such amendment.
- (d) In the third paragraph of Section 3, the words but acting fairly and reasonably shall be added after in its sole discretion and the words may be exercised in full immediately before the consummation of the merger or other corporate transactions and if not so exercised shall be cancelled at the time of the consummation of the merger or other corporate transaction shall be substituted for the words shall be converted into the right to receive an amount of cash to the end of the paragraph.
- (e) Section 5(e) shall be substituted as follows: No Approved Option shall be transferable other than to the personal representatives of an optionee. No Approved Option shall be assigned or used as a charge and any purported transfer, assignment or charge shall cause the Approved Option immediately to lapse .
- (f) In the event of the optionee s death an Approved Option granted pursuant to this Schedule A must be exercised within twelve months of the optionee s death whereupon, to the extent it has not been exercised, such Approved Option shall lapse.
- (g) No Approved Option granted under this Schedule A may be exercised at any time if the holder of such option is precluded from participating under this Schedule A by paragraph 9 of Schedule 4 to ITEPA.
- (h) The retirement age for the purposes of paragraph 35A of Schedule 4 to ITEPA is 55.
- (i) Sections 5(j),(k), (l) and for the avoidance of doubt Section 5(m) of the Plan shall not apply to Approved Options granted under this Schedule A. For the avoidance of doubt, Approved Options granted under this Schedule A shall automatically be exercisable by virtue of being involuntary termination without cause when the optionee s employment ceases by reason of redundancy within the meaning of the Employment Rights Act 1996.
- (j) Within 30 days of the receipt of a written notice (in the form prescribed by the Company) duly signed by the optionee together with their option certificate and the full purchase price of the Stock being acquired pursuant to the exercise of their option the Company shall procure that the optionee acquires the Stock in respect of which the Approved Option has been validly exercised by (i) allotting Stock to the optionee; or (ii) procuring the transfer of Stock to the optionee and shall issue a definitive certificate or other evidence of title (whether paper or electronic) for the Stock acquired pursuant to the exercise of the option. Alternatively, the optionee may exercise his options pursuant to Section 5(d) of the Plan, although Section 5(d)(i) shall not apply to Approved Options, (and Section 5(d)(ii) shall only apply with the consent of the optionee).

A-17

Table of Contents

(k) Stock issued pursuant to this Schedule A shall rank pari passu with the issued Stock and the Company shall at all times keep available sufficient Stock to satisfy the exercise of, to the full extent possible, all Approved Options granted pursuant to this Schedule A which have neither lapsed nor become fully exercisable.
(l) If an acquiring company:
(i) obtains Control of the Company as a result of making (a) a general offer to acquire the whole of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company which is made on a condition such that if it is satisfied the person making the offer will have Control of the Company, or (b) a general offer to acquire all the shares in the Company which are of the same class as the Stock which may be acquired by the exercise of the Approved Options granted under this Plan;
(ii) obtains Control of the Company in pursuance of a compromise or arrangement sanctioned by a court under provisions closely comparable to section 425 of the UK Companies Act 1985; or
(iii) becomes bound or entitled to acquire shares in the Company under provisions closely comparable to Part 28 of the UK Companies Act 2006
any optionee may at any time within the appropriate period (which expression shall be construed in accordance with paragraph 26(3) of Schedule 4 to ITEPA), by prior agreement with the acquiring company and HM Revenue & Customs, release any Approved Option granted under this Plan which has not lapsed (the Old Option) in consideration of the grant to him of an option (the New Option) which (for the purposes of that paragraph) is equivalent to the Old Option but relates to shares in a different company (whether the acquiring company itself or some other company falling within paragraph 16(b) or (c) of Schedule 4 to ITEPA).
The New Option shall not be regarded for the purposes of Section A3(k) above as equivalent to the Old Option unless the conditions set out in paragraph 27(4) of Schedule 4 are satisfied, but so that the provisions of this Plan shall for this purpose be construed as if:
(i) the New Option were an option granted under this Plan at the same time as the Old Option;
(ii) the expression the Company was defined as the company whose shares may be acquired by the exercise of Options granted under this Plan .
(m) Section 13(a) of the Plan shall not apply to Approved Options granted under this Schedule A other than to comply with US federal or state securities law. Section 13(d) only applies to the extent that the optionee has not already provided an amount of money to cover the tax payable.
(n) Section 13(d) of the Plan shall apply as if the references to United States taxation applied to UK taxation and National Insurance contributions, provided that the references to settling a liability in Stock shall only apply if the optionee has agreed to such method of deduction. This facility is restricted to Stock acquired by the exercise of options granted under this Schedule A.

(o) Participation in this Plan by an optionee is a matter entirely separate from any pension right or entitlement he may have and from his terms or conditions of employment with any participating company and participation in this Plan shall in no respects whatever affect in any way an optionee s pension rights or entitlement or terms or conditions of employment with any participating company. In particular (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing words) any optionee who leaves employment with any participating company shall not be entitled to any compensation for any loss of any right or benefit or prospective right or benefit under this Plan which he might otherwise have

A-18

Table of Contents

enjoyed whether such compensation is claimed by way of damages for wrongful dismissal or breach of contract by way of compensation for loss of office or otherwise howsoever.

(p) Any discretion exercisable under either the Plan or this Schedule A by the Company, any Subsidiary or Affiliate or any body thereof shall be applied fairly and reasonably.

SECTION A4. Amendments and Termination.

No amendments to this Schedule A (including any provision of the Plan which is incorporated within this Schedule A) pursuant to Section 11 which fall within the definition of a key feature within the meaning of paragraph 30(4) of Schedule 4 to ITEPA shall have effect until the approval of HM Revenue and Customs has been obtained in respect thereof. This Section A4 shall not however restrict the general power of the Board to amend the Plan where the amendment will not apply to this Schedule A.

No assurance or warranty is given by the Company that the tax favourable treatment of Approved Options will apply on exercise of the option or that any corporate restructuring or merger or other corporate activity will permit tax favourable treatment to apply.

A-19

Table of Contents

EXHIBIT B

THE AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS OF THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC.

Section 1. Purpose.

The purpose of the Amended and Restated 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors of the Cooper Companies, Inc. (the Plan) is to advance the interests of the Corporation by encouraging and enabling the acquisition of a personal proprietary interest in the Corporation by Non-Employee Directors of the Corporation upon whose judgment and interest the Corporation depends for the successful conduct of its operations, and by providing such Directors with incentives to put forth maximum efforts for the long term success of the Corporation s business by making the removal of restrictions from the Stock acquired hereunder as well as the value of the Stock Options granted hereunder dependent on increases in the price of the Corporation s Stock. It is anticipated that the opportunity to increase their equity interests in the Corporation will strengthen the desire of such Directors to remain on the Board of Directors and work on the Corporation s behalf and will also enable the Corporation to attract and retain additional desirable Non-Employee Directors as required in the future.

Section 2. Definitions.

Wherever the following terms are used in the Plan they shall have the meanings specified below, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. The singular pronoun shall include the plural where the context so indicates.

- (a) Annual Restricted Stock Grant shall mean the grants made to Non-Employee Directors each November 15, pursuant to Sections 5 and 6 hereof.
- (b) Average Closing Price shall mean the average of the closing price of the Corporation s Stock on the principal stock exchange or market on which the Stock is traded (composite quotations) on thirty consecutive trading days.
- (c) Board or Board of Directors shall mean the Board of Directors of the Corporation as constituted at any time.
- (d) Cause shall mean the felony conviction of a Non-Employee Director or the failure of a Non-Employee Director to contest prosecution for a felony, or a Non-Employee Director s willful misconduct or dishonesty.
- (e) Committee shall mean the Board or, if, the Board delegates its power and authority to administer this Plan to a committee of the Board described in Section 4, such committee.

(f) Co	orporation shall mean The Cooper Companies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or any successor corporation.
(g) D	isability shall mean disability as determined under procedures established by the Committee for purposes of this Plan.
(h) Ef	ffective Date shall mean the date specified in Section 13 hereof.
(i) Ex	schange Act shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
	ir Market Value shall mean, as of any given date, unless otherwise determined by the Committee in good faith, the closing price of a share sk on the principal stock exchange or market on which the Stock is traded.
	B-1

Table of Contents

(k) Mid-Year Restricted Stock Grants shall mean the grants made to Non-Employee Directors pursuant to Sections 5(c) and 6(a) hereof.
(l) Non-Employee Director shall mean a Director of the Corporation who is not also an employee of or a consultant (acting by means of a written consulting agreement) to the Corporation or any Subsidiary.
(m) Non-Qualified Stock Option shall mean any Stock Option that is not an incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended from time to time.
(n) Plan shall mean this Amended and Restated 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors of The Cooper Companies, Inc., a further amended from time to time.
(o) Restricted Stock shall mean the Stock or Restricted Stock Units issued as a result of Restricted Stock Grants.
(p) Restricted Stock Grants shall mean both Annual Restricted Stock Grants and Mid-Year Restricted Stock Grants.
(q) Restricted Stock Units shall mean a right to receive Stock at a specified date in the future under a Restricted Stock Grant.
(r) Stock shall mean the common stock, par value \$.10 per share, of the Corporation.
(s) Stock Option shall mean any option to purchase shares of Stock granted pursuant to Sections 5 and 7 hereof.
(t) Subsidiary shall mean any corporation (other than the Corporation) in an unbroken chain of corporations beginning with the Corporation if each of the corporations (other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain) owns stock possessing more than 50% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in the chain.
Section 3. Stock Subject to the Plan; Adjustment Provisions.
(a) Subject to Section 11 and Section 3(c), the aggregate number of shares of Stock which may be subject to Restricted Stock Grants or covered by Stock Options shall be 650,000 shares. Any Stock distributed under the Plan may consist, in whole or in part, of authorized and unissued Stock, treasury Stock or Stock purchased on the open market.

(b) If Restricted Stock issued pursuant to a Restricted Stock Grant is not purchased or delivered if subject to a Restricted Stock Unit or is subsequently forfeited, or if a Stock Option is forfeited or expires unexercised in whole or in part, the shares of Stock related thereto will no longer be charged against the limitation provided for herein and may be made subject to new Restricted Stock Grants or Stock Options.

(c) In the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, Stock dividend, Stock split or other change in corporate structure affecting the Stock, such substitution or adjustment shall be made in the aggregate number of shares of Stock reserved for issuance under the Plan, in the number of shares of Stock subject to Restricted Stock Grants and purchasable under Stock Options and the exercise price of any outstanding Stock Options as may be determined to be appropriate by the Committee, in its sole discretion, provided that the shares of Stock subject to any grant shall always be a whole number.

B-2

Table of Contents

Section 4. Committee.

The Plan shall be administered by the Board or, if the Board delegates its power and authority to administer this Plan to a committee of the Board described in this Section 4, by such Committee. Any such Committee shall consist solely of two or more directors appointed by and holding office at the pleasure of the Board, each of whom is a Non-Employee Director as defined by Rule 16b-3. If the Board delegates its power and authority to administer this Plan to a committee, the members of such committee shall serve at the pleasure of the Board, such committee members may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the Board and vacancies in the committee may be filled by the Board. At all meetings of the Committee, the presence of a majority of the members of the Committee at the time of such meeting shall be necessary to constitute a quorum. Any act of a majority of the quorum present at the meeting shall be the act of the Committee.

Section 5. Participants and Grants.

All Non-Employee Directors of the Corporation shall be eligible to receive Restricted Stock Grants and Stock Options under the Plan, subject to availability of Stock therefor. Each Restricted Stock Grant and Stock Option shall be evidenced by a written agreement, in such form as the Committee shall determine, duly executed by or on behalf of the Corporation and the recipient Non-Employee Director.

- (a) On each November 1 (or in the event November 1 is a weekend or holiday, or the principal stock exchange on which the Stock is then traded is not open, then on the first day thereafter on which the Stock is publicly traded), each Non-Employee Director shall be granted a Stock Option.
- (b) On each November 15 (or in the event November 15 is a weekend or holiday, or the principal stock exchange on which the Stock is then traded is not open, then on the first day thereafter on which the Stock is publicly traded), each Non-Employee Director shall be granted an Annual Restricted Stock Grant.
- (c) Any Non-Employee Director who is elected or appointed to the Board after the annual grants provided for in subsections (a) and (b) above have been made shall receive a grant proportionally adjusted to reflect the number of months that such person actually serves on the Board during the initial year of service.
- (d) In its sole discretion, the Board of Directors may grant to Non-Employee Directors such number of Stock Options and/or Restricted Stock as it may determine from time to time, subject only to the limitations on the number of Stock Options and Restricted Stock Grants that may be made under the terms of the Plan. Unless otherwise specified by the Board of Directors at the time of the grant, each share of Restricted Stock and each Stock Option granted under this Section 5(d) shall have the terms applicable to Annual Restricted Stock Grants under Section 6(a)-(f) and Stock Options under Section 7(a)-(g), other than any requirement as to the number of shares subject to such grant.

Section 6. Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock Grants.

(a) Annual Restricted Stock Grants. Each Annual Restricted Stock Grant presented to a Non-Employee Director shall entitle the recipient to purchase 1,600 shares of Restricted Stock. In the case of a Non-Employee Director who joins the Board after Annual Restricted Stock Grants

have been made for a given fiscal year, such new Non-Employee Director upon appointment or election shall be entitled to purchase 1,600 shares of Restricted Stock, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of months during the fiscal year that such person will serve as a Non-Employee Director (which shall include as a full month the month that service commences) and the denominator

B-3

Table of Contents

of which shall be 12 (a	Mid-Year Restricted Stock Grant). If any calculation p	erformed hereunder	would give rise to the	issuance of a frac	ctional
share, the number of sha	ares of Restricted Stock to be grante	ed shall be rounded up	to the next highest	whole number.		

- (b) *Purchase Price*. The purchase price of each share of Restricted Stock is \$.10. Payment of the purchase price shall be made in cash, or by check payable to the order of the Corporation, delivered no later than January 15th of the year following the date of grant or within sixty days following a Mid-Year Restricted Stock Grant. However, if Restricted Stock Grants are in the form of Restricted Stock Units, the purchase price shall be delivered within sixty days following the date the Restricted Stock Units vest. In the event such purchase price is not delivered to the Corporation within such sixty day period, such Restricted Stock Grant shall expire and be cancelled.
- (c) Additional Terms of Grants. All Restricted Stock purchased by a Non-Employee Director pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to the following restrictions:
- (i) Restricted Stock Grants shall not be transferable by a Non-Employee Director otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and are exercisable during the Non-Employee Director s lifetime only by him or his guardian or legal representative;
- (ii) the Restricted Stock may not be sold, transferred or otherwise alienated or hypothecated until all restrictions thereon are removed or expire and in no event may Restricted Stock be sold, transferred or otherwise alienated or hypothecated within six months of the date of grant;
- (iii) each certificate representing Restricted Stock issued pursuant to a Restricted Stock Grant under this Plan shall bear a legend making appropriate reference to the restrictions imposed and shall be held in custody by the Corporation until the restrictions lapse, and each Non-Employee Director shall have delivered a stock power, endorsed in blank, relating to the Restricted Stock covered by such grant; and
- (iv) any other applicable restrictions or conditions under the requirements of any stock exchange upon which such Stock is then listed, and under any securities or tax law applicable to such Stock, shall be imposed.
- (v) Notwithstanding Sections (6)(c)(i) and (ii) above, Restricted Stock may be transferred to a trust in which the Non-Employee Director has a fifty percent or more interest or a foundation which the Non-Employee Director controls the management of the assets, provided that the Non-Employee Director receives no consideration for the Restricted Stock so transferred and the transferee receives the Restricted Stock subject to the same restrictions imposed upon the transferor and pursuant to such other conditions and procedures as the Committee may establish. Any permitted transfer shall be subject to the condition that the Committee receives evidence satisfactory to it that the trust is and shall remain under the control of the Non-Employee Director and that the transfer is being made for estate and/or tax planning purposes and on a basis consistent with the Corporation s lawful issue of securities.
- (d) *Removal of Restrictions*. Subject to the provisions of paragraph (f) of this Section 6, restrictions imposed under subsection (c) hereof upon Restricted Stock Grants and the underlying Restricted Stock shall lapse, and the Restricted Stock underlying a particular Restricted Stock Grant shall become nonforfeitable and freely transferable upon the first anniversary of the date of grant.

(e) Restricted Stock Certificate; Dividends. Prior to the expiration or lapse of all of the restrictions imposed upon Restricted Stock (other than Restricted Stock Units), a stock certificate representing such Restricted Stock shall be registered in the Non-Employee Director s name but shall be retained by the Corporation for the Non-Employee Director s account. The Non-Employee Director shall have the right to vote such Restricted Stock (other than Restricted Stock Units) and shall have all other rights

B-4

Table of Contents

and privileges of a beneficial and record owner with respect thereto, including, without limitation, the right to receive dividends, distributions and adjustments with respect thereto. Until a certificate representing the Stock deliverable under a Restricted Stock Unit is delivered or a book entry evidencing the issuance of a share of Stock is made, a Non-Employee Director shall have no rights as a shareholder solely by reason of any Restricted Stock Unit held by such Non-Employee Director. If so specified in the grant of a Restricted Stock Unit, a Non-Employee Director may be entitled to receive dividend equivalents on each Share of Restricted Stock subject to a Restricted Stock Unit.

- (f) Cessation of Service. At the time a Non-Employee Director voluntarily or involuntarily ceases to serve as a Director of the Corporation, all restrictions on Restricted Stock purchased pursuant to Restricted Stock Grants shall lapse and such Restricted Stock shall become nonforfeitable and freely transferable, unless such Non-Employee Director s service is terminated, or such Non-Employee Director fails to be re-nominated, for Cause. In the event a Non-Employee Director ceases to serve as a Director of the Corporation for any reason not involving Cause subsequent to receipt of a Restricted Stock Grant but prior to such Non-Employee Director s payment of the purchase price for the Restricted Stock with respect thereto, then the Restricted Stock may be purchased by such Non-Employee Director or, in the case of Disability or death, by his guardian or legal representative, or by the representative of his estate, the beneficiaries under his will or his distributes under the laws of descent and distribution in accordance with the provisions set forth in paragraphs (b) and (c) of this Section 6, and all restrictions to which the Annual Restricted Stock Grant or the Mid-Year Restricted Stock Grant is subject shall lapse, and the Stock issued pursuant thereto shall be nonforfeitable and freely transferable upon its issuance by the Corporation.
- (g) Restricted Stock Units. The Committee may make Restricted Stock Grants in the form of Restricted Stock Units. At the time of grant, the Committee shall specify the date or dates on which the Non-Employee Director has the right to receive the Stock. On such date, the Corporation shall, transfer to the Non-Employee Director one unrestricted, fully transferable share of Stock for each Restricted Stock Unit scheduled to be paid out on such date and not previously forfeited. At the time of grant, the Committee shall also specify whether or not the Non-Employee Director shall be entitled to dividend equivalents on any shares of Restricted Stock subject to the Restricted Stock Units.

Section 7. Terms and Conditions of Stock Options.

On each November 1 each Non-Employee Director shall be granted a Stock Option to purchase up to 10,000 shares of Stock or, in the case of the Lead Director, and/or any non-executive Chairman of the Board, up to 11,400 shares of Stock. In the case of a Non-Employee Director who joins the Board after Stock Options have been granted for a given fiscal year, such new Non-Employee Director will on the date of appointment or election to the Board, receive a Stock Option to purchase that number of shares of the Corporation s Stock as is equal to the number 10,000, or 11,400 in the case of a Non-Employee Director who serves as Lead Director and/or non-executive Chairman of the Board, as the case may be, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of months during the fiscal year that such person will serve as a Non-Employee Director (which shall include as a full month the month that service commences) and the denominator of which shall be 12. Any fraction of a share shall be rounded up to a whole share. Stock Options granted under the Plan shall be Non-Qualified Stock Options, shall be subject to the following terms and conditions and shall contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, as the Committee shall deem desirable:

- (a) Exercise Price. Each Stock Option shall have an exercise price equal to the Fair Market Value on the date of grant.
- (b) Option Term. Each Stock Option shall expire ten years from the date of grant.

B-5

Table of Contents

- (c) Exercisability. Subject to the provision in paragraph (g) of this Section 7, each Stock Option shall become exercisable upon the first anniversary of the date of grant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation may require that a Non-Employee Director delay exercising an exercisable Stock Option if such exercise would result in an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code or if, in the discretion of the Corporation, such exercise, when viewed in conjunction with the potential exercise of all other outstanding options (as such term is defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.382-4(d)(9) to acquire Stock as well as the effect of other transactions involving the issuance of Stock contemplated by the Corporation, would tend to result in such an ownership change.
- (d) *Method of Exercise*. Subject to the limitation set forth in paragraph (c) of this Section 7, Stock Options that have become exercisable may be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the option term, by giving written notice of exercise to the Corporation specifying the number of shares of Stock to be purchased. Such notice shall be accompanied by payment in full of the purchase price, either by check or such other instrument as the Committee may accept. As determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion, at or after grant, payment in full or in part may also be made in the form of Stock which has been beneficially owned by the Non-Employee Director for at least six months (based on the Fair Market Value of the Stock on the date the Stock Option is exercised). If payment of the exercise price is made in whole or in part in the form of Restricted Stock, Stock received upon the exercise shall be subject to the same forfeiture restrictions. No Stock shall be issued until full payment therefor has been made. A Non-Employee Director shall have the rights to dividends or other rights of a shareholder with respect to Stock subject to the Stock Option when the Non-Employee Director has given written notice of exercise, has paid in full for such Stock and, if requested, has given the representation described in Section 14 hereof.
- (e) *Non-Transferability of Options*. No Stock Option shall be transferable by the Non-Employee Director otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and all Stock Options shall be exercisable, during the Non-Employee Director s lifetime, only by the Non-Employee Director or by his guardian or legal representative. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Stock Option may be transferred to, exercised by and paid to a to a trust in which the Non-Employee Director has a fifty percent or more interest or a foundation which the Non-Employee Director controls the management of the assets, provided that the Non-Employee Director receives no consideration for the Stock Option so transferred and the transferee receives the Stock Option subject to the same restrictions imposed upon the transferor and pursuant to such conditions and procedures as the Committee may establish. Any permitted transfer shall be subject to the condition that the Committee receives evidence satisfactory to it that the trust is and shall remain under the control of the Non-Employee Director and that the transfer is being made for estate and/or tax planning purposes and on a basis consistent with the Corporation s lawful issue of securities.
- (f) Cessation of Service. At the time a Non-Employee Director voluntarily or involuntarily ceases to serve as a Director of the Corporation, any Stock Option issued hereunder that has failed to vest previously shall vest immediately, unless such Non-Employee Director s service as a Director is terminated for Cause or such Non-Employee Director fails to be re-nominated as a Director for Cause. Upon vesting, the Stock Option shall become freely exercisable, subject only to the limitation set forth in the third sentence of paragraph (c) of this Section 7.

When a Non-Employee Director ceases to serve as a Director, the Stock Options granted hereunder may continue to be exercised for the lesser of three years following the termination of service or the balance of such Stock Options respective terms, unless the Non-Employee Director s service as such is terminated for Cause, or such Non-Employee Director fails to be re-nominated for Cause, in which case the Stock Options shall be forfeited. In the event that a Non-Employee Director ceases to serve as a Director due to Disability or death, such Non-Employee Director s guardian or

B-6

Table of Contents

legal representative, or the representative of his estate, the beneficiaries under his will or his distributees under the laws of descent and distribution, as the case may be, shall have the same exercise rights as were enjoyed by the Non-Employee Director.

Section 8. No Right to Re-Election.

Nothing in the Plan shall be deemed to create any obligation on the part of the Board of Directors to nominate any Director for re-election by the Corporation s stockholders, or to confer upon any Director the right to remain a member of the Board of Directors.

Section 9. Tax Obligations.

The Corporation shall notify Non-Employee Directors of their tax liabilities that arise under any federal, state or local tax rules or regulations with respect to the issuance of Restricted Stock or the exercise of Stock Options. Payment of the appropriate taxes is the sole responsibility of the Non-Employee Directors.

Section 10. Issuance of Stock and Compliance with the Securities Act.

The Corporation may postpone the issuance and delivery of Stock pursuant to a Restricted Stock Grant or the exercise of a Stock Option until (a) the admission of such Stock to listing on any stock exchange on which other shares of Stock are then listed and (b) the completion of such registration or other qualification of such Stock under any state or federal law, rule or regulation as the Corporation shall determine to be necessary or advisable. As a condition precedent to the issuance of Stock pursuant to a Restricted Stock Grant or the exercise of a Stock Option, the Corporation may require the recipient thereof to make such representations and furnish such information as may, in the opinion of counsel for the Corporation, be appropriate to permit the Corporation, in the light of the then existence or non-existence with respect to such Stock of an effective Registration Statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, to issue the Stock in compliance with the provisions of that or any comparable act.

Section 11. Administration and Amendment of the Plan.

Except as hereinafter provided, the Board of Directors may amend any provisions of the Plan relating to the terms and conditions of any Restricted Stock Grants or Stock Options not theretofore granted, and, with the consent of any affected Non-Employee Director, may withdraw or amend any provisions of the Plan relating to the terms and conditions of such Restricted Stock Grants or Stock Options as have been theretofore granted. The Board of Directors may amend the terms of any outstanding Restricted Stock Grant or Stock Option with the consent of the holders thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 11, any amendment by the Board of Directors which would increase the number of shares of Stock issuable under the Plan, change the class of Directors to whom grants may be made hereunder or change any material terms of the Plan shall be subject to the approval of the stockholders of the Corporation to the extent required by law or any stock exchange on which the shares of Stock are traded.

A determination of the Committee as to any questions which may arise with respect to the interpretation of the Plan, Restricted Stock Grants, Stock Options or the written agreements evidencing the Restricted Stock Grants and the Stock Option grants shall be final.

The Committee may authorize and establish such rules, regulations and revisions thereof not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan, as it may determine to be advisable to make the Plan, Restricted Stock Grants and Stock Options effective or to provide for their administration, and may

B-7

Table of Contents

take such other action with regard to the Plan, Restricted Stock Grants and Stock Options as it shall deem desirable to effectuate its purpose.

Section 12. Governing Law.

Except as required by Delaware corporate law, the Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without giving effect to principles of conflict of laws.

Section 13. Effective Date of the Plan.

This Amended and Restated Plan shall be submitted to the stockholders of the Corporation for their approval at the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders to be held in 2009. The Amended and Restated Plan shall become effective upon receipt of the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Stock present, or represented, and entitled to vote at the meeting.

Section 14. General Provisions.

The Committee may require each Non-Employee Director purchasing Stock pursuant to a Restricted Stock Grant or a Stock Option to represent to and agree with the Corporation in writing that such Non-Employee Director is acquiring the Stock for investment and without a view to distribution thereof.

All certificates for shares of Stock or other securities delivered under the Plan shall be subject to such Stock transfer orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the rules, regulations and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange upon which the Stock is then listed, and any applicable Federal or State securities law, and the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

Section 15. Term of Plan.

No Restricted Stock Grant or Stock Option may be granted pursuant to the Plan on or after ten years following the Effective Date of the Plan, but grants made prior to such date may extend beyond that date.

B-8

Table of Contents	
	NOTICE OF
	ANNUAL MEETING
	OF STOCKHOLDERS
	AND
	PROXY STATEMENT
	Meeting Date
	March 18, 2009

Table of Contents

¢

PROXY

THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC.

PROXY FOR ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS, MARCH 18, 2009

SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The undersigned stockholder of The Cooper Companies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby appoints CAROL R. KAUFMAN, DANIEL G. McBRIDE, EUGENE J. MIDLOCK and ROBERT S. WEISS, and each of them, proxies, with full power of substitution, to vote all of the shares of common stock of The Cooper Companies, Inc. which the undersigned is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of The Cooper Companies, Inc. to be held at Latham & Watkins, 885 Third Avenue, New York, NY, on March 18, 2009 at 10:00 a.m., E.D.T., and at any adjournments or postponements thereof, as set forth on the reverse, and in their discretion upon any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED IN THE MANNER DIRECTED HEREIN BY THE UNDERSIGNED STOCKHOLDER. IF NO DIRECTION IS MADE, THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED FOR ITEMS 1, 2, 3 AND 4 AND WILL GRANT DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY PURSUANT TO ITEM 5.

(Continued and to be signed on the reverse side.)

£ 14475 ¢

Table of Contents

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS OF

THE COOPER COMPANIES, INC.

March 18, 2009

Please sign, date and mail

your proxy card in the

envelope provided as soon

as possible.

Please detach along perforated line and mail in the envelope provided.

¢ 2093030030000000000 4

031809

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR ITEMS 1, 2, 3 AND 4.

PLEASE SIGN, DATE AND RETURN PROMPTLY IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE. PLEASE MARK YOUR VOTE IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS SHOWN HERE $\,\mathbf{x}$

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

ELECTION OF NINE DIRECTORS. (check one box only)		2. The approval of the amendment and			
	NOMINEES:	restatement of the Company s Amended 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan which			
	O A. Thomas Bender	removes restrictions on the number of shares available for grant as full-value awards and adds 1,000,000 shares to the			
" FOR ALL NOMINEES	O Michael H. Kalkstein	total shares reserved for grant.			
	O Jody S. Lindell				
" WITHHOLD AUTHORITY	O Moses Marx				
FOR ALL NOMINEES	O Donald Press	3. The approval of the amendment and restatement of the Company s Amended 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors which removes			••
	O Steven Rosenberg				
" FOR ALL EXCEPT	O Allan E. Rubenstein, M.D. restrictions on the number of shares available for grant as full-value awards and extends the term of the plan to				
(See instructions below)	O Robert S. Weiss	December 31, 2016.			
	O Stanley Zinberg, M.D.				
			••	••	

INSTRUCTIONS: To withhold authority to womark FOR ALL EXCEPT and fill in the ci withhold, as shown here: 1	•	 Ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm for The Cooper Companies, Inc. for the fiscal year ending October 31, 2009. 	г
		5. In their discretion, the proxies ar of such substitute nominee(s) for dir the event that any nominee(s) named on such other matters as may proper adjournments or postponements ther	rectors as such proxies may select in d above become unable to serve, and dy come before the meeting or any
		THIS PROXY WILL REVOKE A BY YOU.	ALL PRIOR PROXIES SIGNED
To change the address on your account, please indicate your new address in the address space to the registered name(s) on the account may not be accounted to the registered name (s).	above. Please note that changes		
Signature of Shareholder	Date:	Signature of Shareholder	Date:

Note: Please sign exactly as your name or names appear on this Proxy. When shares are held jointly, each holder should sign. When signing as executor, administrator, attorney, trustee or guardian, please give full title as such. If the signer is a corporation, please sign full corporate name by duly authorized ¢ officer, giving full title as such. If signer is a partnership, please sign in partnership name by authorized person.

Signature of Shareholder

Signature of Shareholder